
BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS INC

FORM 10-K
(Annual Report)

Filed 03/04/08 for the Period Ending 12/31/07

    
Address 2190 PARKWAY LAKE DR

BIRMINGHAM, AL 35244
Telephone 2054444600

CIK 0000882796
Symbol BCRX

SIC Code 2836 - Biological Products, Except Diagnostic Substances
Industry Biotechnology & Drugs

Sector Technology
Fiscal Year 09/30

    

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2008, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.

http://www.edgar-online.com


Table of Contents  



Table of Contents  

UNITED STATES  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

Washington, D.C. 20549  

FORM 10-K  

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007  

OR  

For the transition period from                      to                      .  
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None  

Indicate by a check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  
Yes � No � .  

Indicate by a check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.  
Yes � No � .  

Indicate by a check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject 
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  

Yes � No � .  

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (Section 229.405 of this chapter) is not 
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by 
reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. � .  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting 
company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange 
Act. (Check one):  

Indicate by a check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2).  

Yes � No � .  

  

  

      

�   Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
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The Registrant estimates that the aggregate market value of the Common Stock on June 30, 2007 (based upon the closing price shown on the 
NASDAQ Global Market SM on June 30, 2007) held by non-affiliates was approximately $228,232,733.  

The number of shares of Common Stock, par value $.01, of the Registrant outstanding as of February 20, 2008 was 38,080,905 shares.  

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  

Portions of the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with the solicitation of proxies for its 2008 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 under Part III hereof.  

   

  

  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

PART I 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

PART II 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

PART III 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

PART IV 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

SIGNATURES 
INDEX TO EXHIBITS 
EX-10.1 ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN 
EX-10.2 EXECUTIVE RELOCATION POLICY 
EX-10.3 AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT LETTER AGREEMENT 
EX-10.4 FORM OF NOTICE OF GRANT NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR 
EX-10.5 FORM OF NOTICE OF GRANT OF STOCK OPTION 
EX-10.6 AMENDMENT #3 TO THE AGREEMENT 
EX-23 CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG 
EX-31.1 CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
EX-31.2 CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
EX-32.1 SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION OF THE CEO 
EX-32.2 SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION OF THE CFO 



Table of Contents  

PART I  

ITEM 1. BUSINESS  

Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors  

     This report includes forward-looking statements. In particular, statements about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives or assumptions of 
future events or performance are contained or incorporated by reference in this report. We have based these forward-looking statements on our 
current expectations about future events. While we believe these expectations are reasonable, forward-looking statements are inherently subject 
to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our actual results may differ materially from those suggested by these forward-
looking statements for various reasons; including those discussed in this report under the heading “Risk Factors” beginning at page 20. Given 
these risks and uncertainties, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements 
included in this report are made only as of the date hereof. We do not undertake and specifically decline any obligation to update any of these 
statements or to publicly announce the results of any revisions to any forward looking statements to reflect future events or developments. When 
used in the report, unless otherwise indicated, “we,” “our,” “us,” the “Company” and “BioCryst” refers to BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  

Overview  

     BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a biotechnology company that designs, optimizes and develops novel drugs that block key enzymes 
involved in cancer, viral infections and autoimmune diseases. BioCryst integrates the necessary disciplines of biology, crystallography, 
medicinal chemistry and computer modeling to effectively use structure-based drug design to discover and develop small molecule 
pharmaceuticals.  

     Our lead product candidate, forodesine HCl, is a transition-state analog inhibitor of the target enzyme purine nucleoside phosphorylase 
(“PNP”). An oral formulation of the compound is currently in a Phase IIb trial, which is planned to be a pivotal trial, for patients with Cutaneous 
T-cell Lymphoma (“CTCL”). The trial is being conducted under a special protocol assessment (“SPA”) negotiated with the United States Food 
and Drug Administration (“FDA”). Additionally, forodesine HCl is currently being studied in a Phase II trial with an oral formulation in Chronic 
Lymphocytic Leukemia (“CLL”). Forodesine HCl has been granted Orphan Drug status by the FDA for three indications: T-cell non-Hodgkin 
lymphoma, including CTCL; CLL and related leukemias including T-cell prolymphocytic leukemia, adult T-cell leukemia, and hairy cell 
leukemia; and for treatment of B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (“B-ALL”). In December 2007, we announced the presentation of data 
related to the Phase I/II clinical study of forodesine HCl in subjects with refractory CTCL and a poster detailing the in vitro activity of 
forodesine HCl and the synergistic in vitro activity of forodesine HCl with bendamustine in primary cells from 29 patients with CLL. These data 
were presented at the 2007 American Society of Hematology meeting. Also, use of forodesine HCl is being explored, alone and in combination 
with other commonly used cancer treatments, for use in other cancers. Since February 2006, we have had an exclusive licensing agreement with 
Mundipharma International Holdings Limited (“Mundipharma”) to develop and commercialize forodesine HCl in markets across the European 
Union (the “EU”), Asia and Australia for use in oncology.  

     Our second most advanced drug candidate is peramivir, an inhibitor of influenza neuraminidase. Peramivir is in development for the 
treatment of influenza with two parenteral formulations, intramuscular (“i.m.”) and intravenous (“i.v.”). We recently completed a double-blind 
placebo-controlled Phase II clinical trial with i.m. peramivir testing two different dose levels of peramivir (150mg and 300mg) versus placebo in 
adults with acute uncomplicated influenza. While the trial did not demonstrate statistically significant differences for its primary endpoint of 
time to alleviation of symptoms, the preliminary analysis of the virologic data indicated that peramivir demonstrated statistically significant 
reductions in influenza virus shedding in both peramivir treatment groups compared to placebo, with greater reductions in the 300mg dose. With 
this information and the additional pharmacokinetic information we have obtained subsequent to the trial, we are planning to initiate another 
Phase II clinical trial later in 2008 to evaluate the 300mg dose of peramivir as well as a higher dose of peramivir versus placebo. In addition, in 
July 2007, we announced the initiation of a Phase II clinical trial in hospitalized patients using an i.v. formulation of peramivir to compare the 
efficacy and safety of i.v. peramivir to orally administered oseltamivir in patients who require hospitalization due to acute influenza.  
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     In January 2007, we announced the United States Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) had awarded the Company a 
$102.6 million, four-year contract for the advanced development of peramivir. In January 2008, we announced that the development costs of our 
peramivir program to anticipated product approval would cost in excess of the $102.6 million contract since the development plan for peramivir 
had changed from that outlined in the original proposal to HHS. HHS has indicated that they will fund certain elements of our revised program, 
including the ongoing Phase II i.v. study evaluating peramivir in hospitalized subjects, the planning and conduct of the planned Phase II study of 
i.m. peramivir and the manufacturing and toxicology components of the program. Each of these elements has specific HHS funding limits and 
any costs outside the amounts approved by HHS may be the responsibility of the Company. The original contract of $102.6 million and the four 
year term remain unchanged.  

     In March 2007, we announced our collaboration with Shionogi & Co., Ltd. (“Shionogi”) for the development and commercialization of 
peramivir in Japan. This exclusive license agreement for Japan included an upfront payment of $14 million and future clinical event milestone 
payments of up to $21 million. In December 2007, we received a $7 million milestone payment for their initiation of a Phase II clinical trial with 
the i.v. formulation of peramivir for the treatment of seasonal influenza.  

     Our other drug candidate in clinical trials is our second generation PNP inhibitor, BCX-4208. Since November 2005, this program has been 
funded through an exclusive worldwide licensing agreement with F.Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (“Roche”) to develop 
and commercialize BCX-4208/R3421 for the prevention of acute rejection in transplantation and for the treatment of autoimmune diseases. In 
July 2007, we announced that Roche had initiated a Phase II clinical trial with oral doses of BCX-4208/R3421, which is designed to evaluate the 
drug candidate in patients with moderate to severe plaque psoriasis.  

     BioCryst is a Delaware corporation originally founded in 1986. Our Alabama office is located at 2190 Parkway Lake Drive, Birmingham, 
Alabama 35244, where the telephone number is (205) 444-4600 and our North Carolina office is located at 2425 Kildaire Farm Road, Cary, 
North Carolina 27518 where the telephone number is (919) 859-1302. For more information about BioCryst, please visit our website at 
www.biocryst.com. The information on our website is not incorporated into this Form 10-K.  

Our Business Strategy  

     Our business strategy is to increase the value of our drug candidate portfolio. We believe this is best achieved by retaining full product rights 
to our drug candidates within specialty markets, while relying on collaborative arrangements with third parties for drug candidates within larger 
markets or outside our area of expertise. Potential third party alliances could include preclinical development, clinical development, regulatory 
approval, marketing, sales and distribution of our drug candidates.  

     We use structure-based drug design technologies to develop innovative, small-molecule pharmaceuticals to treat a variety of diseases and 
disorders. We focus our drug discovery efforts on building potent, selective inhibitors of enzymes associated with targeted diseases. Enzymes are 
proteins that cause or enable biological reactions necessary for the progression of the disease or disorder. The specific enzymes on which we 
focus are called enzyme targets. We aim to design compounds that will inhibit an enzyme target by fitting the active site of a particular enzyme. 
Inhibition means interfering with the functioning of an enzyme target, thereby stopping or slowing the progression of the disease or disorder. The 
principal elements of our strategy are:  
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•   Develop or License Inhibitors that are Promising Candidates for Commercialization. We test multiple compounds to identify those that 
are most promising for clinical development. We base our selection of promising development candidates on desirable product 
characteristics, such as initial indications of safety and efficacy. We believe that this focused strategy allows us to eliminate unpromising 
candidates from consideration sooner without incurring substantial clinical costs. In addition, we select drug candidates on the basis of 
their potential for relatively efficient Phase I and Phase II clinical trials that require fewer patients to initially indicate safety and efficacy. 
We will consider, however, more complex candidates with longer development cycles if we believe that they offer promising commercial 
opportunities. 
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     An important element of our business strategy is to control fixed costs and overhead through contracting and entering into license agreements 
with other parties. We maintain a streamlined corporate infrastructure that focuses on our strongest areas of expertise. By contracting with other 
specialty organizations, we believe that we can control costs, enable our drug candidates to reach the market more quickly and reduce our 
business risk. Key elements of our contracting strategy include:  
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•   Select and License Promising Enzyme Targets for the Discovery of Small-Molecule Pharmaceuticals. We use our technical expertise 
and network of academic and industry contacts to evaluate and select promising enzyme targets to license for the discovery of small-
molecule pharmaceuticals. We choose enzyme targets that meet as many of the following criteria as possible: 

  –   serve important functions in disease pathways; 
  

  –   have known animal or cell-based models that would be indicative of results in humans; 
  

  –   address large potential markets or niche areas with significant unmet medical need; and 
  

  –   have multiple potential clinical applications. 

•   Focus on High Value-Added Structure-Based Drug Design Technologies. We focus our drug discovery activities and expenditures on 
applications of structure-based drug design technologies to design and develop drug candidates. Structure-based drug design is a process 
by which we design a drug candidate through detailed analysis of the enzyme target, which the drug candidate must inhibit in order to stop 
the progression of the disease or disorder. We believe that structure-based drug design is a powerful tool for efficient development of 
small-molecule drug candidates that have the potential to be safe, effective and relatively inexpensive to manufacture. Our structure-based 
drug design technologies typically allow us to design and synthesize multiple drug candidates that inhibit the same enzyme target. We 
believe this strategy can lead to broad patent protection and enhance the competitive advantages of our compounds. 

•   Entering Into Relationships with Academic Institutions. Many academic institutions perform extensive research on the molecular and 
structural biology of potential drug development targets. By entering into relationships with these institutions, we believe we can leverage 
this respective research to significantly reduce the time, cost and risks involved in drug development. Our collaborative relationships with 
such organizations may lead to the licensing of one or more drug targets or compounds. Upon licensing a drug target or promising 
compound from one of these institutions, the scientists from the institution typically become working partners as members of our structure-
based drug design teams. We believe this makes us a more attractive development partner to these scientists since they can continue to 
have some involvement in the continuing development of the program. In addition, we collaborate with outside experts in a number of 
areas, including crystallography, molecular modeling, combinatorial chemistry, biology, pharmacology, oncology, cardiology, 
immunology and infectious diseases. These collaborations enable us to complement our internal capabilities without adding costly 
overhead. We believe this strategy allows us to save valuable time and expense, and further diversify and strengthen our portfolio of drug 
candidates. An example of such a collaborative relationship is the arrangement that we have with Albert Einstein College of Medicine of 
Yeshiva University (“AECOM”) and Industrial Research Limited (“ IRL” ) who are the licensors of our PNP inhibitor programs. 

  

•   Developing Drug Candidates or Licensing Them to Other Parties. We generally plan to advance drug candidates through initial and/or 
early-stage drug development. For larger disease indications requiring complex clinical trials, our strategy is to license drug candidates to 
pharmaceutical or biotechnology partners for final development and global marketing. We believe partnerships are a good source of 
development payments, license fees, future event payments and royalties. They also reduce the costs and risks, and increase the 
effectiveness, of late-stage product development, regulatory approval, manufacturing and marketing. We believe that focusing on 
discovery and early-stage drug development while benefiting from our partners’ proven development and commercialization expertise will 
reduce our internal expenses and allow us to have a larger number of drug candidates progress to later stages of drug development. 
However, after establishing a lead product candidate, we are willing to license that candidate during any stage of the development process 
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Products in Development  

     The following table summarizes BioCryst’s drug candidates in clinical development as of February 20, 2008:  

Additional Products  

     In addition to the programs shown above, we also retain exclusive rights to potent inhibitors of parainfluenza neuraminidase, hepatitis C and 
additional PNP inhibitors. We will continue to evaluate and test each of these compounds to determine which should be taken into clinical 
testing.  

PNP Inhibitors  

T-cell Related Diseases  

      Overview . The human immune system employs specialized cells, including T-cells, to control infection by recognizing and attacking 
disease-causing viruses, bacteria and parasites. T-cells are an essential part of the body’s immune system that serve a dual purpose to both 
orchestrate and participate in the body’s immune response. For the most part, this system works flawlessly to protect the body. However, when 
T-cells multiply uncontrollably, T-cell proliferative diseases, such as T-cell cancers, can occur.  

     The link between T-cell proliferation and the purine nucleoside phosphorylase, or PNP, enzyme was first discovered approximately twenty-
five years ago when a patient, who was genetically deficient in PNP, exhibited limited T-cell activity, but reasonably normal activity of other 
immune functions. In other patients lacking PNP activity, the T-cell population was selectively depleted; however, B-cell function tended to be 
normal. Based on these findings and the results of cell culture studies, inhibiting PNP appears to produce primarily suppression of T-cells 
without significantly impairing the function of other non-lymphoid cells.  

      Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia . The most common form of leukemia in children is acute lymphoblastic leukemia (“ALL”). According to the 
American Cancer Society, 5,200 new cases (adult and children combined) will be diagnosed in the United States in 2007 (T-cell and B-cell). 
ALL results from an acquired injury to the DNA of a single cell in the bone marrow.  

      T-cell Lymphoma . Lymphoma is a general term for a group of cancers that originate in the lymphatic system. About 63,190 Americans will 
be diagnosed with a non-Hodgkin lymphoma in 2007 and approximately 15% of  
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    we determine to be beneficial to the company and to the ultimate development and commercialization of that drug candidate. For some 
smaller niche disease indications markets, we may choose to develop, manufacture, and where appropriate market and distribute any 
approved drugs ourselves, such as forodesine HCl for certain T-cell and B-cell cancers in the United States (the “U.S.” ). 

              
Program and Candidate Disease             
Category/Indication   Delivery Form   Development Stage   Worldwide Rights 

PNP Inhibitor (forodesine HCl)            BioCryst (U.S.)/Mundipharma 
CTCL    Oral   Pivotal   (EU, Australia, Asia) 
CLL    Oral   Phase II     

               
Neuraminidase Inhibitor (peramivir)            BioCryst (Rest of World)/Shionogi 

Viral    i.v.   Phase II   (Japan)/Green Cross (Korea) 
Viral    i.m.   Phase II     

               
PNP Inhibitor (BCX-4208/R3421)  

Psoriasis    
Oral 

  
Phase II 

  
Roche/BioCryst has co-promotion rights 
in the U.S. in limited 

             indications 
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these will be considered T-cell lymphomas. T-cell lymphoma results when a T-lymphocyte (a type of white blood cell) undergoes a malignant 
change and begins to multiply, eventually crowding out healthy cells and creating tumors, which enlarge the lymph nodes and invade other sites 
in the body. CTCL is a primary skin neoplasm and accounts for nearly 50% of all T-cell malignancies.  

      T-cell Mediated Autoimmune Diseases. There are more than 80 clinically distinct autoimmune diseases such as psoriasis, rheumatoid 
arthritis, multiple sclerosis, and Crohn’s disease, which appear to have activated T-cells as a major part of their pathogenesis. These diseases 
occur when the immune system attacks the body’s own cells rather than invading microorganisms. Therefore, inhibition and/or elimination of 
activated T-cells could have a beneficial effect on these diseases.  

      Transplant Rejection. The greatest threat to transplant patients is rejection of the transplanted organ by the body’s own immune system. For 
this reason, transplant recipients must take drugs to suppress the immune response and prevent rejection usually for the rest of their lives. A 
regimen combining several drugs is usually given and this treatment has to be continued indefinitely. For kidney transplant recipients, rejection 
of the new kidney by the patient’s immune system can lead to loss of the transplanted organ and a return to dialysis. For heart, lung and liver 
transplant patients, loss of the transplanted organ presents an immediate threat to life.  

B-cell Related Cancers  

      Overview . There are two types of lymphocytes in the broadest sense — T-cells and B-cells. Although PNP inhibitors were developed 
specifically to block the T-cells, recent work indicates that the same biochemical event — the intracellular accumulation of deoxyguanosine 
triphosphate (“dGTP”) also occurs in malignant B-cells. Furthermore, work of Dr. Varsha Gandhi at MD Anderson Cancer Center has shown 
that PNP inhibitors, when acting in vitro on B-cells from patients with CLL induce accumulation of dGTP with resultant apoptosis (cell death).  

     These studies open the possibility of treating CLL, B-ALL and B-cell non-Hodgkin Lymphoma (“NHL”) with forodesine HCl. Importantly, 
B-cell malignancies are considerably more prevalent than are the T-cell leukemias and lymphomas.  

Our PNP Inhibitor(s)  

      PNP Inhibition . PNP is an enzyme that plays an important role in T-cell proliferation, because it is necessary to maintain normal DNA 
synthesis in human T-cells. Selective inhibition of PNP causes certain nucleosides, including deoxyguanosine, to accumulate. As the 
concentration of deoxyguanosine increases within T-cells, it is converted by specific enzymes to dGTP. A high concentration of dGTP in T-cells 
causes an imbalance in the intra-cellular trinucleotide pool and thus causes cell death.  

     In June 2000, we licensed a series of potent PNP inhibitors from AECOM and IRL. The lead drug candidate from this collaboration, 
forodesine HCl, is a more potent inhibitor of human lymphocyte proliferation than other previously known PNP inhibitors. Clinical data in our 
past and ongoing clinical trials, plus extensive preclinical studies indicate that forodesine HCl can modulate T-cell activities. Forodesine HCl is 
an investigational PNP inhibitor for the potential treatment of T-cell leukemias and lymphomas. In February 2006, we licensed forodesine HCl 
to Mundipharma to develop and commercialize in markets across Europe, Asia and Australia for use in oncology.  

     During 2002, we exercised the option to add a new compound, BCX-4208, to the series of inhibitors of PNP licensed from AECOM and IRL. 
Preclinical results indicated that BCX-4208 was a more potent inhibitor than forodesine HCl. We completed a Phase I single ascending dose 
clinical trial and a Phase Ib multi-dose clinical trial, both in healthy volunteers. In November 2005, we licensed BCX-4208 to Roche for the 
world wide development and commercialization in autoimmune diseases and transplant rejection.  
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PNP Inhibitor (forodesine HCl)  

Overview  

     The first clinical trial with an intravenous formulation of forodesine HCl, which began in 2002, was a Phase I clinical trial that enrolled T-
ALL patients at the M.D. Anderson Cancer Center in Houston, Texas. Simultaneously, there were preclinical studies being conducted at the 
M.D. Anderson Cancer Center which indicated that forodesine HCl induces the same biochemical changes in various other types of leukemia 
cells that are responsible for the inhibition of T-leukemia cells. The results of these preclinical studies led us to expand beyond the single starting 
trial in T-ALL by initiating additional clinical trials for refractory patients with B-ALL, CTCL, CLL, and other hematologic malignancies. Based 
on the encouraging results of these initial studies, we are working with our partner, Mundipharma, to develop a strategy for the simultaneous 
development of forodesine HCl in multiple indications and in potential combination therapies.  

Current Development Strategy (T-ALL, CTCL, B-ALL, and CLL)  

      Forodesine HCl Clinical Development . Following the completion of a Phase I/II clinical trial in patients with refractory CTCL, in 
October 2007, we initiated a planned pivotal trial with an oral formulation of forodesine HCl for treatment of patients with CTCL. This trial is 
being conducted under an SPA agreement negotiated with the FDA and will serve as a basis for a new drug application to the FDA using the oral 
formulations in patients with relapsed CTCL.  

     Based on preclinical studies conducted at the M.D. Anderson Cancer Center which indicated that forodesine HCl induces the same 
biochemical changes in various other types of leukemia cells that are responsible for the inhibition of T-leukemia cells, we initiated two small 
clinical studies late in 2005 in B-cell leukemias, which are more prevalent than T-cell leukemias. First, we initiated a Phase II trial with oral 
forodesine HCl in patients with CLL in an advanced stage and refractory to fludarabine, a current standard therapy. Our initial trial has been 
amended so that any potential subject who had fludarabine treatment in the past is now eligible. This trial is on-going.  

     We initiated a Phase I/II clinical trial of forodesine HCl to determine the safety of repeat doses of an i.v. formulation of the drug in patients 
with B-ALL. This trial is completed. Once the data are thoroughly analyzed, we will review the results with Mundipharma to determine the best 
clinical development strategy going forward.  

     In January 2007, we initiated a Phase IIb multicenter, open-label, non-randomized repeat-dose registration study to evaluate an intravenous 
treatment of forodesine HCl followed by an oral treatment of forodesine HCl in patients with relapsed or refractory T-ALL. This study was being 
conducted under an SPA negotiated with the FDA and was designed to determine the rate of complete remission achieved with forodesine HCl. 
In March 2007, we announced that as a result of a stability issue with the i.v. formulation, that we were voluntarily placing this Phase IIb clinical 
trial on hold pending internal review and discussions with our partner, Mundipharma. In December 2007, we announced the formal termination 
of this study.  

     In February 2006, we and Mundipharma entered into an exclusive license agreement to develop and commercialize forodesine HCl in 
markets across Europe, Asia and Australia for use in oncology. The agreement covers a number of markets in Asia and Australasia including 
Japan, Australia, New Zealand, China and India. This collaboration should help maximize the global development, commercialization, and 
market potential of forodesine HCl in a variety of serious medical conditions potentially including T-cell leukemia, CTCL, CLL, T-cell non-
Hodgkin lymphoma and B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma.  

PNP Inhibitor (BCX-4208/R3421)  

Overview  

     During 2004, we began clinical development of BCX-4208, another PNP inhibitor, as a drug candidate for the treatment of T-cell mediated 
autoimmune diseases, including psoriasis, and transplant rejection. Although BCX-  
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4208 and forodesine HCl are both investigational PNP inhibitors, BCX-4208 differs from forodesine HCl in significant ways. For example, 
BCX-4208 is more potent, and has the ability to suppress PNP for longer periods of time. Thus, BCX-4208 has potential advantages over 
forodesine HCl for the treatment of diseases requiring long-term, chronic administration of a PNP inhibitor. Psoriasis is a chronic and often 
painful and debilitating disease which affects an estimated 2-3 percent of the world’s population, accounting for nearly 125 million persons 
worldwide. The National Institute of Health estimates that 5.8-7.5 million Americans have psoriasis.  

Current Development Strategy  

     We completed our initial Phase I study, a single dose pharmacokinetic trial in healthy volunteers, early in 2005 and during the third quarter of 
2005, we initiated a Phase Ib multi dose trial in healthy volunteers to evaluate the safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of multiple oral 
doses of BCX-4208. In November 2005, we and Roche announced an exclusive license agreement for the worldwide development and 
commercialization of BCX-4208 for the prevention of acute rejection in transplantation and for the treatment of autoimmune diseases. This 
collaboration provided substantial strategic and economic benefit to us and also all the essential elements for the rapid, comprehensive and 
competitive development of BCX-4208. The two companies have established a joint committee to set the clinical development strategy and the 
future development program for BCX-4208.  

     During the third quarter of 2007, we announced that Roche had initiated a Phase IIa clinical trial to evaluate BCX-4208/R3421 in patients 
with moderate to severe plaque psoriasis.  

Neuraminidase Inhibitor  

Influenza  

      Seasonal Influenza. Seasonal influenza, commonly known as the flu, is a viral infection characterized by symptoms including fever, cough, 
sore throat, fatigue, headache, and/or chills. According to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”), an estimated 5% to 
20% of the American population suffers from influenza annually, there are an estimated 200,000 influenza associated hospitalizations, and 
influenza is responsible for approximately 36,000 deaths annually. Influenza is particularly dangerous to the elderly, young children and people 
with certain health conditions. Outbreaks of seasonal flu tend to follow predictable patterns usually occurring in the winter. New vaccines are 
developed annually based on known flu strains and are usually available for the annual flu season. There are also antiviral treatments available 
for the treatment of people infected with influenza.  

      Avian Influenza . According to information from the CDC, avian influenza, or bird flu is an infection caused by viruses which occur naturally 
among birds. This form of flu is very contagious among birds and can lead to serious illness and sometimes death. There are two main forms of 
disease that infect domestic poultry, one a low pathogenic form and the other a highly pathogenic form. The latter form can cause disease that 
affects multiple internal organs and with a mortality rate between 90-100% in these birds within 2 days.  

     While there are many different subtypes of the influenza A virus, only two subtypes are known to be currently circulating among humans. 
Avian influenza A viruses are found chiefly in birds, but there have been confirmed cases of infection in humans, generally as a result of contact 
with infected birds. These infections have led to symptoms ranging from those of normal flu to more severe and life threatening conditions. 
Influenza A (“H5N1”) is a subtype of an influenza virus that is highly contagious among birds and can be very deadly to them. Of the avian 
influenza viruses that have crossed the species barrier to infect humans, the H5N1 virus has caused the largest number of detected cases of 
severe disease and death in humans. Thus far, person to person spread of this virus is considered extremely rare, but as influenza A viruses 
constantly change, they could mutate over time to have the ability to spread rapidly among humans.  

      Pandemic Influenza . Pandemic influenza is a global disease outbreak that occurs when a new influenza virus emerges so that people have 
had no previous exposure. This situation occurs very rarely and only occurred three times in the 20 th century.  
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      Influenza Prevention and Treatment . The development of effective therapeutics has challenged medical researchers due to the seasonal 
variation in viral strains and the highly infectious nature of influenza. Patients, therefore, have limited treatment options. Amantadine and 
rimantadine are used for treatment of influenza A but are ineffective against influenza B. In addition, these drugs cause some adverse side 
effects, and the virus tends to develop resistance to these drugs. The CDC has recommended against the use of amantadine and rimantadine for 
the treatment or prophylaxis of influenza in the United States until susceptibility to these antiviral medications has been re-established among 
circulating influenza A viruses.  

     Vaccines are available against the disease but have limitations: people require advance vaccination; vaccines are limited by their specificity to 
particular strains of the virus; and vaccines offer little protection if the strain of influenza that circulates is different from that present in the 
vaccine. In addition, many people decline the required injections because of fear and/or discomfort. The ability of the virus to change its 
structure to avoid the body’s natural defenses is a serious obstacle to developing an effective vaccine against influenza. Different strains can 
arise when surface antigens on the virus (the portion of the virus that causes an immune reaction in humans) undergo minor genetic mutations 
each year as the virus replicates. Because of this mutability, the immunity acquired in response to infection by a particular strain of the virus 
does not provide adequate protection against viruses that subsequently arise. The production of a new vaccine each year is not only complex and 
expensive, but also an inefficient method of global disease control.  

      Inhibiting Influenza Neuraminidase. Research during the past two decades has seen dramatic advances in understanding the molecular 
structure and function of the influenza virus. Considerable attention has been focused on the enzyme neuraminidase, which is located on the 
surface of the virus. Neuraminidase assists in the release and spread of the flu virus by breaking the chemical strands that hold the new viruses to 
the cell surface, allowing the replicated virus to spread and infect other cells. This process progresses until the host’s immune response can 
produce enough antibodies to bring the infection under control. Inhibiting the neuraminidase enzyme keeps new viruses attached to the cell 
surface, thereby preventing the spread of the virus and the further infection of other cells. The subsequent quantities of virus in the bloodstream 
are not enough to cause disease but are sufficient to induce the body to mount an immune response.  

     In addition to our neuraminidase inhibitor drug candidate, peramivir, both Roche, in collaboration with Gilead Sciences, and 
GlaxoSmithKline (“GSK”) have neuraminidase inhibitors on the market. Roche’s neuraminidase inhibitor is a twice-a-day, orally active 
neuraminidase inhibitor, while GSK’s neuraminidase inhibitor is administered by dry powder inhaler twice a day. Both drugs are approved for 
marketing in the United States and other countries for treatment of influenza and are to be administered for 5 days. Roche’s neuraminidase 
inhibitor is also approved for prophylaxis use for prevention of influenza. In addition to these companies with neuraminidase inhibitors, there are 
other companies working to develop additional antiviral drugs to be used against various strains of influenza.  

     Some studies in laboratories suggest that some of these neuraminidase inhibitor drugs should work in treating avian influenza infections in 
humans, but additional studies are needed to demonstrate the effectiveness of these drugs.  

      Government Stockpiling. With the concern of avian influenza and the possible threat of a pandemic, many governments throughout the world 
have been stockpiling antiviral drugs, such as Roche’s neuraminidase inhibitor, oseltamivir. There is interest in many of these governments, 
including the U.S. government to find additional vaccines and antivirals to address a potential pandemic situation.  

Neuraminidase Inhibitor (peramivir)  

Overview  

      Background. In 1987, scientists at The University of Alabama at Birmingham (“UAB”), in collaboration with our scientists, began 
determining the molecular structure of the influenza neuraminidase enzyme from several different strains of influenza, using X-ray 
crystallography. Subsequently, our scientists and UAB scientists developed numerous new inhibitors of these enzymes using structure-based 
drug design. We licensed the influenza  
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neuraminidase program from UAB in 1994 and proceeded to complete the studies of the enzyme’s molecular structure needed to advance the 
development of neuraminidase inhibitors. The structure of the active site of influenza neuraminidase is similar among different viral strains. 
Because of this similarity, we believe that our neuraminidase inhibitors may be effective in the treatment and prevention of influenza, regardless 
of changes in the virus.  

     Previous development of peramivir in an oral formulation was conducted through a worldwide license agreement between the Company and 
the R.W. Johnson Pharmaceutical Research Institute and Ortho-McNeil Pharmaceutical Inc. (both Johnson & Johnson companies). Johnson & 
Johnson made the business decision to terminate this agreement in 2001 and returned all rights to us. In June 2002, we completed an ongoing 
Phase III clinical trial that had been started by Johnson & Johnson and subsequently terminated development of our oral peramivir program as a 
result of missing the primary endpoint in the pivotal trial.  

      Current status of peramivir. Due to the recent international concern about a potential influenza pandemic that could be initiated by avian 
strains of the virus, peramivir has received considerable attention, since it is positioned to be one of very few advanced antiviral alternatives to 
oral oseltamivir, or Tamiflu, for addressing a potential pandemic. As a result, we filed an IND in 2005 and re-initiated the clinical development 
of peramivir during 2006.  

Current Development Strategy  

     Preclinical studies comparing peramivir with other anti-influenza drugs have demonstrated that peramivir has outstanding broad-spectrum 
potency against multiple strains of influenza, including the avian strain H5N1. In addition, peramivir retains activity against nearly all 
oseltamivir-resistant strains of influenza that have been identified to date. We are currently focusing on injectable formulations of peramivir that 
may achieve high blood levels that should be effective against most strains of influenza, including strains that may be resistant to oseltmivir 
(Tamiflu). Our investigational new drug application (“IND”) for i.v. peramivir became effective in December 2005 and for i.m. in 
December 2006. We received fast track designation from the FDA in January 2006 and initiated a Phase I clinical trial with i.v. peramivir in 
March 2006. During 2006, we conducted multiple Phase I clinical trials in healthy volunteers in preparation for the Phase II trials to be initiated 
during the 2006-2007 influenza season, which began with the initiation of a Phase II study with the i.m. formulation in January 2007.  

      Intramuscular peramivir. In September 2007, we announced the results of our Phase II study with i.m. peramivir injection. The study was a 
randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial designed to test whether peramivir, when administered acutely in high doses 
intramuscularly, could reduce the duration of symptoms during seasonal influenza. During the study, 344 patients who had a positive rapid 
antigen test indicating influenza were randomized to receive i.m. injections of either placebo or one of two dose levels of peramivir (150mg and 
300mg) as a single dose administered within 48 hours of symptom onset. The primary endpoint of the study was the time to alleviation of 
symptoms in the patients confirmed with influenza infection, of which there were 313. The results indicated that in these 313 subjects, a single 
dose of peramivir demonstrated a treatment improvement over placebo, but the improvement was not statistically significant. Following the 
release of these results, we completed additional analysis of the clinical data and performed a preliminary analysis of the virologic data from this 
trial. We also conducted further pharmacokinetic (“PK”) studies in healthy volunteers.  

     Preliminary analysis of the virologic data from this Phase II i.m. trial indicated that i.m. peramivir demonstrated statistically significant 
reductions in influenza virus shedding in both active treatment groups when compared to placebo, with greater reductions in the 300mg group. 
Additionally, PK studies have been completed, which indicate that needle length impacts adequate and consistent systemic exposure to i.m. 
peramivir. Based on these clinical results and virologic data, we believe that a single i.m. dose of 300mg peramivir can be a potentially clinically 
effective dose. However, given the dose-response observed between the 150mg and 300mg doses in the Phase II trial, we believe it is prudent to 
evaluate whether doses higher than 300mg provide additional efficacy. As a result, we are planning to initiate a Phase II clinical trial that will 
evaluate the 300mg dose and a higher dose of peramivir later this year.  

      Intravenous peramivir. In July 2007, we announced the initiation of a Phase II clinical trial of i.v. peramivir to compare the efficacy and 
safety of i.v. peramivir to orally administered oseltamivir in patients who require  
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hospitalization due to acute influenza. This trial was initiated in the Southern Hemisphere and is currently ongoing in the Northern Hemisphere.  

      Summary. Our plan is to continue developing both injectable formulations in the in-patient and out-patient settings. In addition to the 
progress made clinically in both programs, we have also made significant progress in the manufacturing and toxicology work required to 
advance both programs forward toward product approval. Preclinical studies have indicated that a single injection of peramivir is effective at 
preventing death in mice from infections with virulent strains of influenza. If this finding can be confirmed in clinical trials, we believe the 
injectable formulations of peramivir will have considerable potential for treating patients with seasonal influenza infections, in addition to 
providing an effective mechanism for treating large numbers of patients rapidly in the event of a flu pandemic.  

     Congress approved an appropriation of $3.8 billion for 2006 to support the development of various countermeasures for a flu pandemic. The 
appropriation included funding for the development of new antiviral agents. In January 2007, we announced that HHS had awarded the 
Company a $102.6 million, four-year contract for the advanced development of peramivir for U.S. licensure. In January 2008, we announced 
that the development cost of our peramivir program to anticipated product approval would cost in excess of the $102.6 million contract since the 
development plan for peramivir had changed from that outlined in the original proposal to HHS. HHS has indicated that they will fund certain 
elements of our revised program, including the ongoing Phase II i.v. study evaluating peramivir in hospitalized subjects, the planning and 
conduct of the planned Phase II study of i.m. peramivir, and the manufacturing and toxicology components of the program. Each of these 
elements has specific HHS funding limits and any costs outside the approved amounts by HHS may be the responsibility of the Company. The 
original contract of $102.6 million and the four year term remain unchanged.  

     In addition to the contract with HHS, we have established collaborative relationships with Shionogi and Green Cross for the development and 
commercialization in Japan and Korea, respectively. The Shionogi agreement was established in February 2007, which resulted in an upfront 
payment of $14 million. In December 2007, we received a $7 milestone payment from Shionogi for their initiation of a Phase II clinical trial 
with i.v. peramivir.  

Structure-Based Drug Design  

     Structure-based drug design is a drug discovery approach by which we design synthetic compounds from detailed structural knowledge of the 
active sites of enzyme targets associated with particular diseases. Enzymes are proteins that act as catalysts for many vital biological reactions. 
Our goal generally is to design a compound that will fit in the active site of an enzyme (the active site of an enzyme is the area into which a 
chemical or biological molecule fits to initiate a biochemical reaction) and thereby interfere with the progression of disease.  

     Our structure-based drug design involves the application of both traditional biology and medicinal chemistry and an array of advanced 
technologies. We use X-ray crystallography, computer modeling of molecular structures and advanced chemistry techniques to focus on the 
three-dimensional molecular structure and active site characteristics of the enzymes that control cellular biology.  

     We believe that structure-based drug design technologies are superior to drug screening techniques. By identifying the target enzyme in 
advance and by discovering the chemical and molecular structure of the enzyme, we believe it is possible to design a better drug to interact with 
the enzyme. In addition, the structural data obtained by X-ray crystallographic analysis allow additional analysis and compound modification at 
each stage of the biological evaluation. This capability makes structure-based drug design a powerful tool for efficient development of drugs that 
are highly specific for particular enzyme target sites.  

Research and Development  

     We initiated our research and development program in 1986, with drug synthesis beginning in 1987. We have assembled a scientific research 
staff with expertise in a broad base of advanced research technologies including protein biochemistry, X-ray crystallography, chemistry and 
pharmacology. Our research facilities include protein biochemistry and organic synthesis laboratories, testing facilities, X-ray crystallography, 
computer and graphics equipment and facilities to make drug candidates on a small scale for early stage clinical trials. Beginning in June  
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2006, we began building an internal clinical development and regulatory team, based in Cary, North Carolina to manage the development 
strategy for our later stage products.  

     During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we spent $94.1, $47.1 and $23.6 million, respectively, on research and 
development. Approximately $19.5, $12.2 and $8.2 million of those respective amounts were spent on in-house research and development, and 
$74.6, $34.9 and $15.4 million, respectively were spent on contract research and development.  

Collaboration and In-License Relationships  

     We seek to enter into collaborations with leading pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies when we feel it is advantageous to leverage 
these companies’ resources to develop and commercialize our drug candidates on a global basis. This allows us to remain focused on our 
strength of early stage discovery and development of drug candidates. To date, we have two major collaborations for the development and 
commercialization of our lead PNP inhibitors and two collaborations for the development and commercialization of peramivir in certain 
countries outside the U.S. In addition, in January 2007, we announced that HHS had awarded the Company a $102.6 million, four-year contract 
for the advanced development of peramivir for U.S. licensure.  

     Another important component of our strategy is to augment our internal discovery programs through the selective in-licensing of potential 
drug development targets or early stage compounds for these specific targets. For example, our PNP inhibitors were in-licensed from AECOM 
and IRL in June 2000.  

Corporate Alliances  

      Roche . In November 2005, we entered into an exclusive license with Roche for the development and commercialization of our second 
generation PNP inhibitor, BCX-4208, for the prevention of acute rejection in transplantation and for the treatment of autoimmune diseases. 
Under the terms of the agreement, Roche obtained worldwide rights to BCX-4208 in exchange for an up-front payment of $30 million, which 
included a payment as reimbursement for a limited supply of material during the first 24 months of the collaboration. There could also be future 
event payments for achieving specified development, regulatory and commercial milestones (including sales level milestones following a 
product’s launch) for certain indications. In addition, we will receive royalties based on a percentage of net product sales, which varies 
depending upon when certain indications receive New Drug Application (“NDA”) approval in a major market country and can vary by country 
depending on the patent coverage or sales of generic compounds in a particular country. We licensed this compound and other PNP inhibitors 
from AECOM and IRL and will owe sublicense payments to these third parties on any upfront payment, future event payments and royalties 
received by us for the sublicense of these inhibitors.  

     Roche has a right of first negotiation, under certain conditions, on existing backup PNP inhibitors we develop through Phase IIb in transplant 
rejection and autoimmune diseases, but any new PNP inhibitors are exempt from this agreement and we retain all rights to such compounds. We 
retain the right to co-promote BCX-4208 in the U.S. for certain indications. Roche has certain obligations under the terms of the agreement to 
use commercially reasonable efforts to develop, manufacture and commercialize the licensed product. The agreement may be terminated by 
either party following an uncured material breach by the other party or may be either fully or partially terminated by Roche without cause under 
certain conditions and all rights, data, materials, products and other information would be transferred to us at no cost.  

      Mundipharma . In February 2006, we entered into an exclusive, royalty bearing right and license in the specified territory (primarily Europe, 
Asia and Australia) with Mundipharma for the development and commercialization of our lead PNP inhibitor, forodesine HCl, for use in 
oncology. Under the terms of the agreement, Mundipharma obtained oncology rights to forodesine HCl in the specified territory in exchange for 
a $10 million up-front payment. Mundipharma will share 50% of the documented third party development costs incurred by us in respect of our 
current and planned trials as of the effective date of the agreement provided that Mundipharma’s maximum contribution to these trials shall be 
$10 million. In addition, Mundipharma will conduct additional clinical trials at their own cost up to a maximum of $15 million. The license 
provides for future event payments for achieving specified development, regulatory and commercial events (including certain sales level  
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amounts following a product’s launch) for certain indications. In addition, we will receive royalties based on a percentage of net product sales, 
which varies depending upon when certain indications receive NDA approval in a major market country and can vary by country depending on 
the patent coverage or sales of generic compounds in a particular country. Generally, all payments under the agreement are nonrefundable and 
non-creditable, but they are subject to audit. We licensed this compound and other PNP inhibitors from AECOM and IRL and will owe 
sublicense payments to these third parties on the upfront payment, future event payments and royalties received by us for the sublicense of these 
inhibitors.  

     Within five years of the effective date of the agreement, Mundipharma has a right of first negotiation on existing backup PNP inhibitors we 
develop through Phase IIb in oncology, but any new PNP inhibitors are exempt from this agreement and we retain all rights to such compounds. 
We retain the rights to forodesine HCl in the U.S. and Mundipharma is obligated by the terms of the agreement to use commercially reasonable 
efforts to develop the licensed product in the territory specified by the agreement. The agreement will continue for the commercial life of the 
licensed products, but may be terminated by either party following an uncured material breach by the other party or in the event the pre-existing 
third party license with AECOM and IRL expires. It may be terminated by Mundipharma upon 60 days written notice without cause or under 
certain other conditions as specified in the agreement and all rights, data, materials, products and other information would be transferred to us at 
no cost. In the event we terminate the agreement for material default or insolvency, we could have to pay Mundipharma 50% of the costs of any 
independent data owned by Mundipharma in accordance with the terms of the agreement.  

      Shionogi. In March 2007, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Shionogi to develop and commercialize the 
Company’s lead influenza neuraminidase inhibitor, peramivir, in Japan for the treatment of seasonal and potentially life-threatening human 
influenza. Under the terms of the agreement, Shionogi obtained rights to injectable formulations of peramivir in Japan in exchange for a 
$14 million up-front payment. The license provides for future event payments for achieving specified development, regulatory and commercial 
events (including certain sales level amounts following a product’s launch) for certain indications. In December 2007, the Company received a 
$7 million milestone payment from Shionogi for their initiation of a Phase II clinical trial with i.v. peramivir. In addition, the Company will 
receive royalties based on a percentage of net product sales. Generally, all payments under the agreement are nonrefundable and non-creditable, 
but they are subject to audit. The Company developed peramivir under a license from UAB and will owe sublicense payments to them on the 
upfront payment and any future event payments and/or royalties received by the Company from Shionogi. The Company retains all rights to 
commercialize peramivir in North America, Europe, and other countries outside of Korea and Japan.  

      Green Cross Corporation (“Green Cross”). In June 2006, the Company entered into an agreement with Green Cross to develop and 
commercialize peramivir in Korea. Under the terms of the agreement, Green Cross will be responsible for all development, regulatory, and 
commercialization costs in Korea. The Company received a one-time license fee and may also receive future event payments as well as royalties 
on product sales of peramivir. In addition, the Company will share in any profits resulting from the sale of peramivir to the Korean government 
for stockpiling purposes. Furthermore, Green Cross will pay the Company a premium over its cost to supply peramivir for development and any 
future marketing of peramivir products in Korea.  

Academic Alliances  

      Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiva University and Industrial Research, Ltd, New Zealand . In June 2000, we licensed a series of 
potent inhibitors of PNP from AECOM and IRL. The lead drug candidates from this collaboration are forodesine HCl and BCX-4208. We have 
obtained worldwide exclusive rights to develop and ultimately distribute these compounds or any other drug candidates that might arise from 
research on these inhibitors. We have agreed to pay certain milestone payments for future development of these inhibitors, certain royalties on 
sales of any resulting product, and to share in future payments received from other third-party partners, if any. In addition, we have agreed to pay 
an annual license fee that is non-refundable, but is creditable against actual royalties and other payments due to AECOM and IRL. This 
agreement may be terminated by us at any time by giving 60 days advance notice or in the event of material uncured breach by AECOM and/or 
IRL.  

13  



Table of Contents  

      The University of Alabama at Birmingham . We have had a close relationship with UAB since our formation. Our former Chairman, 
Dr. Charles E. Bugg, was the previous Director of the UAB Center for Macromolecular Crystallography, and our Chief Operating Officer, Dr. J. 
Claude Bennett, was the former President of UAB, the former Chairman of the Department of Medicine at UAB and a former Chairman of the 
Department of Microbiology at UAB. Several of our early programs originated at UAB.  

     We currently have agreements with UAB for influenza neuraminidase and complement inhibitors. Under the terms of these agreements, UAB 
performed specific research for us in return for research payments and license fees. UAB has granted us certain rights to any discoveries in these 
areas resulting from research developed by UAB or jointly developed with us. We have agreed to pay royalties on sales of any resulting product 
and to share in future payments received from other third-party partners. We have completed the research under both the complement and 
influenza agreements. These two agreements have initial 25-year terms, are automatically renewable for five-year terms throughout the life of 
the last patent and are terminable by us upon three months notice and by UAB under certain circumstances. There is currently no activity 
between us and UAB on these agreements, but when the Company licenses this technology, such as in the case of the Shionogi and Green Cross 
agreements, or commercialize products related to these programs, we will owe sublicense fees or royalties on amounts we receive.  

      Emory . In June 2000, we licensed intellectual property from Emory related to the HCV polymerase target associated with hepatitis C viral 
infections. Under the original terms of the agreement, the research investigators from Emory provided us with materials and technical insight 
into the target. We have agreed to pay Emory royalties on sales of any resulting product and to share in future payments received from other 
third party partners, if any. We can terminate this agreement at any time by giving 90 days advance notice.  

Government Contracts  

     In January 2007, we announced that HHS had awarded the Company a $102.6 million, four-year contract for the advanced development of 
peramivir. In January 2008, we announced the development cost of our peramivir program to product approval would cost in excess of the 
$102.6 million contract since the development plan for peramivir has changed from that outlined in the original proposal to HHS. HHS has 
indicated that they will fund certain elements of our revised program, including the ongoing Phase II i.v. study in hospitalized subjects, planning 
and conduct of the planned Phase II i.m. study, manufacturing and toxicology. Each of these elements has specific HHS funding limits and costs 
outside the approved amounts by HHS may be the responsibility of the Company. The original contract of $102.6 million and the four year term 
remain unchanged. HHS has indicated that antiviral drugs are an important element of their pandemic influenza preparedness efforts and that 
their strategy includes not only stockpiling of existing antiviral drugs but also seeking out new antiviral medications to further broaden their 
capabilities to treat and prevent all forms of influenza. Peramivir is in the same class of neuraminidase inhibitors as oseltamivir (Tamiflu) and 
zanamivir (Relenza), all of which are antiviral drugs, but the method of delivery for peramivir will be parenteral (i.m. and i.v.) as compared to 
the oral Tamiflu or inhaled Relenza. We are committed to working with HHS for the development of these parenteral formulations of peramivir 
which could be especially useful in hospital settings or pandemic situations due to the ability to achieve high levels of the drug rapidly 
throughout the body.  

     This contract is a cost-plus-fixed-fee contract, which is milestone-driven. HHS will make periodic assessments of progress and the 
continuation of the contract is based on our performance, timeliness and quality of deliverables, and other factors. The government has rights 
under certain contract clauses to terminate this contract.  

Patents and Proprietary Information  

     Our success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and enforce patent protection for our products, methods, processes and other 
proprietary technologies, preserve our trade secrets, and operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of other parties, both in the United 
States and in other countries. We own or have rights to certain proprietary information, proprietary technology, issued and allowed patents and 
patent applications which relate to compounds we are developing. We actively seek, when appropriate, protection for our products, proprietary 
technology and proprietary information by means of U.S. and foreign patents, trademarks and  
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contractual arrangements. In addition, we rely upon trade secrets and contractual arrangements to protect certain of our proprietary information, 
proprietary technology and products.  

     The patent positions of companies like ours are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. Our ability to maintain 
and solidify our proprietary position for our technology will depend on our success in obtaining effective patent claims and enforcing those 
claims once granted. We do not know whether any of our patent applications or those patent applications that we license will result in the 
issuance of any patents. Our issued patents and those that may issue in the future, or those licensed to us, may be challenged, invalidated, 
rendered unenforceable or circumvented, which could limit our ability to stop competitors from marketing related products or the length of term 
of patent protection that we may have for our products. In addition, the rights granted under any issued patents may not provide us with 
competitive advantages against competitors with similar compounds or technology. Furthermore, our competitors may independently develop 
similar technologies or duplicate any technology developed by us in a manner that does not infringe our patents or other intellectual property. 
Because of the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a potential product, it is possible that, before any of our 
drug candidates or those developed by our partners can be commercialized, any related patent may expire or remain in force for only a short 
period following commercialization, thereby reducing any advantage of the patent.  

     As of February 20, 2008, we have been issued 29 U.S. patents that expire between 2009 and 2025 and that relate to our PNP, serine protease 
and neuraminidase inhibitor compounds. We have licensed six different class of compounds representing new composition of matter patents 
from AECOM and IRL for our PNP inhibitors, plus additional manufacturing patents related to these PNP inhibitors and one patent from Emory 
related to hepatitis C. Additionally, we have 15 PCT or U.S. patent applications pending related to PNP, neuraminidase, RNA viral polymerase, 
paramyxovirus neuraminidase, and serine protease inhibitors. Our pending applications may not result in issued patents, and our patents may not 
provide us with sufficient protection against competitive products or otherwise be commercially viable.  

     Our success is also dependent upon the skills, knowledge and experience of our scientific and technical personnel, none of which is 
patentable. To help protect our rights, we require all employees, consultants, advisors and partners to enter into confidentiality agreements, 
which prohibit the disclosure of confidential information to anyone outside of our company and, where possible, requires disclosure and 
assignment to us of their ideas, developments, discoveries and inventions. These agreements may not provide adequate protection for our trade 
secrets, know-how or other proprietary information in the event of any unauthorized use or disclosure or the lawful development by others of 
such information.  

Marketing and Sales  

     We may decide to market, distribute and sell forodesine HCl in the U.S. for use in treatment of various cancers. Although our general strategy 
is to rely on major marketing companies for worldwide commercialization of most products we may develop, we believe that we can manage the 
highly specialized oncology market for forodesine HCl within the U.S. However, in general, we lack experience in marketing, distributing and 
selling pharmaceutical products. Our general strategy is to rely on partners, licensees or arrangements with others to provide for the marketing, 
distribution and sales of products we may develop. We may not be able to establish and maintain acceptable commercial arrangements with 
partners, licensees or others to perform such activities.  

Competition  

     The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are intensely competitive. Many companies, including biotechnology, chemical and 
pharmaceutical companies, are actively engaged in activities similar to ours, including research and development of drugs for the treatment of 
cancer, infectious, autoimmune, and inflammatory disorders. Many of these companies have substantially greater financial and other resources, 
larger research and development staffs, and more extensive marketing and manufacturing organizations than we do. In addition, some of them 
have considerable experience in preclinical testing, clinical trials and other regulatory approval procedures. There are also academic institutions, 
governmental agencies and other research organizations  
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that are conducting research in areas in which we are working. They may also market commercial products, either on their own or through 
collaborative efforts.  

     We expect to encounter significant competition for any of the pharmaceutical products we plan to develop. Companies that complete clinical 
trials, obtain required regulatory approvals and commence commercial sales of their products before their competitors may achieve a significant 
competitive advantage. Such is the case with Eisai’s Targretin for CTCL and the current neuraminidase inhibitors marketed by GSK and Roche 
for influenza. In addition, several pharmaceutical and biotechnology firms, including major pharmaceutical companies and specialized structure-
based drug design companies, have announced efforts in the field of structure-based drug design and in the fields of PNP, HCV, influenza, and 
other therapeutic areas where we are focusing our drug discovery efforts.  

     In order to compete successfully, we must develop proprietary positions in patented drugs for therapeutic markets that have not been 
satisfactorily addressed by conventional research strategies and, in the process, expand our expertise in structure-based drug design. Our 
products, even if successfully tested and developed, may not be adopted by physicians over other products and may not offer economically 
feasible alternatives to other therapies.  

Government Regulation  

     The FDA regulates the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries in the U.S., and our drug candidates are subject to extensive and rigorous 
domestic government regulations prior to commercialization. The FDA regulates, among other things, the development, testing, manufacture, 
safety, efficacy, record-keeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale and distribution of pharmaceutical products. In foreign 
countries, our products are also subject to extensive regulation by foreign governments. These government regulations will be a significant factor 
in the production and marketing of any pharmaceutical products that we develop. Failure to comply with applicable FDA and other regulatory 
requirements at any stage during the regulatory process may subject us to sanctions, including:  

     The regulatory review and approval process is lengthy, expensive and uncertain. Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial 
sale of any products, we or our partners must demonstrate that our product candidates are safe and effective for use in humans. The approval 
process takes many years, substantial expenses may be incurred and significant time may be devoted to clinical development.  
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  •   delays; 
  

  •   warning letters; 
  

  •   fines; 
  

  •   product recalls or seizures; 
  

  •   injunctions; 
  

  •   penalties; 
  

  •   refusal of the FDA to review pending market approval applications or supplements to approval applications; 
  

  •   total or partial suspension of production; 
  

  •   civil penalties; 
  

  •   withdrawals of previously approved marketing applications; and 
  

  •   criminal prosecutions. 
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     Before testing potential candidates in humans, we carry out laboratory and animal studies to determine safety and biological activity. After 
completing preclinical trials, we must file an IND, including a proposal to begin clinical trials, with the FDA. We have filed thirteen INDs to 
date and plan to file, or rely on future partners to file, additional INDs in the future as our potential drug candidates advance to that stage of 
development. Thirty days after filing an IND, a Phase I human clinical trial can start, unless the FDA places a hold on the study.  

     Our Phase I trials are designed to determine safety in a small group of patients or healthy volunteers. We also assess tolerances and the 
metabolic and pharmacologic actions of our drug candidates at different doses. After we complete the initial trials, we conduct Phase II trials to 
assess safety and efficacy and establish the optimal dose in patients. If Phase II trials are successful, we or our partners conduct Phase III trials to 
verify the results in a larger patient population. Phase III trials are required for FDA approval to market a drug. A Phase III trial may require 
hundreds or even thousands of patients and is the most expensive to conduct. The goal in Phase III is to collect enough safety and efficacy data 
to obtain FDA approval of a drug for treatment of a particular disease. For some clinical indications that are especially serious and for which 
there are no effective treatments, such as refractory cancers, conditional approval can be obtained following Phase II trials.  

     Initiation and completion of the clinical trial phases are dependent on several factors including things that are beyond our control. For 
example, the clinical trials cannot begin at a particular site until that site receives approval from its Institutional Review Board (“IRB”), which 
reviews the protocol and related documents. This process can take from several weeks to several months. In addition, clinical trials are 
dependent on patient enrollment, but the rate at which patients enroll in the study depends on:  

     Delays in planned patient enrollment may result in increased expense and longer development timelines.  

     After completion of the clinical trials of a product, we or our partners must submit a NDA to the FDA for marketing approval before 
commercialization of the product. The FDA may not grant approval on a timely basis, if at all. The FDA, as a result of the Food and Drug 
Administration Modernization Act of 1997, has six months to review and act upon license applications for priority therapeutics that are for life-
threatening or unmet medical needs. Standard reviews can take between one and two years, and can even take longer if significant questions 
arise during the review process. The FDA may withdraw any required approvals, once obtained.  

     In addition to clinical development regulations, we and our contract manufacturers and partners must comply with the applicable FDA current 
good manufacturing practice (“GMP”) regulations. GMP regulations include requirements relating to quality control and quality assurance as 
well as the corresponding maintenance of records and documentation. Manufacturing facilities are subject to inspection by the FDA. Such 
facilities must be approved before we can use them in commercial manufacturing of our potential products. We or our contract manufacturers 
may not be able to comply with the applicable GMP requirements and other FDA regulatory requirements. If we or our contract manufacturers 
fail to comply, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be materially adversely affected.  
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  •   willingness of investigators to participate in a study; 
  

  •   ability of clinical sites to obtain approval from their IRB; 
  

  •   the availability of the required number of eligible subjects to be enrolled in a given trial; 
  

  •   the availability of existing or other experimental drugs for the disease we intend to treat; 
  

  •   the willingness of patients to participate; and 
  

  •   the patients meeting the eligibility criteria. 
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Human Resources  

     As of February 20, 2008, we had 106 employees, of whom 79 were engaged in research and development and 27 were in general and 
administrative functions. Our scientific staff, 33 of whom hold Ph.D. or M.D. degrees, has diversified experience in biochemistry, 
pharmacology, X-ray crystallography, synthetic organic chemistry, computational chemistry, and medicinal chemistry. We consider our relations 
with our employees to be satisfactory.  

Scientific Advisory Board and Consultants  

     Our scientific advisory board (“SAB”) is comprised of six scientific advisors who are leaders in certain of our core disciplines or who 
otherwise have specific expertise in our therapeutic focus areas. The SAB meets as a group at scheduled meetings and consists of the following 
individuals:  

     The SAB members are reimbursed for their expenses and receive periodic options to purchase shares of common stock. We also have 
consulting agreements with the Chairman of our SAB and a number of other scientists with expertise in our core disciplines or who are 
specialists in diseases or treatments on which we focus. The SAB members and other consultants are all employed by or may have consulting 
agreements with entities other than us, some of which may compete with us in the future. They are expected to devote only a small portion of 
their time to our business, although no specific time commitment has been established. They are not expected to participate actively in our affairs 
or in the development of our technology. Several of the institutions with which the SAB members and the consultants are affiliated may adopt 
new regulations or policies that limit their ability to consult with us. The loss of the services of the SAB members and the consultants could 
adversely affect us to the extent that we are pursuing research or development in areas relevant to their expertise.  
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Name   Position 

Charles E. Bugg, Ph.D. (Chairman)  

  

Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; Former 
Professor of Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics, Director of the Center for 
Macromolecular Crystallography, and Associate Director of the Comprehensive Cancer 
Center, University of Alabama at Birmingham 

       
Albert F. LoBuglio, M.D.  

  

Director Emeritus and Distinguished Professor,  
Comprehensive Cancer Center , University Of Alabama at  
Birmingham 

       
Gordon N. Gill, M.D.  

  
Professor of Medicine and Cellular and Molecular Medicine; Dean of Translational 
Medicine, University of California, San Diego School of Medicine. 

       
Lorraine J. Gudas, Ph.D.    Professor and Chairman, Department of Pharmacology 
     Weill Medical College of Cornell University, Revlon 
     Pharmaceutical Professor of Pharmacology and Toxicology. 
       
Herbert A. Hauptman, Ph.D.    President of the Hauptman-Woodward Medical Research 
   

  
Institute, Inc. (formerly the Medical Foundation (Buffalo), Inc.), and Research Professor 
in Biophysical Sciences and 

     Distinguished Professor in Structural Biology at 
     the State University of New York (Buffalo). Recipient 
     of the Nobel Prize in Chemistry (1985). 
       
Hamilton O. Smith, M.D.    Professor, Molecular Biology and Genetics Department 
     at The Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, 
   

  
retired, and Scientific Director of the Synthetic Biology and Biological Energy Groups at 
the J. Craig Venter 

     Institute in Rockville, Maryland. Recipient of the Nobel 
     Prize in Medicine (1978). 



Table of Contents  

     Any inventions or processes independently discovered by the SAB members or the consultants may not become our property and will 
probably remain the property of such persons or of such persons’ employers. In addition, the institutions with which they are affiliated may make 
available the research services of their personnel, including the SAB members and the consultants, to our competitors pursuant to sponsored 
research agreements. We require the SAB members and the consultants to enter into confidentiality agreements which prohibit the disclosure of 
confidential information to anyone outside of our company and require disclosure and assignment to us of their ideas, developments, discoveries 
or inventions. However, our competitors may gain access to trade secrets and other proprietary information developed by us and disclosed to the 
SAB members and the consultants.  

Financial Information  

     For information related to our revenues, profits, net loss and total assets, in addition to other financial information, please refer to the 
Financial Statement and Notes to Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report.  

Available Information  

     We have available a website on the Internet. Our address is www.biocryst.com. We make available, free of charge, at our website our Annual 
Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished 
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or 
furnish it to, the SEC. We also make available at our website copies of our audit committee charter, compensation committee charter, corporate 
governance and nominating committee charter and our code of business conduct, which applies to all employees of BioCryst as well as the 
members of our Board of Directors.  
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS  

      An investment in our stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the following risks, along with all of the other 
information included in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, before deciding to buy our common stock. Additional 
risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also impair our business operations. If we are 
unable to prevent events that have a negative effect from occurring, then our business may suffer. Negative events are likely to decrease our 
revenue, increase our costs, make our financial results poorer and/or decrease our financial strength, and may cause our stock price to decline. 
In that case, you may lose all or a part of your investment in our common stock.  

Risks Relating to Our Business  

We have incurred substantial losses since our inception in 1986, expect to continue to incur such losses, and may never be profitable.  

     Since our inception in 1986, we have not been profitable. We expect to incur additional losses for the foreseeable future, and our losses could 
increase as our research and development efforts progress. As of December 31, 2007, our accumulated deficit was approximately $224.5 million. 
To become profitable, we must successfully manufacture and develop drug product candidates, receive regulatory approval, and successfully 
commercialize or enter into profitable agreements with other parties. It could be several years, if ever, before we receive royalties from any 
current or future license agreements or revenues directly from product sales.  

     Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing our product candidates and their potential for commercialization, 
we are unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when we will become profitable, if at all. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may 
not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. If we are unable to achieve and sustain profitability, the market 
value of our common stock would likely decline.  

Our success depends upon our ability to advance our products through the various stages of development, especially through the clinical trial 
process.  

     To receive the regulatory approvals necessary for the sale of our product candidates, we or our partners must demonstrate through preclinical 
studies and clinical trials that each product candidate is safe and effective. The clinical trial process is complex and uncertain. Because of the 
cost and duration of clinical trials, we may decide to discontinue development of product candidates that are unlikely to show good results in the 
trials, unlikely to help advance a product to the point of a meaningful collaboration, or unlikely to have a reasonable commercial potential. We 
may suffer significant setbacks in pivotal clinical trials, even after earlier clinical trials show promising results. Clinical trials may not be 
adequately designed or executed, which could affect the potential outcome and analysis of study results. Any of our product candidates may 
produce undesirable side effects in humans. These side effects could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials of 
a product candidate. These side effects could also result in the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities refusing to approve the product candidate 
for any targeted indications. We, our partners, the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities may suspend or terminate clinical trials at any time if we 
or they believe the trial participants face unacceptable health risks. Clinical trials may fail to demonstrate that our product candidates are safe or 
effective and have acceptable commercial viability.  

     Our ability to successfully complete clinical trials is dependent upon many factors, including but not limited to:  
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  •   our ability to find suitable clinical sites and investigators to enroll patients; 
  

  •   the availability of and willingness of patients to participate in our clinical trials; 
  

  •   difficulty in maintaining contact with patients to provide complete data after treatment; 
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     Clinical trials are lengthy and expensive. We or our partners incur substantial expense for, and devote significant time to, preclinical testing 
and clinical trials, yet cannot be certain that the tests and trials will ever result in the commercial sale of a product. For example, clinical trials 
require adequate supplies of drug and sufficient patient enrollment. Delays in patient enrollment can result in increased costs and longer 
development times. Even if we or our partners successfully complete clinical trials for our product candidates, we or our partners might not file 
the required regulatory submissions in a timely manner and may not receive regulatory approval for the product candidate.  

Our later stage clinical trials may not adequately show our drugs are safe or effective.  

     Progression of our drug products through the clinical development process is dependent upon our trials indicating our drugs have adequate 
safety profiles and show positive therapeutic effects in the patients being treated by achieving pre-determined endpoints according to the trial 
protocols. Failure to achieve either of these could result in delays in our trials or even require the performance of additional unplanned trials. 
This could result in delays in the development of our drug candidates and could result in significant unexpected costs.  

If we fail to obtain additional financing, we may be unable to complete the development and commercialization of our product candidates or 
continue our research and development programs.  

     As our clinical programs continue to grow and patient enrollment increases, our costs will increase. Our current and planned clinical trials 
plus the related development, manufacturing, regulatory approval process requirements, and additional personnel resources and testing required 
for supporting the development of our drug candidates will consume significant capital resources. Our expenses, revenues and burn rate could 
vary significantly depending on many factors, including our ability to raise additional capital, the development progress of our collaborative 
agreements for our drug candidates, the amount of funding we receive from HHS for peramivir, the amount of funding or assistance, if any, we 
receive from other governmental agencies or other new partnerships with third parties for the development of our drug candidates, the progress 
and results of our current and proposed clinical trials for our most advanced drug products, the progress made in the manufacturing of our lead 
products and the progression of our other programs.  

     We expect that we will be required to raise additional capital to complete the development and commercialization of our current product 
candidates. Additional funding, whether through additional sales of securities or collaborative or other arrangements with corporate partners or 
from other sources, including governmental agencies, in general and from the HHS contract specifically, may not be available when needed or 
on terms acceptable to us. The issuance of preferred or common stock or convertible securities, with terms and prices significantly more 
favorable than those of the currently outstanding common stock, could have the effect of diluting or adversely affecting the holdings or rights of 
our existing stockholders. In addition, collaborative arrangements may require us to transfer certain material rights to such corporate partners. 
Insufficient funds may require us to delay, scale-back or eliminate certain of our research and development programs.  

If HHS were to eliminate, reduce or delay funding from our contract or dispute some of our incurred costs, this would have a significant 
negative impact on our revenues, cash flows and the development of peramivir.  

     Our projections of revenues and incoming cash flows are substantially dependent upon HHS reimbursement for the costs related to our 
peramivir program. If HHS were to eliminate, reduce or delay the funding for this program or disallow some of our incurred costs, we would 
have to obtain additional funding for development of  
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  •   our product candidates may not prove to be either safe or effective; 
  

  •   clinical protocols or study procedures may not be adequately designed or followed by the investigators; 
  

  •   manufacturing of quality problems could affect the supply of drug product for our trials; and 
  

  •   delays or changes in requirements by governmental agencies. 
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this drug candidate or significantly reduce or stop the development effort. For example, in January 2008, we announced the development cost of 
our peramivir program to product approval would cost in excess of the $102.6 million contract since the development plan for peramivir has 
changed from that outlined in the original proposal to HHS. HHS has indicated that they will fund certain elements of our revised program, 
including the ongoing Phase II i.v. study in hospitalized subjects, planning and conduct of the planned Phase II i.m. study, manufacturing and 
toxicology. Each of these elements has specific HHS funding limits and costs outside the approved amounts by HHS may be the responsibility of 
the Company. The original contract of $102.6 million and the four year term remain unchanged.  

     In contracting with HHS, we are subject to various U.S. government contract requirements, including general clauses for a cost-
reimbursement research and development contract, which may limit our reimbursement or if we are found to be in violation could result in 
contract termination. U.S. government contracts typically contain unfavorable termination provisions and are subject to audit and modification 
by the government at its sole discretion. The U.S. government may terminate its contract with us either for its convenience or if we default by 
failing to perform in accordance with the contract schedule and terms, which would have a significant negative impact on our cash flows and 
operations.  

Our contract with HHS has special contracting requirements, which create additional risks of reduction or loss of funding.  

     We have entered into a contract with HHS for the advanced development of our neuraminidase inhibitor, peramivir. In contracting with HHS, 
we are subject to various U.S. government contract requirements, including general clauses for a cost-reimbursement research and development 
contract. U.S. government contracts typically contain unfavorable termination provisions and are subject to audit and modification by the 
government at its sole discretion, which subjects us to additional risks. These risks include the ability of the U.S. government to unilaterally:  

     The U.S. government may terminate its contract with us either for its convenience or if we default by failing to perform in accordance with 
the contract schedule and terms. Termination for convenience provisions generally enable us to recover only our costs incurred or committed, 
and settlement expenses and profit on the work completed prior to termination. Termination for default provisions does not permit these 
recoveries.  

     As a U.S. government contractor, we are required to comply with applicable laws, regulations and standards relating to our accounting 
practices and are subject to periodic audits and reviews. As part of any such audit or review, the U.S. government may review the adequacy of, 
and our compliance with, our internal control systems and policies, including those relating to our purchasing, property, estimating, 
compensation and management information systems. Based on the results of its audits, the U.S. government may adjust our contract-related costs 
and fees, including allocated indirect costs. In addition, if an audit or review uncovers any improper or illegal activity, we may be subject to civil 
and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of our contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines 
and suspension or prohibition from doing business with the U.S. government. We could also suffer serious harm to our reputation if allegations 
of impropriety were made against us. In addition, under U.S. government purchasing regulations, some of our costs may not be reimbursable or 
allowed under our contracts. Further, as a U.S. government contractor, we are subject to an increased risk of investigations, criminal prosecution, 
civil fraud, whistleblower lawsuits and other legal actions and liabilities as compared to private sector commercial companies.  

If we fail to successfully commercialize or establish collaborative relationships to commercialize certain of our drug product candidates or if 
any partner terminates or fails to perform its obligations under agreements with us, potential revenues from commercialization of our 
product candidates could be reduced, delayed or eliminated.  
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  •   terminate or reduce the scope of our contract; and 
  

  •   audit and object to our contract-related costs and fees, including allocated indirect costs. 
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     Our business strategy is to increase the asset value of our drug candidate portfolio. We believe this is best achieved by retaining full product 
rights or through collaborative arrangements with third parties as appropriate. As needed, potential third party alliances could include preclinical 
development, clinical development, regulatory approval, marketing, sales and distribution of our drug product candidates.  

     Currently, we have established collaborative relationships with four pharmaceutical companies, Roche, Mundipharma, and both Shionogi and 
Green Cross for development and commercialization of BCX-4208, forodesine HCl and peramivir, respectively. The process of establishing and 
implementing collaborative relationships is difficult, time-consuming and involves significant uncertainty, including:  

     If any partner fails to fulfill its responsibilities in a timely manner, or at all, our commercialization efforts related to that collaboration could 
be reduced, delayed or terminated, or it may be necessary for us to assume responsibility for activities that would otherwise have been the 
responsibility of our partner. If we are unable to establish and maintain collaborative relationships on acceptable terms, we may have to delay or 
discontinue further development of one or more of our product candidates, undertake commercialization activities at our own expense or find 
alternative sources of funding. Any delay in the development or commercialization of our compounds would severely affect our business, 
because if our compounds do not progress through the development process or reach the market in a timely manner, or at all, we may not receive 
additional future event payments and may never receive product or royalty payments.  

     We are currently in dispute with Mundipharma regarding the contractual obligations of the parties with respect to certain costs related to the 
manufacturing and development of forodesine HCl. Notwithstanding, we do not believe that we are responsible for any of the disputed amounts. 
We are engaged in ongoing discussion to resolve this dispute. The maximum potential exposure to us is estimated to be approximately $5 million 
(approximately 3.4 million euro). Because of the preliminary nature of the discussions, no amounts have been accrued as of December 31, 2007.  

We have not commercialized any products or technologies and our future revenue generation is uncertain.  

     We have not commercialized any products or technologies, and we may never be able to do so. We currently have no marketing capability 
and no direct or third-party sales or distribution capabilities and may be unable to establish these capabilities for products we plan to 
commercialize. In addition, our revenue from collaborative agreements is dependent upon the status of our preclinical and clinical programs. If 
we fail to advance these programs to the point of being able to enter into successful collaborations, we will not receive any future event or other 
collaborative payments.  

     Our ability to receive revenue from products we commercialize presents several risks, including:  
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  •   our partners may seek to renegotiate or terminate their relationships with us due to unsatisfactory clinical results, a change in business 
strategy, a change of control or other reasons; 

  

  •   our contracts for collaborative arrangements may expire; 
  

  •   our partners may choose to pursue alternative technologies, including those of our competitors; 
  

  •   we may have disputes with a partner that could lead to litigation or arbitration; 
  

  •   we do not have day to day control over the activities of our partners and have limited control over their decisions; 
  

  •   our ability to generate future event payments and royalties from our partners depends upon their abilities to establish the safety and 
efficacy of our drug candidates, obtain regulatory approvals and achieve market acceptance of products developed from our drug 
candidates; 

  

  •   we or our partners may fail to properly initiate, maintain or defend our intellectual property rights, where applicable, or a party may 
utilize our proprietary information in such a way as to invite litigation that could jeopardize or potentially invalidate our proprietary 
information or expose us to potential liability; 

  

  •   our partners may not devote sufficient capital or resources towards our product candidates; and 
  

  •   our partners may not comply with applicable government regulatory requirements. 
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If our development collaborations with third parties, such as our development partners and contract research organizations, fail, the 
development of our drug product candidates will be delayed or stopped.  

     We rely heavily upon other parties for many important stages of our drug development programs, including but not limited to:  

     Our failure to engage in successful collaborations at any one of these stages would greatly impact our business. If we do not license enzyme 
targets or inhibitors from academic institutions or from other biotechnology companies on acceptable terms, our product development efforts 
would suffer. Similarly, if the contract research organizations that conduct our initial or late-stage clinical trials, conduct our toxicology studies, 
manufacture our starting materials, drug substance and drug products or manage our regulatory function breached their obligations to us or 
perform their services inconsistent with industry standards and not in accordance with the required regulations, this would delay or prevent the 
development of our product candidates.  

     If we lose our relationship with any one or more of these parties, we could experience a significant delay in both identifying another 
comparable provider and then contracting for its services. We may be unable to retain an alternative provider on reasonable terms, if at all. Even 
if we locate an alternative provider, it is likely that this provider may need additional time to respond to our needs and may not provide the same 
type or level of service as the original provider. In addition, any provider that we retain will be subject to current Good Laboratory Practices 
(“cGLP”), current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”), or current Good Clinical Practices (“cGCP”), and similar foreign standards and we 
do not have control over compliance with these regulations by these providers. Consequently, if these practices and standards are not adhered to 
by these providers, the development and commercialization of our product candidates could be delayed.  
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  •   we or our collaborators may fail to successfully complete clinical trials sufficient to obtain FDA marketing approval; 
  

  •   many competitors are more experienced and have significantly more resources and their products could be more cost effective or have a 
better efficacy or tolerability profile than our product candidates; 

  

  •   we may fail to employ a comprehensive and effective intellectual property strategy which could result in decreased commercial value of 
our company and our products; 

  

  •   we may fail to employ a comprehensive and effective regulatory strategy which could result in a delay or failure in commercialization 
of our products; 

  

  •   our ability to successfully commercialize our products are affected by the competitive landscape, which cannot be fully known at this 
time; 

  

  •   reimbursement is constantly changing which could greatly affect usage of our products; and 
  

  •   any future revenue directly from product sales would depend on our ability to successfully complete clinical studies, obtain regulatory 
approvals, manufacture, market and commercialize any approved drugs. 

  •   discovery of compounds that cause or enable biological reactions necessary for the progression of the disease or disorder, called enzyme 
targets; 

  

  •   licensing or design of enzyme inhibitors for development as drug product candidates; 
  

  •   execution of some preclinical studies and late-stage development for our compounds and product candidates; 
  

  •   management of our clinical trials, including medical monitoring and data management; 
  

  •   execution of additional toxicology studies that may be required to obtain approval for our product candidates; and 
  

  •   manufacturing the starting materials and drug substance required to formulate our drug products and the drug products to be used in 
both our clinical trials and toxicology studies. 
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Our development of both intravenous and intramuscular dosing of peramivir for avian and seasonal influenza is subject to all disclosed drug 
development and potential commercialization risks and numerous additional risks. Any potential revenue benefits to us are highly 
speculative.  

     Further development and potential commercialization of peramivir is subject to all the risks and uncertainties disclosed in our other risk 
factors relating to drug development and commercialization. In addition, potential commercialization of peramivir is subject to further risks, 
including but not limited to the following:  

     If any or all of these and other risk factors occur, we will not attain significant revenues or gross margins from peramivir and our stock price 
will be adversely affected.  

Because we have limited manufacturing experience, we depend on third-party manufacturers to manufacture our drug product candidates 
and the materials for our product candidates. If we cannot rely on third-party manufacturers, we will be required to incur significant costs 
and potential delays in finding new third-party manufacturers.  

     We have limited manufacturing experience and only a small scale manufacturing facility. We currently rely upon third-party manufacturers to 
manufacture the materials required for our drug product candidates and most of the preclinical and clinical quantities of our product candidates. 
We depend on these third-party manufacturers to perform their obligations in a timely manner and in accordance with applicable governmental 
regulations. Our third-party manufacturers may encounter difficulties with meeting our requirements, including but not limited to problems 
involving:  
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  •   the injectable versions of peramivir are currently in Phase II clinical development and have been tested in a limited number of humans 
and may not be safe or effective; 

  

  •   necessary government or other third party funding and clinical testing for further development of peramivir may not be available timely, 
at all, or in sufficient amounts; 

  

  •   the avian flu prevention or treatment concerns may not materialize at all, or in the near future; 
  

  •   advances in flu vaccines could substantially replace potential demand for an antiviral such as peramivir; 
  

  •   any substantial demand for avian flu treatments may occur before peramivir can be adequately developed and tested in clinical trials; 
  

  •   injectable forms of peramivir may not prove to be accepted by patients and physicians as a treatment for seasonal influenza compared to 
the other currently marketed antiviral drugs, which would limit revenue from non-governmental entities; 

  

  •   numerous large and well-established pharmaceutical and biotech companies will be competing to meet the market demand for avian flu 
drugs and vaccines; 

  

  •   regulatory authorities may not make needed accommodations to accelerate the drug testing and approval process for peramivir; and 
  

  •   in the next few years, it is expected that a limited number of governmental entities will be the primary potential customers for peramivir 
and if we are not successful at marketing peramivir to these entities for any reason, we will not receive substantial revenues from 
stockpiling orders from these entities. 
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     These contract manufacturers may not be able to manufacture the materials required or our drug product candidates at a cost or in quantities 
necessary to make them commercially viable. We also have no control over whether third-party manufacturers breach their agreements with us 
or whether they may terminate or decline to renew agreements with us. To date, our third party manufacturers have met our manufacturing 
requirements, but they may not continue to do so. Furthermore, changes in the manufacturing process or procedure, including a change in the 
location where the drug is manufactured or a change of a third-party manufacturer, may require prior review and approval in accordance with the 
FDA’s cGMPs, and comparable foreign requirements. This review may be costly and time-consuming and could delay or prevent the launch of a 
product. The FDA or similar foreign regulatory agencies at any time may also implement new standards, or change their interpretation and 
enforcement of existing standards for manufacture, packaging or testing of products. If we or our contract manufacturers are unable to comply, 
we or they may be subject to regulatory action, civil actions or penalties.  

     If we are unable to enter into agreements with additional manufacturers on commercially reasonable terms, or if there is poor manufacturing 
performance on the part of our third party manufacturers, we may not be able to complete development of, or market, our product candidates.  

     Our raw materials, drug substances, and drug products are manufactured by a limited group of suppliers and some at a single facility. If any 
of these suppliers were unable to produce these items, this could significantly impact our supply of drugs for further preclinical testing and 
clinical trials.  

If we or our partners do not obtain and maintain governmental approvals for our products under development, we or our partners will not be 
able to sell these potential products, which would significantly harm our business because we will receive no revenue.  

     We or our partners must obtain regulatory approval before marketing or selling our future drug products. If we or our partners are unable to 
receive regulatory approval and do not market or sell our future drug products, we will never receive any revenue from such product sales. In the 
United States, we or our partners must obtain FDA approval for each drug that we intend to commercialize. The process of preparing for and 
obtaining FDA approval may be lengthy and expensive, and approval is never certain. Products distributed abroad are also subject to foreign 
government regulation. Neither the FDA nor foreign regulatory agencies have approved any of our drug product candidates. Because of the risks 
and uncertainties in biopharmaceutical development, our product candidates could take a significantly longer time to gain regulatory approval 
than we expect or may never gain  
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  •   inconsistent production yields; 
  

  •   product liability claims; 
  

  •   difficulties in scaling production to commercial and validation sizes; 
  

  •   interruption of the delivery of materials required for the manufacturing process; 
  

  •   scheduling of plant time with other vendors or unexpected equipment failure; 
  

  •   potential catastrophes that could strike their facilities; 
  

  •   potential impurities in our drug substance or drug products that could affect availability of product for our clinical trials or future 
commercialization; 

  

  •   poor quality control and assurance or inadequate process controls; and 
  

  •   lack of compliance with regulations and specifications set forth by the FDA or other foreign regulatory agencies. 
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approval. If the FDA delays regulatory approval of our product candidates, our management’s credibility, our company’s value and our 
operating results may suffer. Even if the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies approve a product candidate, the approval may limit the indicated 
uses for a product candidate and/or may require post-marketing studies.  

     The FDA regulates, among other things, the record keeping and storage of data pertaining to potential pharmaceutical products. We currently 
store most of our preclinical research data, our clinical data and our manufacturing data at our facility. While we do store duplicate copies of 
most of our clinical data offsite and a significant portion of our data is included in regular backups of our systems, we could lose important data 
if our facility incurs damage. If we get approval to market our potential products, whether in the United States or internationally, we will 
continue to be subject to extensive regulatory requirements. These requirements are wide ranging and govern, among other things:  

     Our failure to comply with existing or future regulatory requirements, or our loss of, or changes to, previously obtained approvals, could have 
a material adverse effect on our business because we will not receive product or royalty revenues if we or our partners do not receive approval of 
our products for marketing.  

     In June 1995, we notified the FDA that we submitted incorrect data for our Phase II studies of BCX-34 applied to the skin for CTCL and 
psoriasis. In November 1995, the FDA issued a List of Inspectional Observations, Form FDA 483, which cited our failure to follow good clinical 
practices. The FDA also inspected us in June 1996. The focus was on the two 1995 Phase II dose-ranging studies of topical BCX-34 for the 
treatment of CTCL and psoriasis. As a result of the investigation, the FDA issued us a Form FDA 483, which cited our failure to follow good 
clinical practices. We are no longer developing BCX-34; however, as a consequence of these two investigations, our ongoing and future clinical 
studies may receive increased scrutiny, which may delay the regulatory review process.  

We face intense competition, and if we are unable to compete effectively, the demand for our products, if any, may be reduced.  

     The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are highly competitive and subject to rapid and substantial technological change. We face, 
and will continue to face, competition in the licensing of desirable disease targets, licensing of desirable drug product candidates, and 
development and marketing of our product candidates from academic institutions, government agencies, research institutions and biotechnology 
and pharmaceutical companies. Competition may also arise from, among other things:  

     We and our partners are performing research on or developing products for the treatment of several disorders including T-cell mediated 
disorders (T-cell cancers, transplant rejection, psoriasis and other autoimmune indications), oncology, influenza, and hepatitis C. We expect to 
encounter significant competition for any of the pharmaceutical products we plan to develop. Companies that complete clinical trials, obtain 
required regulatory  
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  •   adverse drug experience reporting regulations; 
  

  •   product promotion; 
  

  •   product manufacturing, including good manufacturing practice requirements; and 
  

  •   product changes or modifications. 

  •   other drug development technologies; 
  

  •   methods of preventing or reducing the incidence of disease, including vaccines; and 
  

  •   new small molecule or other classes of therapeutic agents. 
  

  Developments by others may render our product candidates or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive. 
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approvals and commence commercial sales of their products before their competitors may achieve a significant competitive advantage. Such is 
the case with Eisai’s Targretin for CTCL and the current neuraminidase inhibitors marketed by Glaxo Smith Kline and Roche for influenza. In 
addition, several pharmaceutical and biotechnology firms, including major pharmaceutical companies and specialized structure-based drug 
design companies, have announced efforts in the field of structure-based drug design and in the fields of PNP, influenza, hepatitis C, and in other 
therapeutic areas where we have discovery efforts ongoing. If one or more of our competitors’ products or programs are successful, the market 
for our products may be reduced or eliminated.  

     Compared to us, many of our competitors and potential competitors have substantially greater:  

     Any of these competitive factors could reduce demand for our products.  

If we fail to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights or secure rights to patents of others, the value of those rights would 
diminish.  

     Our success will depend in part on our ability and the abilities of our partners to obtain, protect and enforce viable intellectual property rights 
including but not limited to trade name, trade mark and patent protection for our company and its products, methods, processes and other 
technologies we may license or develop, to preserve our trade secrets, and to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties 
both domestically and abroad. The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies is generally highly uncertain, involves 
complex legal and factual questions and has recently been the subject of much litigation. Neither the United States Patent and Trademark Office 
(“USPTO”), the Patent Cooperation Treaty offices, nor the courts of the United States and other jurisdictions have consistent policies nor 
predictable rulings regarding the breadth of claims allowed or the degree of protection afforded under many biotechnology and pharmaceutical 
patents. The validity, scope, enforceability and commercial value of these rights, therefore, is highly uncertain.  

     Our success depends in part on avoiding the infringement of other parties’ patents and other intellectual property rights as well as avoiding 
the breach of any licenses relating to our technologies and products. In the U.S., patent applications filed in recent years are confidential for 
18 months, while older applications are not published until the patent issues. As a result, avoiding patent infringement may be difficult and we 
may inadvertently infringe third-party patents or proprietary rights. These third parties could bring claims against us, our partners or our 
licensors that even if resolved in our favor, could cause us to incur substantial expenses and, if resolved against us, could additionally cause us to 
pay substantial damages. Further, if a patent infringement suit were brought against us, our partners or our licensors, we or they could be forced 
to stop or delay research, development, manufacturing or sales of any infringing product in the country or countries covered by the patent we 
infringe, unless we can obtain a license from the patent holder. Such a license may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all, particularly if 
the third party is developing or marketing a product competitive with the infringing product. Even if we, our partners or our licensors were able 
to obtain a license, the rights may be nonexclusive, which would give our competitors access to the same intellectual property.  

     If we or our partners are unable or fail to adequately, initiate, protect, defend or enforce our intellectual property rights in any area of 
commercial interest or in any part of the world where we wish to seek regulatory approval for our products, methods, processes and other 
technologies, the value of the drug product candidates to  
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  •   capital resources; 
  

  •   research and development resources, including personnel and technology; 
  

  •   regulatory experience; 
  

  •   preclinical study and clinical testing experience; 
  

  •   manufacturing and marketing experience; and 
  

  •   production facilities. 
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produce revenue would diminish. Additionally, if our products, methods, processes, and other technologies or our commercial use of such 
products, processes, and other technologies, including but not limited to any tradename, trademark or commercial strategy infringe the 
proprietary rights of other parties, we could incur substantial costs. The USPTO and the patent offices of other jurisdictions have issued to us a 
number of patents for our various inventions and we have in-licensed several patents from various institutions. We have filed additional patent 
applications and provisional patent applications with the USPTO. We have filed a number of corresponding foreign patent applications and 
intend to file additional foreign and U.S. patent applications, as appropriate. We have also filed certain trademark and tradename applications 
worldwide. We cannot assure you as to:  

     If the USPTO or other foreign patent office upholds patents issued to others or if the USPTO grants patent applications filed by others, we 
may have to:  

     We may initiate, or others may bring against us, litigation or administrative proceedings related to intellectual property rights, including 
proceedings before the USPTO or other foreign patent office. Any judgment adverse to us in any litigation or other proceeding arising in 
connection with a patent or patent application could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In 
addition, the costs of any such proceeding may be substantial whether or not we are successful.  

     Our success is also dependent upon the skills, knowledge and experience, none of which is patentable, of our scientific and technical 
personnel. To help protect our rights, we require all employees, consultants, advisors and partners to enter into confidentiality agreements that 
prohibit the disclosure of confidential information to anyone outside of our company and require disclosure and assignment to us of their ideas, 
developments, discoveries and inventions. These agreements may not provide adequate protection for our trade secrets, know-how or other 
proprietary information in the event of any unauthorized use or disclosure or the lawful development by others of such information, and if any of 
our proprietary information is disclosed, our business will suffer because our revenues depend upon our ability to license or commercialize our 
product candidates and any such events would significantly impair the value of such product candidates.  

There is a substantial risk of product liability claims in our business. If we are unable to obtain sufficient insurance, a product liability claim 
against us could adversely affect our business.  

     We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human clinical trials and will face 
even greater risks upon any commercialization by us of our product candidates. We have product liability insurance covering our clinical trials in 
the amount of $11 million. Clinical trial and product liability insurance is becoming increasingly expensive. As a result, we may be unable to 
obtain sufficient insurance or increase our existing coverage at a reasonable cost to protect us against losses that could have a material adverse 
effect on our business. An individual may bring a product liability claim against us if one of our products or product candidates causes, or is 
claimed to have caused, an injury or is found to be unsuitable for consumer use. Any product liability claim brought against us, with or without 
merit, could result in:  
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  •   the degree and range of protection any patents will afford against competitors with similar products; 
  

  •   if and when patents will issue; 
  

  •   if patents do issue we can not be sure that we will be able to adequately defend such patents and whether or not we will be able to 
adequately enforce such patents; or 

  

  •   whether or not others will obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by our patent applications. 

  •   obtain licenses or redesign our products or processes to avoid infringement; 
  

  •   stop using the subject matter claimed in those patents; or 
  

  •   pay damages. 
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If our facility incurs damage or power is lost for a significant length of time, our business will suffer.  

     We currently store numerous clinical and stability samples at our facility that could be damaged if our facility incurred physical damage or in 
the event of an extended power failure. We have backup power systems in addition to backup generators to maintain power to all critical 
functions, but any loss of these samples could result in significant delays in our drug development process.  

     In addition, we currently store most of our preclinical and clinical data at our facility. Duplicate copies of most critical data are stored off-site 
in a bank vault. Any significant degradation or failure of our computer systems could cause us to inaccurately calculate or lose our data. Loss of 
data could result in significant delays in our drug development process and any system failure could harm our business and operations.  

If we fail to retain our existing key personnel or fail to attract and retain additional key personnel, the development of our drug product 
candidates and the expansion of our business will be delayed or stopped.  

     We are highly dependent upon our senior management and scientific team, the loss of whose services might impede the achievement of our 
development and commercial objectives. Competition for key personnel with the experience that we require is intense and is expected to 
continue to increase. Our inability to attract and retain the required number of skilled and experienced management, operational and scientific 
personnel, will harm our business because we rely upon these personnel for many critical functions of our business.  

Our stock price is likely to be highly volatile and the value of your investment could decline significantly.  

     The market prices for securities of biotechnology companies in general have been highly volatile and may continue to be highly volatile in the 
future. Moreover, our stock price has fluctuated frequently, and these fluctuations are often not related to our financial results. For the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2007, the 52-week range of the market price of our stock was from $5.68 to $13.18 per share. The following 
factors, in addition to other risk factors described in this section, may have a significant impact on the market price of our common stock:  
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  •   liabilities that substantially exceed our product liability insurance, which we would then be required to pay from other sources, if 
available; 

  

  •   an increase of our product liability insurance rates or the inability to maintain insurance coverage in the future on acceptable terms, or at 
all; 

  

  •   withdrawal of clinical trial volunteers or patients; 
  

  •   damage to our reputation and the reputation of our products, resulting in lower sales; 
  

  •   regulatory investigations that could require costly recalls or product modifications; 
  

  •   litigation costs; and 
  

  •   the diversion of management’s attention from managing our business. 

  •   announcements of technological innovations or new products by us or our competitors; 
  

  •   developments or disputes concerning patents or proprietary rights; 
  

  •   additional dilution through sales of our common stock or other derivative securities; 
  

  •   status of new or existing licensing or collaborative agreements and government contracts; 
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If, because of our use of hazardous materials, we violate any environmental controls or regulations that apply to such materials, we may 
incur substantial costs and expenses in our remediation efforts.  

     Our research and development involves the controlled use of hazardous materials, chemicals and various radioactive compounds. We are 
subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and some waste 
products. Accidental contamination or injury from these materials could occur. In the event of an accident, we could be liable for any damages 
that result and any liabilities could exceed our resources. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations could require us to incur 
substantial unexpected costs, which would materially and adversely affect our results of operations.  

Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements  

     This discussion contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements can 
generally be identified by the use of words such as “may,” “will,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “estimates,” 
“predicts,” “potential,” “hope,” the negative of these words or similar expressions. Statements that describe our future plans, strategies, 
intentions, expectations, objectives, goals or prospects are also forward-looking statements. Discussions containing these forward-looking 
statements are principally contained in “Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations”, as well as any amendments we make to those sections in filings with the SEC. These forward-looking statements include, but are 
not limited to, statements about:  
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  •   announcements relating to the status of our programs; 
  

  •   we or our partners achieving or failing to achieve development milestones; 
  

  •   publicity regarding actual or potential medical results relating to products under development by us or our competitors; 
  

  •   publicity regarding certain public health concerns for which we are or may be developing treatments; 
  

  •   regulatory developments in both the United States and foreign countries; 
  

  •   public concern as to the safety of pharmaceutical products; 
  

  •   actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results; 
  

  •   changes in financial estimates or recommendations by securities analysts; 
  

  •   changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems, including developments in price control legislation; 
  

  •   announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments; 
  

  •   additions or departures of key personnel or members of our board of directors; 
  

  •   purchases or sales of substantial amounts of our stock by existing stockholders, including officers or directors; 
  

  •   economic and other external factors or other disasters or crises; and 
  

  •   period-to-period fluctuations in our financial results. 

  •   the initiation, timing, progress and results of our preclinical and clinical trials, research and development programs; 
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     These statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are based on assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties 
which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performances or 
achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these 
forward-looking statements. We discuss many of these risks in greater detail in “Risk Factors.” Also, these forward-looking statements represent 
our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this document.  

     You should read this discussion completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what 
we expect. We may not update these forward-looking statements, even though our situation may change in the future. We qualify all of our 
forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements.  

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS  

None.  

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

     Our administrative offices and principal research facilities are located in 50,150 square feet of leased space in Riverchase Industrial/Research 
Park in Birmingham, Alabama. The lease runs through June 30, 2015 with an option to renew the lease for an additional five years at current 
market rates. In addition, we currently lease 5,565 square feet of office space in Cary, North Carolina through February 28, 2010 for our clinical 
and regulatory operation. We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current operations.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

None.  

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY  HOLDERS  

None.  
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  •   the further preclinical or clinical development and commercialization of our product candidates; 
  

  •   the implementation of our business model, strategic plans for our business, product candidates and technology; 
  

  •   our ability to establish and maintain collaborations with biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies and governmental agencies or 
other third parties; 

  

  •   the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our product candidates and 
technology; 

  

  •   our ability to operate our business without infringing the intellectual property rights of others; 
  

  •   estimates of our expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and our needs for additional financing; 
  

  •   the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings and approvals; 
  

  •   our negotiations with the FDA for a special protocol assessment; 
  

  •   our financial performance; and 
  

  •   competitive companies, technologies and our industry. 
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PART II  

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  

Market Information  

     Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Market SM under the symbol BCRX. The following table sets forth the low and high sales 
prices of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ Global Market SM for each quarter in 2007 and 2006:  

The last sale price of the common stock on February 20, 2008 as reported by NASDAQ Global Market SM was $3.98 per share. 
 

Holders  

As of February 20, 2008, there were approximately 263 holders of record of our common stock.  

Dividends  

We have never paid cash dividends and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  
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    2007   2006 
    Low   High   Low   High 

First quarter    $ 7.80     $ 12.50     $ 15.80     $ 23.00   
Second quarter      6.57       10.05       10.89       18.11   
Third quarter      7.20       13.18       8.20       14.94   
Fourth quarter      5.68       8.33       10.80       12.89   
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Stock Performance Graph  

This performance graph is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing by 
us under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date hereof and 
irrespective of any general incorporation language in any such filing. The stock price performance shown on the graph is not necessarily 
indicative of future price performance.  

  

The above graph measures the change in a $100 investment in the Company’s common stock based on its closing price of $0.96 on 
December 31, 2002 and its year-end closing price thereafter. The Company’s relative performance is then compared with the CRSP Total 
Return Indexes for the NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.) and NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Stocks.  
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        Beginning                                 
        Investment     Investment     Investment     Investment     Investment     Investment   
        12/31/02     at 12/31/03     at 12/31/04     at 12/31/05     at 12/31/06     at 12/31/07   

  BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.      $ 100.00       $ 713.54       $ 602.08       $ 1,744.79       $ 1,204.17       $ 643.75     
  The NASDAQ Stock Market        100.00         149.52         162.72         166.18         182.57         197.98     
  NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Stocks        100.00         146.59         156.13         171.93         168.29         176.97     
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities  

None.  

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  

We did not repurchase any of our equity securities during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.  

Equity Compensation Plan Information  

The following table provides the specified information as of December 31, 2007.  

Notes to (1)-(3)-The plans noted in this table are described more fully in Note 8 of the Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual 
Report.  
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    (a) Number of securities     (b) Weighted-average     (c) Number of securities   
    to be issued upon     exercise price of     remaining available for   
    exercise of outstanding     outstanding stock     future issuance under   
    stock option awards,     option awards,     equity compensation   
    restricted stock awards,     restricted stock     plans (excluding   
    warrants and     awards,     securities reflected in   

Plan Category   rights     warrants and rights     column (a))   
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders                          
                           

Stock Option Awards (1)      5,023,258     $ 9.20       592,027   
                           

Restricted Stock Awards (1)      50,000       —      —  
                           

Stock Purchase Plan (2)      —      —      64,758   
                           
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders                          
                           

Stock Option Inducement Grant (3)      110,000     $ 8.20       —  
                           

Restricted Stock Awards (3)      10,000       —      —  
                           

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Total      5,193,258     $ 9.07       656,785   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

  

(1)   Consists of awards granted under the Stock Incentive Plan. 
  

(2)   Consists of shares granted under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The number of shares that may be issued pursuant to the Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan during a given period and the purchase price of such shares cannot be determined in advance of such purchases. 

  

(3)   Consists of shares granted by the Board of Directors to recruit a new employee to a key position within the Company. 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  
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    Years Ended December 31,   
    (In thousands, except per share data)   
Statement of Operations Data:   2007     2006     2005     2004     2003   
Total revenues    $ 71,238     $ 6,212     $ 152     $ 337     $ 653   
Research and development expenses      94,052       47,083       23,642       18,868       11,522   
Net loss      (29,055 )     (43,618)       (26,099 )     (21,104 )     (12,700 ) 
  
Amounts per common share:                                          
Basic and diluted net loss per share    $ (0.89 )   $ (1.50 )   $ (1.01 )   $ (1.00 )   $ (.72 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

Weighted average shares outstanding      32,771       29,147       25,721       21,165       17,703   
                                          
    December 31, 
    (In thousands) 
Balance Sheet Data:   2007   2006   2005   2004   2003 

Cash, cash equivalents and securities    $ 85,009     $ 46,236     $ 59,988     $ 28,704     $ 25,732   
Total assets      142,717       68,485       99,248       32,469       30,096   
Long-term deferred revenue      49,694       36,596       29,426       300       300   
Accumulated deficit      (224,536 )     (195,481 )     (151,863 )     (125,764 )     (104,660 ) 
Total stockholders’  equity      64,905       21,155       58,440       29,334       28,447   
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF  
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

      This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain statements of a forward-looking nature relating to future events or the future financial 
performance of BioCryst. Such statements are only predictions and the actual events or results may differ materially from the results discussed 
in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include those discussed below as well as those 
discussed in other filings made by BioCryst with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

      The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is intended to help the reader understand our results of operations and 
financial condition. MD&A is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our audited Financial Statements and the 
accompanying notes to the financial statements and other disclosures included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (including the disclosures 
under “Item 1A. Risk Factors”).  

Overview  

2007 Corporate Highlights  

Forodesine HCl  

     Following the completion of a Phase I/II clinical trial of forodesine HCl in patients with refractory CTCL, in October 2007 we initiated a 
planned pivotal trial with an oral formulation of forodesine HCl for treatment of patients with CTCL. This trial is being conducted under an SPA 
agreement negotiated with the FDA and will serve as a basis for a new drug application to the FDA using the oral formulations in patients with 
relapsed CTCL. In February 2007, we announced that the Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products of the European Medicines Agency had 
granted orphan drug designation to forodesine HCl for the treatment of CTCL.  

     At the December 2007 meeting of the American Society of Hematology (“ASH”) Madeline Duvic, M.D., Deputy Chair, Dermatology, The 
University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center presented interim data from the Phase I/II clinical study of oral forodesine HCl in the 
treatment of subjects with refractory CTCL. The overall response rate for these subjects was 39%, including 2 subjects with complete response 
(6%) and 12 subjects with partial response (33%). These data indicated that in addition to a good safety profile, forodesine HCl demonstrated 
clinical activity as a single oral agent in patients with advanced refractory CTCL.  

     In January 2007, we initiated a Phase IIb multicenter, open-label, non-randomized repeat-dose registration study to evaluate an intravenous 
treatment of forodesine HCl followed by an oral treatment of forodesine HCl in patients with relapsed or refractory T-ALL. This study was being 
conducted under an SPA negotiated with the FDA and was designed to determine the rate of complete remission achieved with forodesine HCl. 
In March 2007, we announced that as a result of a stability issue with the i.v. formulation, that we were voluntarily placing this Phase IIb clinical 
trial on hold pending internal review and discussions with the our partner, Mundipharma. In December 2007, we announced the formal 
termination of this study.  

Peramivir  

     In January 2007, we announced that HHS had awarded the Company a $102.6 million, four-year contract for the advanced development of 
peramivir. In January 2008, we announced the development cost of our peramivir program to product approval would cost in excess of the 
$102.6 million contract since the development plan for peramivir has changed from that outlined in the original proposal to HHS. HHS has 
indicated that it will fund certain elements of our revised program, including the ongoing Phase II i.v. study evaluating peramivir in hospitalized 
subjects, the planning and conduct of the planned Phase II study of i.m. peramivir in subjects with uncomplicated influenza and the 
manufacturing and toxicology components of the program. Each of these elements has specific HHS funding limits and any costs outside the 
approved amounts by HHS may be the responsibility of the Company. The original contract of $102.6 million and the four year term remain 
unchanged.  
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     In addition to the contract with HHS, in February 2007, we established a collaborative relationship with Shionogi for the development and 
commercialization of peramivir in Japan. This agreement resulted in an upfront payment of $14 million. In December 2007, we received a $7 
milestone payment from Shionogi for their initiation of a Phase II clinical trial with i.v. peramivir.  

      Intramuscular peramivir In September 2007, we announced the results of our Phase II study with i.m. peramivir injection. The study was a 
randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial designed to test whether peramivir, when administered acutely in high doses 
intramuscularly, could reduce the duration of symptoms during seasonal influenza. During the study, 344 patients who had a positive rapid 
antigen test indicating influenza were randomized to receive i.m. injections of either placebo or one of two dose levels of peramivir (150mg and 
300mg) as a single dose administered within 48 hours of symptom onset. The primary endpoint of the study was the time to alleviation of 
symptoms in the patients confirmed with influenza infection, of which there were 313. The results indicated that in the 313 subjects, a single 
dose of peramivir demonstrated a treatment improvement over placebo, but the improvement was not statistically significant. Following the 
release of these results, we completed additional analysis of the clinical data and performed a preliminary analysis of the virologic data from this 
trial. We also conducted further pharmacokinetic (PK) studies in healthy volunteers.  

     Preliminary analysis of the virologic data from this Phase II i.m. trial indicated that i.m. peramivir demonstrated statistically significant 
reductions in influenza virus shedding in both active treatment groups when compared to placebo, with greater reductions in the 300mg group. 
Additionally, PK studies have been completed, which indicate that needle length impacts adequate and consistent systemic exposure to i.m. 
peramivir. Based on these clinical results and virologic data, we believe that a single i.m. dose of 300mg peramivir can be a potentially clinically 
effective dose. However, given the dose-response observed between the 150mg and 300mg doses in the Phase II trial, we believe it is prudent to 
evaluate whether doses higher than 300mg provide additional efficacy. As a result, we are planning to initiate a Phase II clinical trial that will 
evaluate the 300mg dose and a higher dose of peramivir later this year.  

     In January, 2008 we announced that we would not continue to pursue the peramivir i.m. Phase III pivotal program in the current flu season 
and would work toward the initiation of a Phase II clinical trial later this year that would evaluate a 300mg dose and a higher dose of peramivir 
compared to placebo. The decision to terminate the Phase III program was made by us after further evaluation of the Phase II study data, 
additional pk studies, the potential availability of an alternative formulation and additional discussions with FDA and HHS. At the time of 
termination of the program we had enrolled 82 subjects in the Northern Hemisphere. We plan to gather and analyze the data from these enrolled 
subjects to assist in the design of future studies.  

      Intravenous peramivir In July 2007, we announced the initiation of a Phase II clinical trial of i.v. peramivir to compare the efficacy and 
safety of i.v. peramivir to orally administered oseltamivir in patients who require hospitalization due to acute influenza. This trial was initiated in 
the Southern Hemisphere and is currently ongoing in the Northern Hemisphere.  

BCX-4208/R3421  

     During the third quarter of 2007, we announced that Roche had initiated a Phase IIa clinical trial to evaluate oral doses of BCX-4208/R3421 
in patients with moderate to severe plaque psoriasis.  

Other Corporate Events-Completion of $65.3 million financing  

     In August, we completed a $65.3 million private placement financing with a group of existing stock holders. The offering was composed of 
approximately 8.3 million shares of our common stock, as well as warrants to purchase an additional approximately 3.2 million shares.  

Results of Operations  

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2006  

     Collaborative and other research and development revenue was $71.2 million for the year compared to $6.2 million for 2006. The increase for 
2007 was primarily due to revenue from HHS related to our contract for the development of peramivir. In addition, we received a $7.0 million 
milestone payment from Shionogi in December 2007 for their initiation of a Phase II clinical trial and there was an increase of $3.1 million in 
amortization of deferred revenue compared to 2006 on the continuing amortization of the upfront payments from the Roche, Shionogi and 
Mundipharma agreements. These increases in revenue were partially offset by a decrease of $1.5 million in reimbursement from Mundipharma 
for our clinical trial costs compared to 2006.  
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     Research and development expenses for 2007 were $94.1 million, a 100.0% increase from 2006 expenses of $47.1 million, primarily 
attributable to the clinical and manufacturing costs of our expanded peramivir and forodesine HCl programs, increases in personnel and related 
costs to support the advanced development of our pipeline, and increases in consulting and toxicology. Included in R&D expenses for 2007 is 
approximately $2.3 million of pre-contract costs directly related to the Phase 2 trials for both the i.v. and i.m. peramivir products. These costs 
were incurred during 2006 in anticipation of a contract award from HHS and were required to meet the delivery schedule of the proposed 
contract. In accordance with the provisions of Federal Acquisition Regulation 31.205-32, the costs were included in the Company’s request for 
proposal and were eligible for reimbursement from HHS. The $2.3 million of costs incurred prior to the contract award date were deferred and 
included in other current assets on the Company’s balance sheet at December 31, 2006. In the first quarter of 2007, the $2.3 million in costs were 
billed and expensed. Concurrently, revenue was recognized for these costs plus the applicable fixed fee  

     General and administrative expenses for 2007 were $9.5 million, an increase of 55.7% over the 2006 expense of $6.1 million, primarily due 
to additional compensation, which also included an increase of $1.2 million non-cash share-based compensation charge related to Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(revised 2004), Share Based Payment (“Statement No. 123R”). In addition, there was an increase in 
professional fees, including legal, which were partially offset by an increase in costs allocated to R&D.  

     Interest income for 2007 was $3.2 million compared to $3.4 million in 2006.  

     The net loss for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $29.1 million, or $0.89 per share, compared to a net loss of $43.6 million, or $1.50 
per share in 2006.  

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2005  

     Collaborative and other research and development revenue was $6.2 million for the year compared to $0.2 million for 2005. The increase for 
2006 was primarily due to amounts earned pursuant to our collaboration agreements with Mundipharma and Roche, plus the continuing 
amortization of the upfront payments from those agreements.  

     Research and development expenses for 2006 were $47.1 million, a 98.7% increase from 2005 expenses of $23.7 million, primarily 
attributable to the clinical and manufacturing costs of our expanded peramivir and forodesine HCl programs, a $1.5 million non-cash share-based 
compensation charge related to Statement No. 123R, increases in personnel and related costs to support the clinical development of our pipeline, 
and increases in consulting and toxicology.  

     General and administrative expenses for 2006 were $6.1 million, an increase of 64.9% over the 2005 expense of $3.7 million, primarily due 
to the $1.8 million non-cash share-based compensation charge related to Statement No. 123R, an increase in professional fees, and an increase in 
personnel related expenses. These increases were partially offset by an increase in costs allocated to research and development.  

     Interest income for 2006 was $3.4 million, a 209.1% increase compared to $1.1 million in 2005. This increase was due to a higher average 
cash balance during 2006 and a more favorable interest rate environment as compared to 2005.  

     The net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $43.6 million, or $1.50 per share, compared to a net loss of $26.1 million, or $1.01 
per share in 2005.  

Changes in Financial Condition since December 31, 2006  

     Since our most recent fiscal year end, there have been several factors that have had an impact on our financial condition. Effective in 
January 2007, we received the contract from HHS for the development of peramivir which has had a significant impact on our financial 
condition. Our combined billed and unbilled receivables related to this contract as of December 31, 2007, were approximately $37 million. As 
our costs for the development of  
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peramivir and our other programs have increased, we have also had a corresponding increase in our payables and accrued expenses.  

     With the payments received from our collaborative agreements existing at December 31, 2006, our contract with HHS and the addition of the 
Shionogi collaboration announced in March 2007, we have received approximately $51.7 million during 2007. The $14.0 million upfront 
payment from Shionogi in March has been deferred, which has been the major cause of the increase in deferred revenue on our balance sheet.  

     Lastly, with the private placement announced in August 2007, our cash and stockholder’s equity increased by $65.3 million related to this 
transaction.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

     Cash expenditures have exceeded revenues since our inception. Our operations have principally been funded through public offerings and 
private placements of equity and debt securities and cash from collaborative and other research and development agreements, including 
government contracts, and to a lesser extent interest. For example, during 2007, we received cash from collaborative and other research and 
development agreements and government contracts (primarily Shionogi, Mundipharma and HHS) of approximately $51.7 million and on 
August 9, 2007 we announced the closing of a $65.3 million private placement of common stock to certain existing stockholders, which 
increased our outstanding common stock by approximately 8.3 million shares and our fully-diluted outstanding shares by an additional 
approximately 3.2 million shares pursuant to warrants exercisable at $10.25 per share. As of December 31, 2007, we have approximately 
$39.1 million due from our collaborators, primarily HHS. Other sources of funding have included the following:  

     In addition, we have attempted to contain costs and reduce cash flow requirements by renting scientific equipment and facilities, contracting 
with other parties to conduct certain research and development and using consultants. We expect to incur additional expenses, potentially 
resulting in significant losses, as we continue to pursue our research and development activities, undertake additional preclinical studies and 
clinical trials of compounds which have been or may be discovered and as we increase the manufacturing of our compounds for clinical trials 
and for the continuation of the validation process. We also expect to incur substantial expenses related to the filing, prosecution, maintenance, 
defense and enforcement of patent and other intellectual property claims and additional regulatory costs as our clinical products advance through 
later stages of development.  

     We invest our excess cash principally in U.S. marketable securities from a diversified portfolio of institutions with strong credit ratings and in 
U.S. government and agency bills and notes, and by policy, limit the amount of credit exposure at any one institution. These investments are 
generally not collateralized and mature within two years. We have not realized any losses from such investments.  

     On August 7, 2007, we amended our lease for our current Birmingham facilities, consisting of 50,150 square feet, through June 30, 2015. We 
have an option to renew the lease for an additional five years at the current market rate in effect on June 30, 2015. The lease requires us to pay 
monthly rent currently at $39,100 per month in July 2007 and escalating annually to a minimum of $48,072 per month in the final year, plus our 
pro rata share of  
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operating expenses and real estate taxes in excess of base year amounts. In addition, the lease amendment provides an allowance of $300,000 for 
our use in making certain improvements to the premises.  

     In August 2006, we opened an office in Cary, North Carolina for the establishment of our clinical and regulatory operation. We currently 
have 5,565 square feet under lease through February 28, 2010. This lease requires us to pay $7,652 per month and escalates annually to $8,118 
per month in the final year.  

     During 2007, we incurred capital costs of approximately $3.3 million. Included in 2007 capital costs were amounts related to a renovation of 
our facility to build additional laboratory space. The cost of this expansion will be partially funded by a $300,000 tenant allowance in our 2007 
lease amendment.  

     At December 31, 2007, we had long-term operating lease obligations, which provide for aggregate minimum payments of $619,346 in 2008, 
$623,894 in 2009 and $554,287 in 2010. These obligations include the future rental of our operating facilities.  

     We plan to finance our needs principally from the following:  

     In March 2007, we announced a collaborative agreement with Shionogi for rights to peramivir in Japan. This agreement required an upfront 
payment of $14 million that was received in April 2007. In December 2007, we received a $7 million milestone payment from Shionogi for their 
initiation of a Phase II clinical trial with i.v. peramivir.  

     In January 2007, we announced that HHS had awarded the Company a $102.6 million, four-year contract for the advanced development of 
peramivir. The contract is a standard cost plus fixed fee contract, which we expect will continue to have a significant positive impact on our 
financial position and cash flow. We bill our incurred costs to HHS on a monthly basis. Any significant delays in payment, rejection of 
significant costs by HHS or cancellation of this contract by HHS would have a significant negative effect on our financial position. In 
January 2008, we announced that the development costs of our peramivir program to anticipated product approval would cost in excess of the 
$102.6 million contract since the development plan for peramivir had changed from that outlined in the original proposal to HHS. HHS has 
indicated that they will fund certain elements of our revised program, including the ongoing Phase II i.v. study evaluating peramivir in 
hospitalized subjects, the planning and conduct of the planned Phase II study of i.m. peramivir and the manufacturing and toxicology 
components of the program. Each of these elements has specific HHS funding limits and any costs outside the approved amounts by HHS may 
be the responsibility of the Company. The original contract of $102.6 million and the four year term remain unchanged.  

     In February 2006, we licensed forodesine HCl to Mundipharma for the development and commercialization of this drug in Europe, Asia and 
Australasia. In addition to the upfront payment of $10 million, which was received in February 2006, Mundipharma is paying 50% of the clinical 
development costs we are incurring for forodesine HCl on existing and planned clinical trials, but their portion shall not exceed $10 million. In 
addition, Mundipharma will conduct additional clinical trials at their own cost up to a maximum of $15 million. The agreement also provides for 
future event payments and royalties to be made by Mundipharma upon the achievement of certain clinical, regulatory and sales events. In 
January 2007, we initiated our pivotal study with forodesine HCl in T-cell leukemia patients under an SPA negotiated with the FDA, which 
triggered a $5 million event payment from Mundipharma. Subsequently, in March 2007, the Company made a decision to put this trial on 
voluntary hold to investigate particulates that were found in some batches of i.v. formulation. In December 2007, we announced the termination 
of our development in T-ALL with forodesine HCl. In July 2007, we  
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announced the Company had received an SPA for a pivotal trial of forodesine HCl in CTCL patients. The trial is a multicenter, multinational, 
open-label, single-arm, repeat dose pivotal trial which began enrollment during October 2007.  

     The collaboration with Roche for the worldwide development and commercialization of BCX-4208 in November 2005 provided an upfront 
payment of $30 million, which was received in 2006. Roche has taken over the development and is paying all costs associated with this program. 
The agreement also provides for future event payments and royalties to be made by Roche upon the achievement of certain clinical, regulatory 
and sales events.  

     For the year, our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balance has increased from $46.2 million as of December 31, 2006 to 
$85.0 million as of December 31, 2007, primarily due to cash received from collaborations and the $65.3 million received from the private 
placement of common stock and warrants in August 2007, which were offset by the monthly cash burn from operations. As a result of these 
items and the reimbursement from our contract with HHS, our net cash burn rate for 2007 was approximately $2.2 million per month. We 
caution that our revenues, our expenses and our cash flows will vary significantly from quarter to quarter throughout 2008 due to the nature of 
the trials in influenza and the reimbursement from HHS. We are projecting our 2008 net cash use to be $25-$30 million, partially due to the 
reduction of our receivable balance from HHS at December 31, 2007. This burn rate could vary significantly depending on the timing of 
Company expenses and the related reimbursement from HHS.  

     As our clinical programs continue to progress and patient enrollment increases, our costs will increase. Our current and planned clinical trials 
plus the related development, manufacturing, regulatory approval process requirements and additional personnel resources and testing required 
for the continuing development of our drug candidates will consume significant capital resources and will increase our expenses. Our expenses, 
revenues and burn rate could vary significantly depending on many factors, including our ability to raise additional capital, the development 
progress of our collaborative agreements for our drug candidates, the amount and timing of funding we receive from HHS for peramivir, the 
amount of funding or assistance, if any, we receive from other governmental agencies or other new partnerships with third parties for the 
development of our drug candidates, the progress and results of our current and proposed clinical trials for our most advanced drug products, the 
progress made in the manufacturing of our lead products and the progression of our other programs.  

     As of December 31, 2007, we had $85.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, which included the $65.3 million from 
the private placement of unregistered common stock and warrants to certain existing stockholders, which closed on August 9, 2007. With our 
currently available funds and the amounts to be received from HHS, Shionogi and our other collaborators, we believe these resources will be 
sufficient to fund our operations for at least the next twelve months. However, this is a forward looking statement, and there may be changes that 
would consume available resources significantly before such time.  

     Our long-term capital requirements and the adequacy of our available funds will depend upon many factors, including:  
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     We expect that we will be required to raise additional capital to complete the development and commercialization of our current product 
candidates. Additional funding, whether through additional sales of securities or collaborative or other arrangements with corporate partners or 
from other sources, including governmental agencies in general and from the HHS contract specifically, may not be available when needed or on 
terms acceptable to us. The issuance of preferred or common stock or convertible securities, with terms and prices significantly more favorable 
than those of the currently outstanding common stock, could have the effect of diluting or adversely affecting the holdings or rights of our 
existing stockholders. In addition, collaborative arrangements may require us to transfer certain material rights to such corporate partners. 
Insufficient funds may require us to delay, scale-back or eliminate certain of our research and development programs.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

     As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial 
partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities (“SPEs”), which would have been established for 
the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As of December 31, 2007, we are 
not involved in any material unconsolidated SPE or off-balance sheet arrangements.  

Contractual Obligations  

     In the table below, we set forth our enforceable and legally binding obligations and future commitments and obligations related to all 
contracts that we are likely to continue regardless of the fact that they are cancelable as of December 31, 2007. Some of the amounts we include 
in this table are based on management’s estimates and assumptions about these obligations, including their duration, the possibility of renewal, 
anticipated actions by third parties, and other factors. Because these estimates and assumptions are necessarily subjective, the obligations we will 
actually pay in future periods may vary from those reflected in the table.  
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    Payments due by period   
            Less than                     More than   
Contractual Obligations   Total     1 year     1-3 years     3-5 years     5 years   
Operating Lease Obligations    $ 4,268,103     $ 619,346     $ 1,178,181     $ 1,061,784     $ 1,408,792   
Purchase Obligations (1)      38,563,160       37,333,160       410,000       410,000       410,000   
Other Long-Term Liabilities Reflected on BioCryst’s 

Balance Sheet Under GAAP      300,000       —      —      —      300,000   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total    $ 43,131,263     $ 37,952,506     $ 1,588,181     $ 1,471,784     $ 2,118,792   
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     Included above are certain contractual obligations that existed at December 31, 2007 that were subsequently cancelled during 2008. The total 
amount of these obligations outstanding at December 31, 2007 was approximately $19 million. We are in the process of negotiating final 
payments for services performed under these contracts.  

     In addition to the above, we have committed to make potential future “sublicense” payments to third-parties as part of in-licensing and 
development programs. Payments under these agreements generally become due and payable only upon achievement of certain developmental, 
regulatory and/or commercial milestones. Because the achievement of these milestones is neither probable nor reasonably estimable, such 
contingencies have not been recorded on our balance sheet.  

Critical Accounting Policies  

     We have established various accounting policies that govern the application of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, 
which were utilized in the preparation of our financial statements. Certain accounting policies involve significant judgments and assumptions by 
management that have a material impact on the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities. Management considers such accounting policies to 
be critical accounting policies. The judgments and assumptions used by management are based on historical experience and other factors, which 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Because of the nature of the judgments and assumptions made by management, actual 
results could differ from these judgments and estimates, which could have a material impact on the carrying values of assets and liabilities and 
the results of operations.  

     While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 to our financial statements included in our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, we believe that the following accounting policies are the most critical to aid you in fully 
understanding and evaluating our reported financial results and affect the more significant judgments and estimates that we use in the preparation 
of our financial statements.  

Revenue Recognition  

     Our revenues have generally been limited to license fees, event payments, research and development fees, government contracts, and interest 
income. Revenue is recognized in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition and Emerging Issues Task Force 
Issue 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables (“EITF Issue 00-21”). License fees, event payments, and research and 
development fees are recognized as revenue when the earnings process is complete and we have no further continuing performance obligations 
or we have completed the performance obligations under the terms of the agreement. Fees received under licensing agreements that are related to 
future performance are deferred and recognized as earned over an estimated period determined by management based on the terms of the 
agreement and the products licensed. For example, in the Roche and Mundipharma licenses agreements, we deferred the upfront payments over 
the remaining life of the patents which are 2023 and 2017, respectively. In the event a license agreement contains multiple deliverables, we 
evaluate whether the deliverables are separate or combined units of accounting in accordance with EITF Issue 00-21. Revisions to revenue or 
profit estimates as a result of changes in the estimated revenue period are recognized prospectively.  

     Under the guidance of EITF Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal Versus Net as an Agent and 
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 01-14, Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for “Out-of-Pocket” Expenses , 
reimbursements received for direct out-of-pocket expenses related to research and development costs are recorded as revenue in the income 
statement rather than as a reduction in expenses. For example, the amounts received from our collaboration with Mundipharma for the 
reimbursement of clinical trial costs and the costs received from HHS for reimbursement will be recorded as revenue in the period the related 
costs were recorded.  

     Event payments are recognized as revenue upon the achievement of specified events if (1) the event is substantive in nature and the 
achievement of the event was not reasonably assured at the inception of the  
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agreement and (2) the fees are non-refundable and non-creditable. Any event payments received prior to satisfying these criteria are recorded as 
deferred revenue.  

     Royalty revenue is recognized based on estimates of royalties earned during the applicable period and adjusted for differences between the 
estimated and actual royalties in the following period. If royalties can not be reasonably estimated, revenue is recognized upon receipt of royalty 
statements from the licensee. We have not received any royalties from the sale of licensed pharmaceutical products.  

Research and Development Expenses  

     In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 2, Accounting for Research and Development Costs , we expense 
research and development costs as incurred. Research and development expenses include, among other items, personnel costs, including salaries 
and benefits, manufacturing costs, clinical, regulatory, and toxicology services performed by contract research organizations (“CRO’s”), 
materials and supplies, and overhead allocations consisting of various administrative and facilities related costs. Most of our manufacturing and 
clinical and preclinical studies are performed by third-party CRO’s. Costs for studies performed by CRO’s are accrued by us over the service 
periods specified in the contracts and estimates are adjusted, if required, based upon ours on-going review of the level of services actually 
performed. To date, there have been no material changes to our estimates.  

     Additionally, we have license agreements with third parties, such as AECOM, IRL, and UAB, which require maintenance fees or fees related 
to sublicense agreements. These fees are generally expensed as incurred unless they are related to revenues that have been deferred, in which 
case the expenses are deferred and recognized over the related revenue recognition period.  

     We group our R&D expenses into two major categories: direct external expenses and all other R&D expenses. Direct external expenses 
consist of costs of outside parties to conduct laboratory studies, to develop manufacturing processes and manufacture the product candidate, to 
conduct and manage clinical trials and similar costs related to our clinical and preclinical studies. These costs are accumulated and tracked by 
program. All other R&D expenses consist of costs to compensate personnel, to purchase lab supplies and services, to maintain our facility, 
equipment and overhead and similar costs of our research and development efforts. These costs apply to work on our clinical and preclinical 
candidates as well as our discovery research efforts. These costs have not been charged directly to each program historically because the number 
of product candidates and projects in research and development may vary from period to period and because we utilize internal resources across 
multiple projects at the same time.  
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     The following table summarizes our R&D expenses for the periods indicated:  

     At this time, due to the risks inherent in the clinical trial process and given the stages of our various product development programs, we are 
unable to estimate with any certainty the costs we will incur in the continued development of our drug candidates for potential 
commercialization. While we are currently focused on advancing each of our development programs, our future R&D expenses will depend on 
the determinations we make as to the scientific and clinical success of each drug candidate, as well as ongoing assessments as to each drug 
candidate’s commercial potential. As such, we are unable to predict how we will allocate available resources among our product development 
programs in the future. In addition, we cannot forecast with any degree of certainty the development progress of our existing partnerships for our 
drug candidates, which drug candidates will be subject to future collaborations, when such arrangements will be secured, if at all, and to what 
degree such arrangements would affect our development plans and capital requirements.  

     The successful development of our drug candidates is uncertain and subject to a number of risks. We cannot be certain that any of our drug 
candidates will prove to be safe and effective or will meet all of the applicable regulatory requirements needed to receive and maintain marketing 
approval. Data from preclinical studies and clinical trials are susceptible to varying interpretations that could delay, limit or prevent regulatory 
clearance. We, the FDA, or other regulatory authorities may suspend clinical trials at any time if we or they believe that the subjects participating 
in such trials are being exposed to unacceptable risks or if such regulatory agencies find deficiencies in the conduct of the trials or other 
problems with our products under development. Delays or rejections may be encountered based on additional governmental regulation, 
legislation, administrative action or changes in FDA or other regulatory policy during development or the review process. Other risks associated 
with our product development programs are described in Risk Factors in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as updated from 
time to time in our subsequent periodic reports and current reports filed with the SEC. Due to these uncertainties, accurate and meaningful 
estimates of the ultimate cost to bring a product to market, the timing of completion of any of our product development programs and the period 
in which material net cash inflows from any of our product development programs will commence are unavailable.  

Accrued Expenses  

     As part of the process of preparing financial statements, we are required to estimate accrued expenses. This process involves reviewing open 
contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our applicable personnel to identify services that have been performed on our behalf and 
estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise 
notified of actual cost. The majority of our service providers invoice us monthly in arrears for services performed. We make estimates of our 
accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in our financial statements based on facts and circumstances  
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    Year ended December 31,   
    2007     2006     2005   
Direct external R&D expenses by program:                          

PNP Inhibitor (forodesine HCl)    $ 19,351,789     $ 17,667,599     $ 9,256,417   
PNP Inhibitor (BCX-4208)      211,923       643,605       3,563,966   
Neuraminidase Inhibitor (peramivir)      50,302,010       11,352,737       1,454,738   
Hepatitis C Polymerase Inhibitor      951,207       1,673,480       446,828   
Other      2,503,514       206,176       46,239   

                           
All other R&D expenses:                          

Compensation and fringe benefits      11,357,030       6,870,194       3,813,281   
Supplies and services      1,888,552       3,366,683       572,056   
Maintenance, depreciation, and amortization      1,391,730       975,790       984,680   
Overhead allocation and other      6,094,241       4,327,108       3,504,172   

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

                           
Total R&D expenses    $ 94,051,996     $ 47,083,372     $ 23,642,377   
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known to us. We periodically confirm the accuracy of our estimates with the service providers and make adjustments if necessary. To date, there 
have been no material changes to our estimates. Examples of estimated accrued expenses include:  

     We base our expenses related to clinical trials on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with 
multiple research institutions and clinical research organizations that conduct and manage clinical trials on our behalf. The financial terms of 
these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. Payments under some of 
these contracts depend on factors such as the successful enrollment of patients and the completion of clinical trial milestones. In accruing service 
fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing 
of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from our estimate, we will adjust the accrual accordingly. To date, there have been no 
material changes to our estimates. If we do not identify costs that we have begun to incur or if we underestimate or overestimate the level of 
services performed or the costs of these services, our actual expenses could differ from our estimates.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

     At December 31, 2007, we have two stock-based employee compensation plans, the Stock Incentive Plan and the Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan. Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for these plans under the recognition and measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees , and other related Interpretations, as permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“Statement No. 123”). No stock-based compensation cost related to our 
employees was recognized in the Statements of Operations for any period ending prior to January 1, 2006, as all options granted to our 
employees had exercise prices equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Effective January 1, 2006, we 
adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment 
(“Statement No. 123R”), using the modified prospective transition method. Results for prior periods have not been restated.  

     Under the fair value recognition provisions of Statement No. 123R, stock-based compensation cost is estimated at the grant date based on the 
fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period of the award. Consistent with the valuation method we used 
for disclosure-only purposes under the provisions of Statement No. 123, we use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate fair value 
under Statement No. 123R. Determining the appropriate fair value model and the related assumptions for the model requires judgment, including 
estimating the life of an award, the stock price volatility, and the expected term. Compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
requisite service period.  

7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES  
ABOUT MARKET RISK.  

     The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing the income we receive from our investments 
without significantly increasing our risk. We invest excess cash principally in U.S. marketable securities from a diversified portfolio of 
institutions with strong credit ratings and in U.S. government and agency bills and notes, and by policy, limit the amount of credit exposure at 
any one institution. Some of the securities we invest in may have market risk. This means that a change in prevailing interest rates may cause the 
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  •   fees paid to contract research organizations in connection with preclinical and toxicology studies and clinical trials; 
  

  •   fees paid to investigative sites in connection with clinical trials; 
  

  •   fees paid to contract manufacturers in connection with the production of our raw materials, drug substance and drug products; and 
  

  •   professional service fees. 
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principal amount of the investment to fluctuate. To minimize this risk, we schedule our investments to have maturities that coincide with our 
expected cash flow needs, thus avoiding the need to redeem an investment prior to its maturity date. Accordingly, we believe we have no 
material exposure to market risk arising from our investments. Therefore, no quantitative tabular disclosure is provided.  
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA   

BALANCE SHEETS  

See accompanying notes to financial statements .  
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    December 31,   
    2007     2006   
Assets                  
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 31,155,320     $ 4,417,528   
Marketable securities      19,542,193       33,040,038   
Receivables from collaborations      39,127,676       4,556,145   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      1,879,463       3,775,975   
     

  
    

  
  

Total current assets      91,704,652       45,789,686   
                   
Marketable securities      34,310,988       8,778,020   
Furniture and equipment, net      5,294,079       3,029,271   
Patents and licenses, net of accumulated amortization of $32,094 in 2006      —      290,694   
Deferred collaboration expense      11,407,120       10,597,750   
     

  
    

  
  

Total assets    $ 142,716,839     $ 68,485,421   
     

  

    

  

  

                   
Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity                  
Accounts payable    $ 19,771,375     $ 5,886,967   
Accrued expenses      2,863,815       1,506,712   
Accrued vacation      824,143       641,474   
Deferred revenue      4,658,266       2,699,463   
     

  
    

  
  

Total current liabilities      28,117,599       10,734,616   
                   
Deferred revenue      49,694,186       36,595,796   
                   
Stockholders’  equity:                  

Preferred stock: shares authorized - 5,000,000 Series B Junior Participating Preferred stock, $.001 par 
value; shares authorized - 45,000; shares issued and outstanding - none      —      —  

Common stock, $.01 par value; shares authorized - 95,000,000; shares issued and outstanding - 37,967,254 
– 2007; 29,248,849– 2006      379,672       292,488   

Additional paid-in capital      288,683,369       216,310,578   
Accumulated other comprehensive income      378,057       32,463   
Accumulated deficit      (224,536,044 )     (195,480,520 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

Total stockholders’  equity      64,905,054       21,155,009   
     

  
    

  
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity    $ 142,716,839     $ 68,485,421   
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STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.  
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    Years Ended December 31,   
    2007     2006     2005   
Revenues                          

Collaborative and other research and development    $ 71,237,901     $ 6,211,936     $ 151,867   
                           
Expenses                          

Research and development      94,051,996       47,083,372       23,642,377   
General and administrative      9,465,962       6,108,373       3,686,323   

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Total expenses      103,517,958       53,191,745       27,328,700   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                           
Loss from operations      (32,280,057 )     (46,979,809 )     (27,176,833 ) 
                           
Interest and other income      3,224,533       3,361,956       1,078,065   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                           
Net loss    $ (29,055,524 )   $ (43,617,853 )   $ (26,098,768 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Basic and diluted net loss per common share    $ (0.89 )   $ (1.50 )   $ (1.01 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Weighted average shares outstanding      32,770,923       29,147,397       25,721,031   
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STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.  
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                    Accumulated                       
            Additional     Other             Total Stock-         
    Common     Paid-in     Comprehensive     Accumulated     holders’     Comprehensive   
    Stock     Capital     Income     Deficit     Equity     Income   
Balance at December 31, 2004    $ 217,583     $ 154,880,528     $ —    $ (125,763,899 )   $ 29,334,212           
Net loss      —      —      —      (26,098,768 )     (26,098,768 )   $ (26,098,768 ) 
Unrealized gain on marketable 

securities available-for-sale      —      —      —      —      —      —  
                                             

  
  

Comprehensive income                                            $ (26,098,768 ) 
                                             

  

  

Sale of common stock, 6,578,829 
shares      65,788       52,498,067       —      —      52,563,855           

Exercise of stock options, 450,717 
shares      4,507       2,473,395       —      —      2,477,902           

Employee stock purchase plan sales, 
25,700 shares      257       136,564       —      —      136,821           

Stock-based compensation expense      —      26,392       —      —      26,392           
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
          

Balance at December 31, 2005      288,135       210,014,946       —      (151,862,667 )     58,440,414           
Net loss      —      —      —      (43,617,853 )     (43,617,853 )   $ (43,617,853 ) 
Unrealized gain on marketable 

securities available-for-sale      —      —      32,463       —      32,463       32,463   
                                             

  
  

Comprehensive income                                            $ (43,585,390 ) 
                                             

  

  

Exercise of stock options, 409,328 
shares, net      4,093       2,765,801       —      —      2,769,894           

Employee stock purchase plan sales, 
25,988 shares      260       191,070       —      —      191,330           

Stock-based compensation expense      —      3,338,761       —      —      3,338,761           
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
          

Balance at December 31, 2006      292,488       216,310,578       32,463       (195,480,520 )     21,155,009           
Net loss      —      —      —      (29,055,524 )     (29,055,524 )   $ (29,055,524 ) 
Unrealized gain on marketable 

securities available-for-sale      —      —      345,594       —      345,594       345,594   
                                             

  
  

Comprehensive income                                            $ (28,709,930 ) 
                                             

  

  

Issue of restricted common stock, 
60,000 shares      600       (600 )     —      —      —          

Sale of common stock, 8,315,513 
shares, net      83,155       65,034,937       —      —      65,118,092           

Exercise of stock options, 308,037 
shares, net      3,080       1,378,098       —      —      1,381,178           

Employee stock purchase plan sales, 
34,855 shares      349       269,328       —      —      269,677           

Stock-based compensation expense      —      5,691,028       —      —      5,691,028           
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
          

Balance at December 31, 2007    $ 379,672     $ 288,683,369     $ 378,057     $ (224,536,044 )   $ 64,905,054           
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

See accompanying notes to financial statements .  
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    Years Ended December 31,   
    2007     2006     2005   
Operating activities                          
Net loss    $ (29,055,524 )   $ (43,617,853 )   $ (26,098,768 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                          

Depreciation, amortization, and impairment      1,369,713       810,310       1,018,219   
Stock-based compensation expense      5,691,028       3,338,761       26,392   

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                          
Receivables from collaborations      (34,571,531 )     25,443,855       (30,000,000 ) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      1,896,512       (2,936,313 )     (140,378 ) 
Deferred collaboration expense      (809,370 )     (4,772,507 )     (5,825,243 ) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses      15,424,180       (2,472,827 )     7,673,621   
Deferred revenue      15,057,193       8,995,259       30,000,000   

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Net cash used in operating activities      (24,997,799 )     (15,211,315 )     (23,346,157 ) 
                           
Investing activities                          
Acquisitions of furniture and equipment      (3,343,827 )     (1,398,314 )     (497,284 ) 
Purchases of patents and licenses      —      (136,372 )     (50,784 ) 
Purchases of marketable securities      (62,907,146 )     (42,870,522 )     (29,695,358 ) 
Maturities of marketable securities      51,217,617       31,916,000       18,729,368   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net cash used in investing activities      (15,033,356 )     (12,489,208 )     (11,514,058 ) 
                           
Financing activities                          
Sale of common stock, net of issuance costs      65,118,092       —      52,563,855   
Exercise of stock options      1,381,178       2,769,894       2,477,902   
Employee stock purchase plan sales      269,677       191,330       136,821   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net cash provided by financing activities      66,768,947       2,961,224       55,178,578   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                           
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents      26,737,792       (24,739,299 )     20,318,363   
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year      4,417,528       29,156,827       8,838,464   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    $ 31,155,320     $ 4,417,528     $ 29,156,827   
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Note 1 – Significant Accounting Policies  

The Company  

     BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporation, is a biotechnology company that designs, optimizes, and develops 
novel drugs that block key enzymes involved in cancer, cardiovascular diseases, autoimmune diseases, and viral infections. The Company 
integrates the necessary disciplines of biology, crystallography, medicinal chemistry, and computer modeling to effectively use structure-based 
drug design to discover and develop small molecule pharmaceuticals. The Company has multiple research projects in different stages of 
development from early discovery to a pivotal Phase II trial of the Company’s most advanced drug candidate, forodesine HCl. While the 
prospects for a project may increase as the project advances to the next stage of development, a project can be terminated at any stage of 
development. Until the Company generates revenues from either a research project or an approved product, the Company’s ability to continue 
research projects is dependent upon its ability to raise funds through the sale of equity securities or through collaborative arrangements with 
government agencies or third-party partners.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

     The Company generally considers cash equivalents to be all cash held in money market accounts or investments in debt instruments with 
maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, Statement of 
Cash Flows .  

Marketable Securities  

     In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities , 
the Company is required to classify securities as trading, available-for-sale, or held-to-maturity. The appropriateness of each classification is 
assessed at the time of purchase and at each reporting date. At December 31, 2007, the Company had $53,853,181 marketable securities of 
which $43,770,636 is classified as available-for-sale and $10,082,545 is classified as held-to-maturity.  

     Securities available-for-sale consisted of U.S. Agency securities carried at estimated fair values. The estimated fair value of these securities 
was based on independent quoted market prices. At December 31, 2007, the amortized cost of securities available-for-sale was $42,918,200. The 
following table summarizes by year the scheduled maturity for the securities available-for-sale.  

     Unrealized gains and losses on securities available-for-sale are recognized in other comprehensive income. Securities held-to-maturity 
consisted primarily of U.S. Agency securities carried at amortized cost. The estimated fair value of securities held-to-maturity at December 31, 
2007 was $10,096,160 based on independent quoted market prices. At December 31, 2007, all of the non-current portions of securities held-to-
maturity mature in 2009.  

Receivables from Collaborations  

     Receivables are recorded for amounts due to the Company related to reimbursable research and development costs and event payments. These 
receivables are evaluated to determine if any reserve or allowance should be established at each reporting date. At December 31, 2007, the 
Company had the following receivables from collaborations.  

Furniture and Equipment  

     Furniture and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method with estimated useful lives of five and 
seven years. Laboratory equipment, office equipment, leased equipment, and  
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2008    $ 10,955,094   
2009      26,152,779   
2010      5,616,926   
2011      1,045,837   
     

  

     $ 43,770,636   
     

  

                  
    Billed     Unbilled   
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services    $ 23,089,946     $ 13,443,866   
Mundipharma, Shionogi & Roche      258,801       2,335,063   
     

  
    

  
  

Total    $ 23,348,747     $ 15,778,929   
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software are depreciated over a life of five years. Furniture and fixtures are depreciated over a life of seven years. Leasehold improvements are 
amortized over their estimated useful lives or the remaining lease term, whichever is less. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets , the Company periodically reviews its furniture and 
equipment for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. 
Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset and its eventual 
disposition. In the event that such cash flows are not expected to be sufficient to recover the carrying amount of the assets, the assets are written 
down to their estimated fair values. Furniture and equipment to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost 
to sell.  

Patents and Licenses  

     The Company seeks patent protection on all internally developed processes and products. All patent related costs are expensed to general and 
administrative expenses as incurred, as recoverability of such expenditures is uncertain.  

Accrued Expenses  

     The Company records all expenses in the period incurred. In addition to recording expenses for invoices received, the Company estimates the 
cost of services provided by third parties or materials purchased for which no invoices have been received as of each balance sheet date. Accrued 
expenses as of December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 consisted primarily of development and clinical trial expenses payable to contract research 
organizations in connection with the Company’s research and development programs.  

Income Taxes  

     The liability method is used in accounting for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, 
Accounting for Income Taxes (“Statement No. 109”). Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences 
between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect 
when the differences are expected to reverse.  

     Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting 
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN No. 48”). FIN No. 48 clarifies the accounting for 
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with Statement No. 109, and prescribes a 
recognition threshold and measurement process for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be 
taken in a tax return.  

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income  

     Accumulated other comprehensive income is comprised of unrealized gains and losses on securities available-for-sale and is disclosed as a 
separate component of stockholders’ equity. The Company had $345,594 and $32,463 of unrealized gains on its securities that are included in 
accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively.  

Revenue Recognition  

     The Company’s revenues have generally been limited to license fees, event payments, research and development fees, government contracts, 
and interest income. Revenue is recognized in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (“SAB No. 104”) and 
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables (“EITF Issue 00-21”). License fees, event 
payments, and research and development fees are recognized as revenue when the earnings process is complete and the Company has no further 
continuing performance obligations or the Company has completed the performance obligations under the terms of the agreement. Fees received 
under licensing agreements that are related to future performance are deferred and recognized over an estimated period determined by 
management based on the terms of the agreements and the products licensed. In the event a license agreement contains multiple deliverables, the 
Company evaluates whether the deliverables are separate or combined units of accounting in accordance with EITF Issue 00-21. Revisions to 
revenue or profit estimates as a result of changes in the estimated revenue period are recognized prospectively.  
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     Under the guidance of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal Versus Net as an Agent (“EITF 
Issue 99-19”) and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 01-14, Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for “Out-of-
Pocket” Expenses (“EITF Issue 01-14”), reimbursements received for direct out-of-pocket expenses related to research and development costs 
are recorded as revenue in the income statement rather than as a reduction in expenses.  

     Event payments are recognized as revenue upon the achievement of specified events if (1) the event is substantive in nature and the 
achievement of the event was not reasonably assured at the inception of the agreement and (2) the fees are non-refundable and non-creditable. 
Any event payments received prior to satisfying these criteria are recorded as deferred revenue.  

     Royalty revenue is recognized based on estimates of royalties earned during the applicable period and adjusted for differences between the 
estimated and actual royalties in the following period. If royalties can not be reasonably estimated, revenue is recognized upon receipt of royalty 
statements from the licensee. The Company has not received any royalties from the sale of licensed pharmaceutical products.  

     The Company recorded the following revenues from collaborations for the years ended December 31:  

Research and Development Expenses  

     In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 2, Accounting for Research and Development Costs , the Company 
expenses research and development costs as incurred. Research and development expenses include, among other items, personnel costs, 
including salaries and benefits, manufacturing costs, clinical, regulatory, and toxicology services performed by contract research organizations 
(“CRO’s”), materials and supplies, and overhead allocations consisting of various administrative and facilities related costs. Most of the 
Company’s manufacturing and clinical and preclinical studies are performed by third-party CRO’s. Costs for studies performed by CRO’s are 
accrued by the Company over the service periods specified in the contracts and estimates are adjusted, if required, based upon the Company’s 
on-going review of the level of services actually performed.  

     Additionally, the Company has license agreements with third parties, such as Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiva University 
(“AECOM”), Industrial Research, Ltd. (“IRL”), and the University of Alabama at Birmingham (“UAB”), which require maintenance fees or fees 
related to sublicense agreements. These fees are generally expensed as incurred unless they are related to revenues that have been deferred, in 
which case the expenses are deferred and recognized over the related revenue recognition period.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

     In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“Statement No. 123R”), all 
share-based payments, including grants of stock option awards and restricted stock awards, are recognized in the Company’s income statement 
based on their fair values. Statement No. 123R was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2006 using the “modified prospective” transition 
method. Under the fair value recognition provisions of Statement No. 123R, stock-based compensation cost is estimated at the grant date based 
on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award.  

     As of December 31, 2007, the Company had two stock-based employee compensation plans, the Stock Incentive Plan (“Incentive Plan”) and 
the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). In addition, the Company made an inducement grant outside of the Incentive Plan and ESPP to 
recruit a new employee to a key position  
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    2007     2006     2005   
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services    $ 55,449,095     $ —    $ —  
Shionogi      8,515,714       —      —  
Mundipharma      5,298,271       5,086,928       —  
Roche      1,898,403       1,093,758       —  
Other      76,418       31,250       151,867   
     

  
       

  
  

  
    

Total    $ 71,237,901     $ 6,211,936     $ 151,867   
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within the Company. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for all share-based payments under the recognition and measurement 
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB Opinion No. 25”), and other 
related interpretations, as permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation . No 
stock-based compensation cost related to the Company’s employees was recognized in the Statements of Operations for any period ending prior 
to January 1, 2006. Stock-based compensation expense of $5,691,028 ($5,428,505 of expense related to the Incentive Plan, $150,245 of expense 
related to the ESPP, and $112,278 of expense related to the inducement grant) was recognized during 2007, while $3,338,761 ($3,243,751 of 
expense related to the Plan and $95,010 of expense related to the ESPP) was recognized during 2006.  

     In accordance with the modified prospective transition method adopted, results for the year ended December 31, 2005 have not been restated. 
The following table illustrates the pro forma effect on net loss and net loss per share had the Company applied the fair value recognition 
provisions of Statement No. 123R for the year ended December 31, 2005. For purposes of the below pro forma disclosure, the value of the stock 
option awards was estimated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model and amortized to expense over the vesting periods of the stock option 
awards using a straight-line expense attribution method. For the year ended December 31, 2005, stock-based compensation cost of $26,392 was 
recognized by the Company for stock option awards granted to non-employee consultants.  

     As of December 31, 2007, there was approximately $13,740,154 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested employee 
stock option awards and restricted stock awards granted by the Company. That cost is expected to be recognized as follows: $5,255,676 in 2008, 
$4,542,234 in 2009, $3,341,547 in 2010, and $600,697 in 2011.  

     Statement 123R also requires that the benefits from tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost should be reported as a 
financing cash flow rather than as an operating cash flow. The Company has never recognized any benefits from such tax deductions, as the 
Company has always maintained a loss position.  

Net Loss Per Share  

     The Company computes net loss per share in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, Earnings Per Share . 
Net loss per share is based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is 
equivalent to basic net loss per share for all periods presented herein because common equivalent shares from unexercised stock options and 
common shares expected to be issued under the Company’s employee stock purchase plan were anti-dilutive.  

Use of Estimates  

     The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. Examples include accrued clinical and preclinical 
expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
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    2005   
Net loss as reported    $ (26,098,768 ) 
Add stock-based compensation expense for consultants included in reported net loss      26,392   
Deduct total stock-based compensation expense for employees and consultants as determined under Statement No. 123      (1,779,991 ) 
     

  
  

Pro forma net loss    $ (27,852,367 ) 
     

  

  

           
Amounts per common share:          
Net loss per share, as reported    $ (1.01 ) 
Pro forma net loss per share    $ (1.08 ) 
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Note 2 – Furniture and Equipment  

     Furniture and equipment consisted of the following at December 31:  

Note 3 – Concentration of Credit and Market Risk  

     The Company invests its excess cash principally in U.S. marketable securities from a diversified portfolio of institutions with strong credit 
ratings and in U.S. government and agency bills and notes and, by policy, limits the amount of credit exposure at any one institution. These 
investments are generally not collateralized and mature within less than three years. The Company has not realized any losses from such 
investments. At December 31, 2007, $14,358,885 was invested in the Merrill Lynch Premier Institutional Fund, a money market mutual fund 
that invests in near cash securities with weighted average maturities of less than 90 days. The Merrill Lynch Premier Institutional Fund is not 
insured.  

     The Company’s raw materials, drug substances, and drug products are manufactured by a limited group of suppliers and some at a single 
facility. If any of these suppliers were unable to produce these items, this could significantly impact the Company’s supply of drugs for further 
preclinical testing and clinical trials.  

Note 4 – Accrued Expenses  

     Accrued expenses were comprised of the following at December 31:  

Note 5 – Lease Obligations and Other Contingencies  

     The Company has the following lease obligations at December 31, 2007:  
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    2007     2006   
Furniture and fixtures    $ 491,827     $ 406,869   
Office equipment      907,389       685,204   
Software      1,015,062       516,281   
Laboratory equipment      6,361,495       4,802,481   
Leased equipment      62,712       62,712   
Leasehold improvements      5,082,554       4,731,401   
Construction-in-progress      883,779       309,001   
     

  
    

  
  

       14,804,818       11,513,949   
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization      (9,510,739 )     (8,484,678 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

Furniture and equipment, net    $ 5,294,079     $ 3,029,271   
     

  

    

  

  

                  
    2007     2006   
Accrued research and clinical expenses    $ 1,675,665     $ 1,155,847   
Accrued professional fees      126,500       177,951   
Stock purchase plan withholdings      167,365       106,670   
Accrued bonus      756,534       45,000   
Other      137,751       21,244   
     

  
    

  
  

Accrued expenses    $ 2,863,815     $ 1,506,712   
     

  

    

  

  

          
    Operating   
    Leases   
2008    $ 619,346   
2009      623,894   
2010      554,287   
2011      525,956   
2012      535,828   
Thereafter      1,408,792   
     

  
  

Total minimum payments    $ 4,268,103   
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     Rent expense for operating leases was $575,538, $566,524, and $560,322 in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. The commitment for 
operating leases is primarily related to building leases in Birmingham, Alabama and Cary, North Carolina. The lease for the building in 
Birmingham, Alabama expires June 30, 2015. This lease, as amended effective August 7, 2007 for an increase in occupied space and lease term, 
currently requires monthly rents of $39,100 in December 2007 and escalates annually to a minimum of $48,072 per month in the final year. The 
Company has an option to renew the Birmingham, Alabama lease for an additional five years at the current market rate on the date of 
termination. The lease for the building in Cary, North Carolina expires February 28, 2010. This lease, as amended effective August 9, 2007 for 
an increase in occupied space, requires monthly rents of $7,652 in December 2007 and escalates annually to a minimum of $8,118 per month in 
the final year. The Company has an option to twice renew the Cary, North Carolina lease for an additional three years at the current market rate 
prior to lease termination.  

     As of December 31, 2007, the Company has an unused letter of credit of $1.8 million. This letter of credit was originally obtained for a 
customs bond that was required in order to import certain compound into the country that was manufactured abroad. The Company does not 
anticipate drawing any funds against this letter of credit in the future, but it could remain in force for up to one year or until customs closes the 
file on the particular receipt of goods for which the bond was required.  

Note 6 — Income Taxes  

     Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of FIN No. 48, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes 
recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with Statement No. 109 and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement 
process for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company has 
concluded that there were no significant uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in its financial statements. Tax years 2004-2006 remain 
open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject. Additionally, years prior to 2004 are also open to 
examination to the extent of loss and credit carryforwards from those years.  

     During the current period, the Company utilized a portion of its net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards. Accordingly, there was a decrease 
in the deferred tax assets and a corresponding decrease in the valuation allowance related to the NOL carryforwards. As of December 31, 2007, 
the majority of the deferred tax assets relate to NOL carryforwards that can only be realized if the Company is profitable in future periods and it 
is uncertain whether the Company will realize any tax benefit related to the NOL carryforwards. Accordingly, the Company has provided a 
valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets due to uncertainties as to their ultimate realization. The valuation allowance will remain at 
the full amount of the deferred tax asset until it is more likely than not that the related tax benefits will be realized.  

     The Company has significant net operating loss and business credit carryovers which are subject to a valuation allowance due to the uncertain 
nature of the realization of the losses. The Internal Revenue Code imposes certain limitations on the utilization of net operating loss carryovers 
and other tax attributes after certain ownership changes. During the year, the Company performed a detailed analysis and determined that there 
was no resulting limitation to the Company’s net operating loss and credit carryforwards.  

     The Company will recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as components of its income tax provision. 
The Company did not have any interest and penalties accrued upon the adoption of FIN No. 48 and as of December 31, 2007, the Company does 
not have any interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits.  
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     The provision for income taxes differs from the amounts computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to income before income 
taxes. The sources and tax effects of the differences are as follows:  

     The Company has not had taxable income since incorporation and, therefore, has not paid any income taxes. Significant components of the 
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:  

     As of December 31, 2006, the Company had net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards of approximately 
$157,962,000 and $32,068,000, respectively, which expire at various dates from 2008 through 2026. Approximately $2,265,000 of the net 
operating loss carryforward is comprised of excess tax benefit that will reverse through additional paid-in capital.  

Note 7 — Stockholders’ Equity  

     On August 6, 2007, the Company entered into a Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement with a group of existing stockholders for the private 
placement of 8,315,513 shares of the Company’s common stock at a purchase price of $7.80 per share and warrants to purchase 3,159,895 shares 
of the Company’s common stock at a purchase price of $0.125 per warrant. The aggregate proceeds from the sale were approximately 
$65.3 million. The exercise price of the warrants is $10.25 per share. The participants in the transaction include funds managed by Baker 
Brothers Investments, Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers, EHS Holdings, OrbiMed Advisors, Texas Pacific Group Ventures, and Stephens 
Investment Management, all of whom are current shareholders in the Company. The Company has registered 8,140,000 of the shares under the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, but the remaining 175,513 and the warrants included in the private placement have not been registered and 
may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable exemption from registration requirements. The Company has 
agreed to register the remaining shares, the warrants, and the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants for resale. If 
registration is not completed within the period specified in the Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, the Company will be subject to pay 
liquidated damages of $164,000 to the group of institutional investors, which represents 12% of the transaction value related to the remaining  
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    2007     2006     2005   
Federal tax benefit at statutory rate on income before income taxes    $ (10,169,433 )   $ (15,266,249 )   $ (9,134,569 ) 
State tax benefit, net of federal income tax benefit      (1,231,316 )     (1,931,360 )     (1,120,784 ) 
Increase in valuation allowance      16,143,862       21,011,952       12,706,721   
Permanent items (federal effect)      3,943,986       2,338,857       1,488,588   
R&D credit      (9,214,625 )     (6,561,953 )     (4,237,250 ) 
Other-net      527,526       408,753       297,294   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total tax expense    $ —    $ —    $ —  
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                  
    2007     2006   
Deferred tax assets:                  

Net operating losses    $ 61,544,215     $ 66,146,993   
General business credits      32,067,935       23,098,886   
Fixed assets      845,621       696,822   
Accrued expenses      433,093       252,327   
Reserve for doubtful accounts      —      —  
Deferred revenue      9,827,259       113,400   
Stock-based compensation      1,734,167       —  
Other      —      —  

     
  
    

  
  

Total deferred tax assets      106,452,290       90,308,428   
Total deferred tax liabilities      —      —  
     

  
    

  
  

Net deferred tax asset      106,452,290       90,308,428   
Valuation allowance      (106,452,290 )     (90,308,428 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

Net deferred tax assets    $ —    $ —  
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unregistered common stock. The Company expects that registration of the remaining shares will occur within the timeframe specified in the 
Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement. Therefore, the amount of the liquidated damages has not been accrued as of December 31, 2007.  

     On May 16, 2007, the stockholders approved an amendment to the Company’s third restated certificate of incorporation to increase the 
number of shares of common stock authorized to issue from 45,000,000 to 95,000,000. All shares of the Company’s common stock, including 
the additional shares authorized by the amendment, are equal in rank and have the same voting, dividend, and liquidation rights.  

     On December 14, 2005, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers Holdings, LLC, 
KPTV, LLC and TPG Biotechnology Partners, L.P. in connection with a registered direct offering of 2,228,829 shares of its common stock at an 
offering price of $13.46 per share. The common stock was issued pursuant to prospectus supplements filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“the Securities Act”), in connection with a shelf takedown 
from the Company’s registration statement on Form S-3 (333-111226), which was filed on December 16, 2003 and which became effective on 
January 5, 2004, and the Company’s registration statement on Form S-3 (333-128087), which was filed on September 2, 2005 and which became 
effective on September 20, 2005. On December 16, 2005, the Company issued the total 2,228,829 shares of common stock to the aforementioned 
investors and received total proceeds of approximately $30 million (approximately $29.9 million net of expenses).  

     On February 9, 2005, the Company entered into a Placement Agency Agreement with Leerink Swann & Company in connection with a 
registered direct offering of 4,350,000 shares of its common stock at an offering price of $5.50 per share. The common stock was issued pursuant 
to a prospectus supplement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2) of the Securities Act in connection 
with a shelf takedown from the Company’s registration statement on Form S-3 (333-111226), filed on December 16, 2003 and which became 
effective on January 5, 2004.  

     On February 17, 2005, the Company entered into stock purchase agreements with a number of institutional investors for an aggregate of 
4,350,000 shares of common stock at a gross purchase price of $5.50 per share or approximately $23.9 million (approximately $22.7 million net 
of expenses). One of these agreements was with Baker Brothers Investments, L.P., Baker Brothers Investments II, L.P., Baker Biotech Fund I, 
L.P., Baker Biotech Fund II, L.P., Baker Biotech Fund II (Z), L.P., Baker Biotech Fund III, L.P., Baker Biotech Fund III (Z), L.P., Baker/Tisch 
Investments, L.P., and 14159, L.P., or the Baker investors, for a total of 1,454,545 shares.  

     On February 4, 2004, the Company entered into a Placement Agency Agreement with Leerink Swann & Company in connection with a 
registered direct offering of 3,571,667 shares of its common stock at an offering price of $6.00 per share. The common stock was issued pursuant 
to a prospectus supplement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2) of the Securities Act in connection 
with a shelf takedown from the Company’s registration statement on Form S-3 (333-111226), filed on December 16, 2003 and which became 
effective on January 5, 2004.  

     On February 17, 2004, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Caduceus Private Investments II, LP, Caduceus Private 
Investments II (QP), LP and UBS Juniper Crossover Fund, L.L.C. As part of this agreement, the Company granted these investors the right to 
appoint a member to its board of directors effective as of the closing of the offering. On February 18, 2004, the Company completed a 
$21.4 million registered direct offering of 3,571,667 shares of its common stock to a group of institutional investors.  

     In June 2002, our board of directors adopted a stockholder rights plan and, pursuant thereto, issued preferred stock purchase rights (“Rights”) 
to the holders of our common stock. The Rights have certain anti-takeover effects. If triggered, the Rights would cause substantial dilution to a 
person or group of persons who acquires more than 15% (19.9% for William W. Featheringill, a Director who owned approximately 10.1% as of 
August 15, 2007, but owned more than 15% at the time the Rights were put in place) of our common stock on terms not approved by the board 
of directors. In August 2007, this plan was amended for a transaction involving funds managed by or affiliated with Baker Brother Investments 
such that they could purchase up to 25% without triggering the Rights. After closing of our August 2007 private placement, such group owns 
approximately 19.0%  
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of our stock. The rights are not exercisable until the distribution date, as defined in the Rights Agreement by and between the Company and 
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent. The Rights will expire at the close of business on June 24, 2012, unless that final 
expiration date is extended or unless the rights are earlier redeemed or exchanged by the Company.  

     Each Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of Series B Junior Participating 
Preferred Stock (“Series B”), par value $0.001 per share, at a purchase price of $26.00, subject to adjustment. Shares of Series B purchasable 
upon exercise of the Rights will not be redeemable. Each share of Series B will be entitled to a dividend of 1,000 times the dividend declared per 
share of common stock. In the event of liquidation, each share of Series B will be entitled to a payment of 1,000 times the payment made per 
share of common stock. Each share of Series B will have 1,000 votes, voting together with the common stock. Finally, in the event of any 
merger, consolidation, or other transaction in which shares of common stock are exchanged, each share of Series B will be entitled to receive 
1,000 times the amount received per share of common stock. Effective in December 2005, we increased the authorized shares available under 
these rights to 45,000 to match the authorized common shares of 45,000,000 at that time. In addition, our Board of Directors has the authority to 
issue up to 4,955,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock and to determine the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of those shares 
without further vote or action by our stockholders.  

Note 8 — Stock-Based Compensation  

Stock Incentive Plan  

     In November 1991, the Board of Directors adopted the 1991 Stock Option Plan (“1991 Plan”) for key employees and consultants of the 
Company and reserved 500,000 shares of common stock for issuance. The 1991 Plan was approved by the stockholders in December 1991. The 
original term for awards granted under the 1991 Plan was for ten years and included provisions for issuance of both incentive stock options and 
non-statutory options. Under the 1991 Plan, stock option awards are granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s 
stock at the date of grant. Stock option awards granted to employees and consultants generally vest 25% after one year and monthly thereafter on 
a pro rata basis over the next three years until fully vested after four years. The vesting exercise provisions of all awards granted under the 1991 
Plan are subject to acceleration in the event of certain stockholder-approved transactions, or upon the occurrence of a change in control as 
defined in the 1991 Plan.  

     In February 1993, the 1991 Plan was amended and restated to effect the following changes: (i) divide the 1991 Plan into two separate 
incentive programs: the Discretionary Option Grant Program and the Automatic Option Grant Program (for outside Directors), (ii) increase the 
number of shares of the Company’s common stock available for issuance by 500,000 shares and (iii) expand the level of benefits available. The 
Board amended the 1991 Plan in December 1993 to increase the number of shares issuable by 500,000 shares and subsequently amended and 
restated the 1991 Plan in its entirety in February 1994. In March 1995, the Board authorized another 500,000 shares for issuance under the 1991 
Plan. The 1991 Plan was subsequently amended and restated in March 1997, which increased the number of shares issuable by 1,000,000 shares. 
The 1991 Plan (as so amended and restated) was further amended in March 1999 to increase the share reserve by 400,000 shares. The Board 
amended and restated the 1991 Plan in its entirety in March 2000, increasing the reserved shares by 1,200,000 and extending the term of the 
1991 Plan for ten years from the date of the amendment. This restatement was approved by the Company’s stockholders in May 2000. The 1991 
Plan was amended in March 2004 to increase the number of shares reserved for issuance by 1,000,000 and to amend the automatic option grant 
program related to initial grants, vesting, and option terms. The automatic option grant program grants options to purchase 10,000 shares to new 
non-employee Board members, prorated from their initial appointment to the next Annual Meeting, and an additional 10,000 shares annually 
over such period of continued service (all of which vest one-twelfth per month). Directors receiving options under the automatic option grant 
program will have the full term of the original option to exercise all options vested at the time of their cessation from service. This amendment 
was approved by the Company’s stockholders in May 2004.  

     In March 2006, the 1991 Plan was amended and restated by the Company’s Stock Incentive Plan (“Incentive Plan”), which increased the 
number of shares reserved for issuance by 1,500,000 shares; increased the amounts of  
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the initial automatic option grants to non-employee Board members from 10,000 shares to 20,000 shares; increased the amounts of the annual 
automatic option grants to non-employee Board members from 10,000 shares to 15,000 shares; and allow the Company to make discretionary 
stock issuances. The Incentive Plan was subsequently approved by the Company’s stockholders in May 2006. Most recently, in March 2007, the 
Incentive Plan was amended and restated and increased the number of shares reserved for issuance by 1,200,000 shares. This amendment and 
restatement was subsequently approved by the Company’s stockholders in May 2007.  

     Related activity under the Incentive Plan is as follows:  

     For each stock option award granted under the Incentive Plan during 2007, 2006, and 2005, the fair value of the award was estimated on the 
date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model and the assumptions noted in the table below. The weighted average grant date fair 
value of the stock option awards granted under the Incentive Plan during 2007, 2006, and 2005 was $6.16, $8.64, and $3.48, respectively. The 
fair value of the stock option awards is amortized to expense over the vesting periods using a straight-line expense attribution method.  

Weighted Average Assumptions for Stock Option Awards Granted under the  
Incentive Plan  

     The following explanations describe the assumptions used by the Company to value the stock option awards granted during 2007. The 
expected life is based on the average of the assumption that all outstanding stock option awards will be exercised at full vesting and the 
assumption that all outstanding stock option awards will be exercised at the midpoint of the valuation date and the full contractual term. The 
expected volatility represents an average of the implied volatility on the Company’s publicly traded options, the volatility over the most recent 
period corresponding with the expected life, and the Company’s long-term reversion volatility. The Company has assumed no expected dividend 
yield, as dividends have never been paid to stock or option holders and will not be for the foreseeable future. The weighted average risk-free 
interest rate is the implied yield currently available on zero-coupon government issues with a remaining term equal to the expected term.  

     The total intrinsic value of stock option awards exercised under the Incentive Plan was $1,347,010 during 2007 and $4,697,366 during 2006. 
The intrinsic value represents the total proceeds (fair market value at the date of exercise, less the  
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                    Weighted 
    Awards   Options   Average 
    Available   Outstanding   Exercise Price 

Balance December 31, 2004      1,035,771       3,099,344     $ 7.88   
Stock option awards granted      (653,801 )     653,801       4.66   
Stock option awards exercised      —      (450,717 )     5.50   
Stock option awards canceled      61,077       (61,077 )     5.96   

       
  
      

  
          

Balance December 31, 2005      443,047       3,241,351       7.60   
Plan amendment      1,500,000       —      —  
Stock option awards granted      (1,222,154 )     1,222,154       12.35   
Stock option awards exercised      —      (411,076 )     6.82   
Stock option awards canceled      99,861       (99,861 )     15.91   

       
  
      

  
          

Balance December 31, 2006      820,754       3,952,568       8.94   
Plan amendment      1,200,000                   
Stock option awards granted      (1,721,706 )     1,721,706       9.51   
Restricted stock awards granted      (50,000 )     —      —  

Stock option awards exercised      —      (308,037 )     4.48   
Stock option awards canceled      342,979       (342,979 )     12.02   
       

  
      

  
          

Balance December 31, 2007      592,027       5,023,258       9.20   
       

  

      

  

          

                          
    2007   2006   2005 

Expected Life      5.7       5.9       5.0   
Expected Volatility      74.5 %     82.6 %     96.6 % 
Expected Dividend Yield      0.0 %     0.0 %     0.0 % 
Risk-Free Interest Rate      4.6 %     5.0 %     3.9 % 
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exercise price, times the number of stock option awards exercised) received by all individuals who exercised stock option awards during the 
period.  

     The following table summarizes, at December 31, 2007, by price range: (1) for stock option awards outstanding under the Incentive Plan, the 
number of stock option awards outstanding, their weighted average remaining life and their weighted average exercise price; and (2) for stock 
option awards exercisable under the Plan, the number of stock option awards exercisable and their weighted average exercise price:  

     The weighted average remaining contractual life of stock option awards exercisable under the Incentive Plan at December 31, 2007 is 
5.4 years. There were 2,304,988 and 2,199,129 stock option awards exercisable at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The weighted-
average exercise price for stock option awards exercisable was $7.96 and $8.81 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  

     The aggregate intrinsic value of stock option awards outstanding under the Incentive Plan at December 31, 2007 is $3,200,924. The aggregate 
intrinsic value of stock option awards currently exercisable under the Incentive Plan at December 31, 2007 is $2,887,389. The aggregate intrinsic 
value represents the value (the period’s closing market price, less the exercise price, times the number of in-the-money stock option awards) that 
would have been received by all stock option award holders under the Incentive Plan had they exercised their stock option awards at the end of 
the year.  

     The total fair value of the stock option awards vested under the Incentive Plan was $5,613,761 during 2007 and $2,473,986 during 2006.  

     As of December 31, 2007, the number of stock option awards vested and expected to vest under the Incentive Plan is 4,630,505. The 
weighted average exercise price of these stock option awards is $9.16 and their weighted average remaining contractual life is 7.1 years.  

     The grant date fair value of the 50,000 restricted stock awards granted under the Incentive Plan in 2007 was $11.81. None of these restricted 
stock awards have vested as of December 31, 2007.  

Employee Stock Purchase Plan  

     In May 1995, the stockholders approved the ESPP effective February 1995. In May 2002, the stockholders approved an amendment to the 
ESPP to reserve an additional 200,000 shares and eliminate the January 2005 termination date. The Company has reserved a total of 400,000 
shares of common stock under the ESPP, of which 64,758 shares remain available for purchase at December 31, 2007. Eligible employees may 
authorize up to 15% of their salary to purchase common stock at the lower of 85% of the beginning or 85% of the ending price during the six-
month purchase intervals. No more than 3,000 shares may be purchased by any one employee at the six-  
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            Outstanding                   Exercisable 
            Weighted   Weighted           Weighted 
            Average   Average           Average 
            Remaining   Exercise           Exercise 

Range   Number   Life   Price   Number   Price 

$0 to 3      373,128       5.0     $ 1.19       373,128     $ 1.19   
3 to 6      660,351       6.6       4.18       488,253       4.12   
6 to 9      1,864,740       6.7       8.06       945,982       8.07   
9 to 12      957,186       9.1       11.35       72,558       10.72   
12 to 15      932,546       8.2       12.58       454,622       12.54   
15 to 18      6,667       8.1       15.92       5,186       15.70   
18 to 21      6,200       8.2       19.34       2,794       19.33   
21 to 24      202,820       2.0       22.84       202,820       22.84   
24 to 27      13,620       2.3       25.75       13,620       25.75   
27 to 30      6,000       2.4       29.29       6,000       29.29   

   
  

  
  
  

  
      

  
      

  
  

  
  

  
      

$0 to 30      5,023,258       7.1       9.20       2,564,963       8.52   
   

  

  

  

  

  

      

  

      

  

  

  

  

  

      



Table of Contents  

month purchase dates and no employee may purchase stock having a fair market value at the commencement date of $25,000 or more in any one 
calendar year.  

     There were 34,855, 25,988, and 25,700 shares of common stock purchased under the ESPP in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively, at a 
weighted average price per share of $7.74, $7.36, and $5.06, respectively. Expense of  

     $150,245 and $95,010 related to the ESPP was recognized during 2007 and 2006, respectively, while expense of $73,381 related to the ESPP 
would have been recognized during 2005 had the Company not followed the guidance of APB No. 25. For all periods, expense was determined 
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted average grant date fair values of shares granted under the ESPP during 2007, 2006, 
and 2005 were $2.98, $4.57, and $2.55, respectively.  

Stock Inducement Grant  

     In March 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a stock inducement grant of 110,000 stock option awards and 10,000 restricted 
stock awards to recruit a new employee to a key position within the Company. The stock option awards were granted in April 2007 with an 
exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s stock at the date of grant. The awards vest 25% after one year and monthly thereafter 
on a pro rata basis over the next three years until fully vested after four years. The stock option awards have contractual terms of 10 years. The 
vesting exercise provisions of both the stock option awards and the restricted stock awards granted under the inducement grant are subject to 
acceleration in the event of certain stockholder-approved transactions, or upon the occurrence of a change in control as defined in the respective 
agreements.  

     For the stock option awards granted under the inducement grant, the fair value was estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes 
option pricing model and the following assumptions: expected life of 5.7 years, expected volatility of 72.9%, expected dividend yield of 0.0%, 
and risk-free interest rate of 4.6%. The weighted average grant date fair value of these stock option awards was $5.25. The fair value of the stock 
option awards is amortized to expense over the vesting periods using a straight-line expense attribution method. The expected life is based on the 
average of the assumption that all outstanding stock option awards will be exercised at full vesting and the assumption that all outstanding stock 
option awards will be exercised at the midpoint of the valuation date and the full contractual term. The expected volatility represents an average 
of the implied volatility on the Company’s publicly traded stock options, the volatility over the most recent period corresponding with the 
expected life, and the Company’s long-term reversion volatility. The Company has assumed no expected dividend yield, as dividends have never 
been paid to stock or option holders and will not be for the foreseeable future. The weighted average risk-free interest rate is the implied yield 
currently available on zero-coupon government issues with a remaining term equal to the expected term.  

     The exercise price of the stock option awards and the grant date fair value of the restricted stock awards granted under the inducement grant 
was $8.20. None of these restricted stock awards have vested as of December 31, 2007.  

Note 9 — Employee Benefit Plans  

     In January 1991, the Company adopted an employee retirement plan (“401(k) Plan”) under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code 
covering all employees. Employee contributions may be made to the 401(k) Plan up to limits established by the Internal Revenue Service. 
Company matching contributions may be made at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company made matching contributions of 
$330,559, $252,735, and $205,524 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  

Note 10 — Collaborative and Other Research and Development Contracts  

      Shionogi & Co., Ltd. (“Shionogi" ). In March 2007, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Shionogi to develop and 
commercialize the Company’s lead influenza neuraminidase inhibitor, peramivir, in Japan for the treatment of seasonal and potentially life-
threatening human influenza. Under the terms of the agreement, Shionogi obtained rights to injectable formulations of peramivir in Japan in 
exchange for a $14 million up-front payment. The license provides for future event payments for achieving specified development, regulatory  
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and commercial events (including certain sales level amounts following a product’s launch) for certain indications. In addition, the Company 
will receive royalties based on a percentage of net product sales. Generally, all payments under the agreement are nonrefundable and non-
creditable, but they are subject to audit. The Company developed peramivir under a license from UAB and will owe sublicense payments to 
them on the upfront payment and any future event payments and/or royalties received by the Company from Shionogi. The Company retains all 
rights to commercialize peramivir in North America, Europe, and other countries outside of Korea and Japan. In accordance with SAB No. 104 
and EITF Issue 00-21, the Company deferred the $14 million up-front payment that was received from Shionogi. This deferred revenue began to 
be amortized to revenue in April 2007 and will continue through December 2018. In December 2007, the Company received a $7 million 
milestone payment from Shionogi for their initiation of a Phase II clinical trial with i.v. peramivir.  

      U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”). In January 2007, the Company was awarded a four-year contract from HHS to 
develop its influenza neuraminidase inhibitor, peramivir, for the treatment of seasonal and life-threatening influenza, including avian flu. The 
contract commits $102.6 million to support manufacturing, process validation, clinical studies and other product approval requirements for 
peramivir. The contract with HHS is defined as a standard cost-plus-fixed-fee contract. That is, the Company is entitled to receive 
reimbursement for all costs incurred in accordance with the contract provisions that are related to the development of peramivir plus a fixed fee, 
or profit.  

     In January 2008, we announced that the development cost of our peramivir program to anticipated product approval would cost in excess of 
the $102.6 million contract since the development plan for peramivir had changed from that outlined in the original proposal to HHS. HHS has 
indicated that they will fund certain elements of our revised program, including the ongoing Phase II i.v. study evaluating peramivir in 
hospitalized subjects, the planning and conduct of the planned Phase II study of i.m. peramivir, and the manufacturing and toxicology 
components of the program. Each of these elements has specific HHS funding limits and any costs outside the approved amounts by HHS may 
be the responsibility of the Company. The original contract of $102.6 million and the four year term remain unchanged.  

      Green Cross Corporation (“Green Cross”). In June 2006, the Company entered into an agreement with Green Cross to develop and 
commercialize peramivir in Korea. Under the terms of the agreement, Green Cross will be responsible for all development, regulatory, and 
commercialization costs in Korea. The Company received a one-time license fee and may also receive future event payments as well as royalties 
on product sales of peramivir. In addition, the Company will share in any profits resulting from the sale of peramivir to the Korean government 
for stockpiling purposes. Furthermore, Green Cross will pay the Company a premium over its cost to supply peramivir for development and any 
future marketing of peramivir products in Korea. In accordance with SAB No. 104 and EITF Issue 00-21, the Company deferred the up-front 
payment that was received from Green Cross. This deferred revenue began to be amortized to revenue August 2006 and will continue through 
November 2009.  

      Mundipharma International Holdings Limited (“Mundipharma”). In February 2006, the Company entered into an exclusive, royalty bearing 
right and license agreement with Mundipharma for the development and commercialization of the Company’s lead PNP inhibitor, forodesine 
HCl, for use in oncology. Under the terms of the agreement, Mundipharma obtained rights to forodesine HCl in markets across Europe, Asia, 
and Australasia in exchange for a $10 million up-front payment. Mundipharma will share 50% of the documented out of pocket development 
costs incurred by the Company in respect of the current and planned trials as of the effective date of the agreement provided that Mundipharma’s 
maximum contribution to these trials shall be $10 million. In addition, Mundipharma will conduct additional clinical trials at their own cost up to 
a maximum of $15 million. The license provides for future event payments for achieving specified development, regulatory and commercial 
events (including certain sales level amounts following a product’s launch) for certain indications. In addition, the Company will receive 
royalties based on a percentage of net product sales, which varies depending upon when certain indications receive NDA approval in a major 
market country and can vary by country depending on the patent coverage or sales of generic compounds in a particular country. Generally, all 
payments under the agreement are nonrefundable and non-creditable, but they are subject to audit. The Company licensed forodesine HCl and 
other PNP inhibitors from AECOM and IRL and will owe sublicense payments to these third parties on the upfront payment, event payments, 
and royalties received by the Company from Mundipharma.  
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     For five years, Mundipharma will have a right of first negotiation on existing backup PNP inhibitors the Company develops through Phase IIb 
in oncology, but any new PNP inhibitors will be exempt from this agreement and the Company will retain all rights to such compounds. The 
Company retained the rights to forodesine HCl in the U.S. and Mundipharma is obligated by the terms of the agreement to use commercially 
reasonable efforts to develop the licensed product in the territory specified by the agreement. The agreement will continue for the commercial 
life of the licensed products, but may be terminated by either party following an uncured material breach by the other party or in the event the 
pre-existing third party license with AECOM and IRL expires. It may be terminated by Mundipharma upon 60 days written notice without cause 
or under certain other conditions as specified in the agreement and all rights, data, materials, products and other information would be transferred 
back to the Company at no cost. In the event the Company terminates the agreement for material default or insolvency, the Company could have 
to pay Mundipharma 50% of the costs of any independent data owned by Mundipharma in accordance with the terms of the agreement.  

     In accordance with SAB No. 104 and EITF Issue 00-21, the Company deferred the $10 million up-front payment that was received from 
Mundipharma in February 2006. This deferred revenue began to be amortized to revenue February 2006 and will end in October 2017, which is 
the date of expiration for the last-to-expire patent covered by the agreement. In accordance with EITF Issue 99-19 and EITF Issue 01-14, the 
costs reimbursed by Mundipharma for the current and planned trials of forodesine HCl are recorded as revenue when the expense is incurred up 
to the $10 million limit stipulated in the agreement.  

     The Company is currently in dispute with Mundipharma regarding the contractual obligations of the parties with respect to certain costs 
related to the manufacturing and development of forodesine HCL. Notwithstanding, the Company does not believe that it is responsible for any 
of the disputed amounts. The Company is engaged in ongoing discussion to resolve this dispute. The maximum potential exposure to the 
Company is estimated to be approximately $5 million (approximately 3.4 million euro). Because of the preliminary nature of the discussions, no 
amounts have been accrued as of December 31, 2007.  

      F.Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. and Hoffman-La Roche Inc. (“Roche”). In November 2005, the Company entered into an exclusive license with 
Roche for the development and commercialization of the Company’s second generation PNP inhibitor, BCX-4208, for the prevention of acute 
rejection in transplantation and for the treatment of autoimmune diseases. Under the terms of the agreement, Roche obtained worldwide rights to 
BCX-4208 in exchange for a $25 million up-front payment and a $5 million payment as reimbursement for a limited supply of material during 
the first 24 months of the collaboration. According to the terms of the license, there could also be event payments for achieving specified 
development, regulatory and commercial milestones (including sales level milestones following a product’s launch) for certain indications. In 
addition, the Company will receive royalties based on a percentage of net product sales, which varies depending upon when certain indications 
receive NDA approval in a major market country and can vary by country depending on the patent coverage or sales of generic compounds in a 
particular country. The Company licensed this compound and other PNP inhibitors from AECOM and IRL and will owe sublicense payments to 
these third parties on the upfront payment, future event payments, and royalties received by the Company for the sublicense of these inhibitors.  

     Roche will have a right of first negotiation, under certain conditions, on existing backup PNP inhibitors the Company develops through Phase 
IIb in transplant rejection and autoimmune diseases, but any new PNP inhibitors will be exempt from this agreement and the Company will 
retain all rights to such compounds. The Company retains the right to co-promote BCX-4208 in the U.S. for several indications. Roche has 
certain obligations under the terms of the agreement to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop, manufacture and commercialize the 
licensed product. The agreement may be terminated by either party following an uncured material breach by the other party or may be either 
fully or partially terminated by Roche without cause under certain conditions and all rights, data, materials, products and other information 
would be transferred to the Company at no cost.  

     In accordance with SAB No. 104 and EITF Issue 00-21, the Company recorded deferred revenue of $30 million related to the Roche 
collaboration. This deferred revenue began to be amortized to revenue in October 2006, when the IND was transferred to Roche, and will end in 
August 2023, which is the date of expiration for the last-to-expire patent covered by the agreement.  

      Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiva University and Industrial Research, Ltd. In June 2000, the Company licensed a series of 
potent inhibitors of PNP from AECOM and IRL. The lead drug candidates from this collaboration are Forodesine HCl™ and BCX-4208. The 
Company has obtained worldwide exclusive rights to  
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develop and ultimately distribute these, or any other, drug candidates that might arise from research on these inhibitors. The Company has 
agreed to pay certain milestone payments for future development of these inhibitors, certain royalties on sales of any resulting product, and to 
share in future payments received from other third-party partners, if any. In addition, the Company agreed to pay an annual license fee that is 
non-refundable, but is creditable against actual royalties and other payments due to AECOM and IRL. This agreement may be terminated by the 
Company at any time by giving 60 days advance notice or in the event of material uncured breach by AECOM and IRL.  

     Upon completion of the collaborations with Mundipharma for BCX-1777 and Roche for BCX-4208, the Company was obligated to pay 
AECOM/IRL approximately $8.4 million. These payments were capitalized as a deferred expense and will be amortized into expense in 
proportion to the revenue recognized from the respective agreements.  

      The University of Alabama at Birmingham. The Company currently has agreements with UAB for influenza neuraminidase and complement 
inhibitors. Under the terms of these agreements, UAB performed specific research for the Company in return for research payments and license 
fees. UAB has granted the Company certain rights to any discoveries in these areas resulting from research developed by UAB or jointly 
developed with the Company. The Company has agreed to pay royalties on sales of any resulting product and to share in future payments 
received from other third-party partners. The Company has completed the research under the UAB agreements. These two agreements have 
initial 25-year terms, are automatically renewable for five-year terms throughout the life of the last patent and are terminable by the Company 
upon three months notice and by UAB under certain circumstances. There is currently no activity between the Company and UAB on these 
agreements, but when the Company licenses this technology, such as in the case of the Shionogi and Green Cross agreements, or commercialize 
products related to these programs, we will owe sublicense fees or royalties on amounts we receive.  

      Emory University (“Emory”). In June 2000, the Company licensed intellectual property from Emory related to the hepatitis C polymerase 
target associated with hepatitis C viral infections. Under the original terms of the agreement, the research investigators from Emory provided the 
Company with materials and technical insight into the target. The Company has agreed to pay Emory royalties on sales of any resulting product 
and to share in future payments received from other third party partners, if any. The Company can terminate this agreement at any time by giving 
90 days advance notice.  

      Novartis Corporation (“Novartis”). The Company granted Novartis, formerly Ciba-Geigy Corporation, an option in 1990 to acquire 
exclusive licenses to a class of inhibitors arising from research performed by the Company by February 1991. The option was exercised and a 
$500,000 fee was paid to the Company in 1993. Milestone payments are due upon approval of a new drug application. The Company will also 
receive royalties based upon a percentage of sales of any resultant products. Up to $300,000 of the initial fee received is refundable if sales of 
any resultant products are below specified levels and has been recorded as deferred revenue. This agreement has been inactive for several years.  

Note 11 — Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

     In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair 
Value Measurements (“Statement No. 157”). The standard provides enhanced guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities and 
also responds to investors’ requests for expanded information about the extent to which companies measure assets and liabilities at fair value, the 
information used to measure fair value, and the effect of fair value measurements on earnings. While the standard applies whenever other 
standards require (or permit) assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value, it does not expand the use of fair value in any new circumstances. 
Statement No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within 
those fiscal years. Management of the Company is evaluating the impact of this standard, but does not anticipate that it will have a significant 
impact on its financial statements.  
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     In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities (“Statement No. 159”). Statement No. 159 allows companies to voluntarily choose, at specified election dates, to measure 
any financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value (the “fair value option”). The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and 
is irrevocable. If the fair value option is elected for an instrument, all unrealized gains or losses in fair value for that instrument shall be reported 
in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. Statement No. 159 is effective for fiscal years that begin after November 15, 2007. Management of 
the Company is evaluating the impact of this standard, but does not anticipate that it will have a significant impact on its financial statements.  

     In June 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a final consensus on Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 07-3, Accounting for 
Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods or Services Received for Use in Future Research and Development Activities (“EITF Issue 07-3”). 
The EITF concluded that nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and development 
activities should be deferred and capitalized. The capitalized amounts should be expensed as the related goods are delivered or the services are 
performed. If a company’s expectations change, such that it does not expect the goods will be delivered or the services rendered, the capitalized 
nonrefundable advance payments should be charged to expense. EITF Issue 07-3 is effective for new contracts entered into during the fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2007, including interim periods within those fiscal years. This consensus may not be applied to earlier 
periods and early adoption is not permitted. Currently, the Company charges nonrefundable advance payments for future research and 
development activities to expense as payments are made. Therefore, the adoption of this standard will have an impact on the Company’s 
financial statements when adopted.  

Note 12 — Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) (In thousands, except per share)  

     Net loss and net loss per share each year may differ from the total of the individual quarters due to rounding.  
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    First   Second   Third   Fourth 

2007 Quarters                                  
Revenues    $ 9,159     $ 13,444     $ 20,463     $ 28,172   
Net loss      (8,825 )     (6,963 )     (10,984 )     (2,284 ) 
Net loss per share      (.30 )     (.24 )     (.32 )     (.06 ) 

2006 Quarters                                  
Revenues    $ 771     $ 1,558     $ 1,790     $ 2,092   
Net loss      (7,882 )     (10,083 )     (15,603 )     (10,050 ) 
Net loss per share      (.27 )     (.35 )     (.53 )     (.34 ) 

2005 Quarters                                  
Revenues    $ 41     $ 58     $ 32     $ 21   
Net loss      (5,645 )     (5,648 )     (7,645 )     (7,161 ) 
Net loss per share      (.24 )     (.22 )     (.29 )     (.27 ) 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statements  

The Board of Directors and Shareholders  
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  

     We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related 
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audits.  

     We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

     In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of BioCryst 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

     As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in 2006, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation 
upon adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share Based Payment .  

     We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), BioCryst 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 4, 2008 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

Birmingham, Alabama  
March 4, 2008  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control  

The Board of Directors and Shareholders  
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  

We have audited BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the 
COSO criteria). BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

In our opinion, BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria .  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the balance sheets 
of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our report dated March 4, 2008 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

Birmingham, Alabama  
March 4, 2008  
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS  
ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

None.  

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

     We maintain a set of disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information relating to BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, 
Inc. required to be disclosed in our periodic filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported in a timely manner under the Exchange Act of 1934. We carried out an evaluation as required by paragraph 
(b) of Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15 under the Exchange Act,, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15 under the Exchange Act). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2007, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective. The Company believes that its 
disclosure controls and procedures will ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted by it under the Exchange 
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by BioCryst in such reports is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of 
BioCryst, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

     Management of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control 
over financial reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. As defined by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of our principal executive and 
principal financial officers and effected by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

     Our internal control over financial reporting is supported by written policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of BioCryst are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management 
and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of 
our assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.  

     Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

     In connection with the preparation of our annual financial statements, management has undertaken an assessment of the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO Framework). Management’s assessment 
included an  
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evaluation of the design of our internal control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of those controls.  

     Based on this assessment, management has concluded that as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over financial reporting was 
effective. Management believes our internal control over financial reporting will provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles.  

     Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our financial statements included in this report, has issued 
an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, a copy of which appears on page 64 of this annual report.  

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

     There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2007 that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION  

          None  

PART III  

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT  

     Incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2008 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders.  

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

     Incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2008 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders.  

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL  
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT  

     Incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2008 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders.  

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS  

     Incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2008 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders.  

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES  

     Incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2008 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES  

(a) Financial Statements  

No financial statement schedules are included because the information is either provided in the financial statements or is not required under the 
related instructions or is inapplicable and such schedules therefore have been omitted.  

(b) Exhibits. See Index of Exhibits.  

SIGNATURES  

     Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on this 4th day of March, 2008.  
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  BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

  
  

  By:   /s/Jon P. Stonehouse     
    Jon P. Stonehouse    
    Chief Executive Officer     
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     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the 
registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 4, 2008:  
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Signature   Title(s) 

       
/s/Jon P. Stonehouse    President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
   

(Jon P. Stonehouse)      
       
/s/Stuart Grant    Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
   

(Stuart Grant)      
       
/s/J. Claude Bennett    Chief Operating Officer and Director 
   

(J. Claude Bennett, M.D.)      
       
/s/Michael A. Darwin    Principal Accounting Officer and Treasurer 
   

(Michael A. Darwin)      
       
/s/Stephen R. Biggar    Director 
   

(Stephen R. Biggar, M.D., Ph.D.)      
       
/s/William W. Featheringill    Director 
   

(William W. Featheringill)      
       
/s/John L. Higgins    Director 
   

(John L. Higgins)      
       
/s/Zola P. Horovitz    Director 
   

(Zola P. Horovitz, Ph.D.)      
       
/s/Beth C. Seidenberg    Director 
   

(Beth C. Seidenberg, M.D.)      
       
/s/Joseph H. Sherrill, Jr.    Director 
   

(Joseph H. Sherrill, Jr.)      
       
/s/William M. Spencer    Director 
   

(William M. Spencer, III)      
       
/s/Randolph C. Steer    Director 
   

(Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.D.)      
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3.1 

  
Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s 
Form 8-K filed December 22, 2006.   

      

              
3.2 

  
Certificate of Amendment to the Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant. Incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed July 24, 2007.   

      

              
3.3 

  
Bylaws of Registrant as amended and restated effective November 6, 2007. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to 
the Company’s Form 8-K filed November 13, 2007.   

      

              
4.1 

  

Rights Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2002, by and between the Company and American Stock Transfer & Trust 
Company, as Rights Agent, which includes the Certificate of Designation for the Series B Junior Participating 
Preferred Stock as Exhibit A and the form of Rights Certificate as Exhibit B. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 
to the Company’s Form 8-A filed June 17, 2002.   

      

              
4.2 

  
Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of August 5, 2007. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the 
Company’s Form 10-Q filed August 9, 2007.   

      

              
10.1&   Annual Incentive Plan.     77   

              
10.2&   Executive Relocation Policy.     82   

              
10.3&   Amendment to Employment Letter Agreement for Stuart Grant Dated July     84   

    23, 2007.         
              

10.4&   Form of Notice of Grant of Non-Employee Director Automatic Stock Option     87   
    and Stock Option Agreement.         
              

10.5&   Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stock Option Agreement.     93   
              

10.6   Amendment #3 to the Agreement between BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.         
    and the Department of Health and Human Services, dated October 2, 2007.         
              

10.7& 
  

Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective March 2007. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the 
Company’s Form 10-Q filed August 9, 2007.   

      

              
10.8# 

  

Agreement dated January 3, 2007, between BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Department of Health and Human 
Services, as amended by Amendment number 1 dated January 3, 2007 and Amendment number 2 dated May 11, 2007. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed August 9, 2007.   

      

              
10.9* 

  

License, Development and Commercialization Agreement dated as of February 28, 2007, by and between the 
Company and Shionogi & Co., Ltd. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed 
May 10, 2007.   

      

              
10.10& 

  
Employment Letter Agreement dated April 2, 2007, by and between the Company and David McCullough. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed May 10, 2007.   

      

              
10.11& 

  

Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreement dated February 14, 2007, by and between the Company and 
Jon P. Stonehouse. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2006, filed March 14, 2007.   

      

              
10.12 

  

Warehouse Lease dated July 12, 2000 between RBP, LLC an Alabama Limited Liability Company and the Registrant 
for office/warehouse space. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the second 
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BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan  

Effective January 1, 2007  

Plan Summary  

Objective  

The BioCryst Pharmaceuticals Annual Incentive Plan (AIP) is designed to provide senior leaders with an incentive to achieve critical Company 
objectives and to perform on an individual basis. The AIP offers Executive Directors and above an opportunity to share in the Company’s 
success on an annual basis.  

Overview  

As a participant in the AIP, you are eligible to receive an annual incentive award based on two performance components:  

Your award opportunity is expressed as an annual incentive range, which is stated as a percentage of your base salary. Your incentive range 
includes a minimum, a target, and a maximum. Incentive targets are established based on competitive practice and vary by organizational level. 
Based on BioCryst’s actual performance and your performance, your actual incentive award in any given year may vary from $0 (0% of base 
salary) to a maximum incentive opportunity established for your organizational level.  

Awards are typically paid during mid-March in the year following the completion of the plan year. Participants must be employed by BioCryst 
on the date of payout to eligible to receive an award.  

Annual Incentive Opportunity  

At the beginning of each plan year, eligible employees are notified of their participation in the new plan year and the annual incentive range 
based on their position’s assigned organizational level. Annual incentive targets and ranges vary by organizational level and are expressed as a 
percentage of base salary. (An individual’s base salary as of the end of the plan year is used for calculation purposes.) A range includes a 
minimum (0%), a target, and a maximum.  

Performance Components and Measures  

Annual incentive awards are based on two performance components: BioCryst’s Performance and Individual Performance. The following 
provides further details so that you can understand how the Plan works.  

Company Performance Component  

At the beginning of the plan year, BioCryst establishes a set of critical performance objectives that the Company must strive to achieve during 
the year. These objectives represent BioCryst’s goals and reflect the Company’s top priorities for the plan year. The objectives typically vary 
from year-to-year and focus on research milestones and outcomes, clinical development milestones, organizational processes, financial targets, 
and other short-term objectives and initiatives. The objectives are reviewed and approved by  
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•   BioCryst’s performance relative to annual business objectives established for the plan year. 
  

•   Your individual performance during the plan year, defined as the degree to which you achieve your individual objectives and carry out 
ongoing responsibilities, and the competencies (behaviors/skills) you exhibit as you work toward the achievement of results. 



   

BioCryst’s Board of Directors.  

At the completion of the plan year, BioCryst’s performance is assessed against the established business objectives for the plan year. This 
assessment is based on the extent to which BioCryst’s annual objectives are achieved — either meeting objectives, partially meeting objectives, 
exceeding objectives, or not meeting objectives. This assessment serves as a basis for the determining the annual incentive pool available for 
eligible plan participants.  

If BioCryst meets all its objectives, the pool is roughly equal to the sum of the individual targets for the eligible participants in the Plan. As a 
simplistic example, if there were ten participants in the AIP who all have a base salary of $100,000 and a target of 20%, the annual incentive 
pool if the Company met all its objectives would be roughly $200,000 ( $100,000 x .20 x 10 ). This pool may be adjusted upward or downward 
based on actual Company performance during the plan year.  

Individual Performance Component  

As a participant, your annual incentive is determined based on your overall performance during the plan year: the degree to which you achieve 
your annual objectives and carry out your ongoing responsibilities, and the competencies (behaviors/skills) you exhibit in the process of 
achieving results. This year-end assessment is captured in your Performance Plan for the year as a part of BioCryst’s Performance Management 
Program.  

The individual incentive target is only relevant when BioCryst achieves all of its objectives. For a year in which the Company does achieve all 
its objectives, an employee who is rated as a “strong performer” would be eligible to receive an award at or close to target. Under BioCryst’s 
Performance Management Program, a “strong performer” is defined as:  

Incentive Award Calculation  

Once the overall annual incentive pool is determined, the individual incentive targets are adjusted based on actual Company performance for the 
plan year. Individual incentive awards are determined based on the adjusted incentive targets and individual performance.  

Incentive awards will vary relative to the incentive ranges, with differentiation based on individual performance. In all cases the approved 
incentive pool must be maintained. In addition, the individual maximums (expressed as a percentage of base salary) always represent the 
maximum incentive possible.  

Annual incentive awards are typically paid by March 15 of the year following the completion of the plan year and are subject to applicable tax 
withholding based on the current tax laws at the time of distribution.  

Illustration  

To illustrate, assume an individual’s annual incentive range is: 0% (minimum), 20% (target) and 25% (maximum). If, based on BioCryst’s 
performance, the annual incentive pool is determined to be 75% of the target incentive pool, then the individual’s target is adjusted accordingly 
to 15% ( 20% x .75 ) for the plan year. In order for the employee to receive an incentive at roughly 15%, he or she would need to be assessed as 
a “strong performer” under the Performance Management Program. The maximum incentive possible remains at 25%.  
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•   Achieved all individual objectives 
  

•   Most competencies are strong 
  

•   Fully meets all defined performance expectations of position 
  

•   Consistently carries out ongoing responsibilities as defined by role 
  

•   Strong contributions consistently made during the year 
  

•   Solid performer, someone you can always count on 



   

Administrative Information  

Plan Participation  

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals employees whose positions are assigned to organizational levels 1, 2 and 3 (Executive Director and above) are eligible 
to participate in the BioCryst Annual Incentive Plan.  

New eligible employees hired on November 1 through the end of the plan year will wait until the next plan year to participate. New eligible 
employees who join BioCryst prior to November 1 are eligible for a pro rata incentive award based on the time period the employee was 
employed by BioCryst during the year. Such prorated calculations are made based on whole months (month is counted in calculation if new hire 
date is the 15 th or earlier).  

Changes in Employment  

If you separate from BioCryst during the plan year due to death, retirement, or permanent disability, you are eligible to receive a pro rata award 
based on your base salary on the date of separation during the plan year which you were considered an active employee and the number of whole 
months actively worked. If you voluntarily or involuntarily terminate employment with BioCryst before the annual incentive awards are paid, 
you will forfeit all incentive award opportunities, regardless of individual and Company performance during the plan year.  

Promotions and Demotions  

If an eligible employee is promoted or demoted and the change in position results in a change in organizational level, BioCryst will calculate the 
employee’s incentive based on the annual incentive ranges in the old and new positions. This pro rata calculation rounds to the number of full 
months in each position.  

Questions and Answers  

Question: Will BioCryst’s Company performance objectives change from year-to-year?  
Answer: Most likely. Because the Annual Incentive Plan is a short-term plan, it focuses on the achievement of business and individual 
objectives for a specific plan year. Although the same financial measure, performance measure or milestone may be used from year-to-year, 
performance objectives and achievements will be established and assessed for the specific plan year.  

Question: Will BioCryst establish an annual incentive pool for every plan year?  
Answer: The annual incentive pool is determined based on BioCryst’s performance during the year and the extent to which Company objectives 
are achieved. If BioCryst does not achieve its objectives and performance thresholds are not attained, no pool will be established and no annual 
incentive awards will be earned. Conversely, if BioCryst exceeds performance expectations, the pool will be set at a level above the target 
incentive pool. In all cases, the distribution of any incentive pool is based on the performance of the individuals participating in the AIP.  

BioCryst’s Board of Directors also reserves the right not to establish an incentive pool or to reduce the pool if the financial health of the 
Company is in jeopardy, regardless of performance during a plan year.  

Question: Will I have to pay taxes on my annual incentive award?  
Answer: After the completion of a plan year, awards are then determined based on the extent to which BioCryst met its objectives and based on 
your performance during the year. If you are eligible for an award, your award will be paid and will be subject to applicable withholding taxes 
based on the current tax laws at the time of distribution.  

Question: Am I eligible for an annual incentive award if my performance warrants being placed on a Performance Improvement Plan?  
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Answer: No annual incentive is paid for any individual who performs poorly and is assessed as a “weak performer,” regardless of whether the 
individual is placed on a Performance Improvement Plan or not. If such an employee subsequently improves his or her performance, the 
employee will become eligible for an incentive in the following plan year.  

Question: If I leave BioCryst before awards are paid, am I entitled to receive a portion of the Annual Incentive Award?  
Answer: If you voluntarily or involuntarily leave the Company before payment of the award, you will forfeit your entire annual incentive award. 
If, however, you leave the Company due to other circumstances, different rules may apply (see above).  

Question: What happens if I am on a leave of absence during the plan year?  
Answer: Awards are prorated based on the time actively worked and time spent on a paid leave of absence. Any period of time on an unpaid 
leave of absence will not be counted and the award will be prorated accordingly.  

A Final Word  

This Plan Summary describes the provisions of the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan. BioCryst Pharmaceuticals has the full 
right to amend, suspend or terminate the plan at any time. The Compensation Committee of the Board has the right to interpret, modify or adjust 
any Plan provision. Enrollment in this plan is not a guarantee of employment.  

For illustration purposes, a hypothetical employee and award have been used in this plan summary. Actual awards, if any, will be determined by 
the performance of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals and the individual participant.  
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EXHIBIT 10.2 

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  
Executive Relocation Policy  

Individuals who are offered employment with BioCryst Pharmaceuticals to fill a position in organizational level 3 or above and who live greater 
than 45 miles from a BioCryst location are eligible for relocation benefits under the Executive Relocation Policy. The following summarizes the 
components of the policy.  

Closing Cost Reimbursement — Departure Home  

BioCryst will reimburse normal closing costs once a closing statement is submitted to the Company. Normal closing costs related to the sales of 
your previous home include:  

Buyer Value Option (under consideration; subject to cost analysis)  

BioCryst will provide you with a home sale option through Cartus called the Buyer Value Option, which is aimed at simplifying the home sale 
process for you. Prior to listing your home you will need to work with Cartus to include an exclusion clause and to register your agent. By 
utilizing the Buyer Value Option, you are provided with numerous benefits and services. Realtors Commission and Closing Costs (normal for 
the area) will be billed directly to BioCryst by Cartus. Once you have sold your home, Cartus will contract with you and assume the sale. You 
will not need to attend the closing with the buyer. Cartus or its representative attends the closing with the buyer. Further details will be provided 
to you on this process. (If this option is used, the language will change in appropriate sections to reflect coverage of closing costs and 
reimbursement to Cartus, not employee.)  

Realtor Fees — Departure Home  

BioCryst will reimburse normal closing costs including realtor commissions on the sale of your former residence. Commissions will not exceed 
what is local custom for the area, up to a maximum of 6%.  

Closing Cost Reimbursement — Purchasing a Home in New Location  

Normal closing costs related to the purchase of a new home include the following items, subject to a maximum of 2% of the purchase price:  

Non-reimbursable purchase closing costs include:  
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•   Title fees including title examination, title transfer and binder 
  

•   Attorney fees — related to title transfer only 
  

•   Tax service and tax registration fees, if required by state 
  

•   Documentary stamps, if needed 
  

•   Inspections and surveys, only if required by local law 

•   Appraisal and appraisal inspection 
  

•   Credit report 
  

•   Tax service fee 
  

•   Document preparation 
  

•   Settlement or closing fee 
  

•   Title fees including title insurance, binder, title coordination, abstract or title search 
  

•   Escrow documentation fee 
  

•   Notary and attorney, if needed 
  

•   Deed and mortgage transfer fees 
  

•   City, county and/or state stamps 
  

•   Endorsements 
  

•   Inspections, only if required by local law (fee should not exceed normal rate for area) 
  

•   Power of Attorney document preparation and record 
  

•   Underwriting fee 

•   Prepaid property taxes, insurance or interest 



   



   

House Hunting Trip  

One house hunting trip is available to locate a personal residence before relocating. This trip is provided for you and your spouse for up to seven 
days. This includes coach airfare, car rental, meals and lodging. Trip should be made over a weekend for best airfare available.  

Return Trips  

BioCryst will the cover your coach airfare associated with making return trips to your current city of residence every other weekend for a three-
month period from your hire date.  

Household Goods  

Arrangements with a moving company of BioCryst’s choice will be made to pack, load, unload and unpack your household goods. Storage of 
household goods is available for up to 90 days or until a personal residence is located, whichever is less. You will be invoiced and responsible 
for payment for storage costs beyond 90 days.  

Final Move — Includes Meals, Lodging, Mileage or Airfare  

Coach air travel to your new location will be provided for you and your spouse. If you drive, reasonable and actual traveling expenses such as 
lodging, meals and mileage using the most direct route will be reimbursed at the prevailing IRS rate. Meals shall not exceed $50 per day per 
person.  

Temporary Housing  

Temporary housing will be provided to you for up to 90 days or until a personal residence is located, whichever is less. BioCryst will work with 
you to locate a suitable one-bedroom apartment or temporary residence.  

Rental Car While in Temporary Housing  

Upon arrival at destination, a rental car will be provided for up to 7 days. If you drive to your new location, this benefit will not be provided.  

Relocation Allowance  

A one-time payment equal to one month’s base salary, subject to a maximum of $5,000, is provided to you to apply toward miscellaneous 
incidental incurred during your relocation that you are not otherwise reimbursed. Examples of such incidental items include:  

Repayment of Relocation  

If you voluntarily terminate your employment from BioCryst for any reason before you have completed twelve months of active employment 
from your hire date, you will be responsible for reimbursing the Company for any relocation expenses paid to you or incurred by the Company 
on your behalf, on a pro-rated monthly basis.  
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•   Construction loan procurement expense and interest 
  

•   Mortgage loan credit insurance 
  

•   Discount/buy down points or fees 
  

•   Home warranty insurance program 
  

•   Private mortgage insurance 
  

•   Expenses normally charged to the seller. 

•   Utility hook-up/installation 
  

•   Driver’s license and automobile registrations 
  

•   Retuning of piano 
  

•   Pet boarding fees 
  

•   Cable hook-up 
  

•   Trash removal 



   



   

EXHIBIT 10.3 

November 7, 2007  

Mr. Stuart Grant  
240 Summer Street  
Norwell, MA 02061  

RE: Amendment to Employment Letter Agreement for Stuart Grant Dated July 23, 2007.  

Dear Mr. Grant:  

     This letter amendment (the “Amendment”) effective as of the date above, will serve to amend the letter agreement dated July 23, 2007 (the 
“Agreement”) regarding the terms and conditions of your employment with BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”).  

           1. Section 2(c) of the Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and the following paragraphs shall be substituted in lieu thereof:  

          2(c) In addition to the basic compensation set forth in (a) and (b) above, Employee shall be entitled to receive such other benefits and 
perquisites provided to other executive officers of BioCryst which benefits may include, without limitation, reasonable vacation (currently 
4 weeks), sick leave, medical benefits, life insurance, and participation in profit sharing or retirement plans.  

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Company and the Employee hereby agree that in lieu of the standard executive 
relocation policy provisions, the Employee will maintain his current home in the Boston area and secure an apartment in the Research Triangle 
Park area and the Company agrees to provide the following travel perquisites for the Employee under the terms set forth below:  

               (i) Coverage of temporary living expenses for a period of three months beginning on Employee’s initial start date with the Company;  

               (ii) Flight expenses for coach class travel between Boston and Research Triangle Park for a period of three months beginning from 
Employee’s initial employment with the Company;  

               (iii) Shipment of selected goods from Boston to Employee’s Research Triangle Park apartment, in such amounts as to be reasonably 
approved by Company;  

               (iv) Flight expenses for coach class travel from Research Triangle Park to Boston on an every other week basis during the initial three-
year term of Employee’s contract, or until earlier termination of the Agreement; and  

               (v) Gross- up to cover taxes on the items listed above.  

The parties further agree that the Company’s obligation with respect to total travel expenses set forth in (iv) above shall not exceed $20,000.00 
per year, with the first-year-period beginning on July 23, 2007.  

If at any time during the Employee’s employment with the Company as Chief Financial Officer, the housing market improves such that 
Employee is able to sell his residence in the Boston area, then upon agreement by both parties, Employee may relocate to the Research Triangle 
Park area and take advantage of the executive relocation policy in effect as of the date hereof; provided, however, that the total compensation 
paid to  
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Employee under such executive relocation policy shall be reduced by the amount of total compensation already paid to Employee in travel 
perquisites as set forth above.  

           2. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.  

           3. The Agreement together with this Amendment constitutes the entire agreement between the parties relating to the employment 
of the Employee by the Company and there are no terms relating to such employment other than those contained in the Agreement, as 
amended by this Amendment.  

[Signature Page to Follow]  
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If the foregoing correctly sets forth our understanding, please signify your acceptance of such terms by executing this Agreement, thereby 
signifying your assent, as indicated below.  

Yours very truly,  

/s/ Jon P. Stonehouse  

Address:  
2190 Parkway Lake Drive  
Birmingham, Alabama 35244  

AGREED AND ACCEPTED, as of this 7 th day of November, 2007 
 

/s/ Stuart Grant  

Address:  

240 Summer Street  
Norwell, MA 02061  

   



   



   

EXHIBIT 10.4 

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  
STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN  

NOTICE OF GRANT OF NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR  
AUTOMATIC STOCK OPTION  

     Notice is hereby given of the following stock option grant (the “Option”) to purchase shares of the Common Stock of BioCryst 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) pursuant to the automatic grant program in effect under the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Stock 
Incentive Plan (the “Plan”):  

     Optionee understands that the Option is granted subject to and in accordance with the express terms and conditions of the Plan and agrees to 
be bound by and conform to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Plan Prospectus, this Notice of Grant of Non-Employee Director 
Automatic Stock Option and its accompanying Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement. Optionee acknowledges that copies of the 
Plan, the Plan Prospectus, and the Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement have been made available to Optionee.  

      No Guarantee of Board Service: Nothing in the Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement or the Plan shall confer upon the Optionee 
the right to continue in the Service of the Company for any period of specific duration or interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the rights 
of the Company or the stockholders to remove Optionee from the Board in accordance with applicable law.  

     By my signature below, I hereby acknowledge receipt of this Option granted on the Grant Date specified above and issued to me under the 
terms and conditions of the Plan.  
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Optionee :                                                                    
       
Grant Date :                                                                    
       
Option Price :    $                      per share 
       
Number of Optioned Shares :                         shares 
       
Expiration Date :                                                                    
       
Type of Option :    Non-Statutory Stock Option 
       
Exercise Schedule :      

                      
Optionee:           BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.     
     

   

                
                       
Address:            By:         
   

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

                       
Dated:            Name:         
   

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

                       
             Title:         
   

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  



   

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  
STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN  

NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT  

WITNESSETH:  

RECITALS  

          A. The Company has approved an automatic option grant program under the Company’s Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) pursuant to 
which the non-employee members of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board“) will receive automatic option grants under the Plan.  

          B. Optionee is a non-employee member of the Board, and this Agreement is executed pursuant to, and is intended to carry out the purposes 
of, the Plan in connection with the automatic grant on this day of a stock option to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock under the 
Plan.  

          C. The granted option is intended to be a non-statutory option which does not meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Internal 
Revenue Code and is designed to provide Optionee with a meaningful incentive to serve as a member of the Board.  

           NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows:  

           1. Grant of Option . Subject to and upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company hereby grants to Optionee, 
as of the grant date (the “Grant Date”) specified in the accompanying Notice of Grant of Non-Employee Director Automatic Stock Option (the “ 
Grant Notice ”), a stock option to purchase up to that number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock (the “ Optioned Shares ”) specified in 
the Grant Notice. The Optioned Shares shall be purchasable from time to time during the option term at the option price per share (the “ Option 
Price ”) specified in the Grant Notice.  

           2. Option Term . This automatic option grant shall expire at the close of business on the Expiration Date specified in the Grant Notice 
(which shall be ten (10) years measured from the Grant Date), unless sooner terminated in accordance with this Agreement.  

           3. Limited Transferability . During the lifetime of the Optionee, this option (together with its tandem stock appreciation right), shall be 
exercisable only by the Optionee and shall not be assignable or transferable by the Optionee except for a transfer by will or by the laws of 
descent and distribution following the Optionee’s death. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this automatic option may, in connection with the 
Optionee’s estate plan, be assigned in whole or in part during the during Optionee’s lifetime either as (i) as a gift to one or more members of 
Optionee’s immediate family, to a trust in which Optionee and/or one or more such family members hold more than fifty percent (50%) of the 
beneficial interest or an entity in which more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting interests are owned by Optionee and/or one or more such 
family members, or (ii) pursuant to a domestic relations order. The assigned portion shall be exercisable only by the person or persons who 
acquire a proprietary interest in the option pursuant to such assignment. The terms applicable to the assigned portion shall be the same as those in 
effect for this option immediately prior to such assignment and shall be set forth in such documents issued to the assignee as the Plan 
Administrator may deem appropriate.  

           4. Exercisability . This option shall become exercisable for the Optioned Shares in installments as is specified in the Grant Notice. As the 
option becomes exercisable for one or more installments, the installments shall accumulate and the option shall remain exercisable for the 
accumulated installments until the Expiration Date or the sooner termination of the option term under this Agreement.  

           5. Cessation of Board Service . Should Optionee cease to serve as a Board member for any reason while holding this option, then 
Optionee shall have the remainder of the ten (10) year term of this option in which to exercise such option for any or all of the Optioned Shares 
for which it is exercisable at the time of such cessation of Board service. This option shall immediately terminate and cease to be outstanding, at 
the time of such  

   



   

\  

cessation of Board service, with respect to Optioned Shares for which this Option is not otherwise at that time exercisable. Upon the death of the 
Optionee, whether resulting in cessation of Service or occurring thereafter, the personal representative of the Optionee’s estate or the person or 
persons to whom this Option is transferred pursuant to the Optionee’s will or in accordance with the laws of descent and distribution may 
exercise this Option for the remainder of the ten (10) year term with respect to the Optioned Shares for which the Option was exercisable at the 
time of Optionee’s death.  

           6. Corporate Transaction .  

               (a) In the event of one or more of the following transactions (a “Corporate Transaction”):  

                    (1) a merger or consolidation in which the Company is not the surviving entity, except for a transaction the principal purpose of 
which is to change the State of the Company’s incorporation,  

                    (2) the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company in liquidation or dissolution of the 
Company, or  

                    (3) any reverse merger in which the Company is the surviving entity but in which securities possessing more than fifty percent 
(50%) of the total combined voting power of the Company’s outstanding securities are transferred to holders different from those who held such 
securities immediately prior to such merger,  

then the exercisability of this option (if outstanding at the time) shall automatically accelerate so that such option shall, immediately prior to the 
specified effective date for the Corporate Transaction, become fully exercisable for all of the Optioned Shares and may be exercised for all or 
any portion of such shares.  

               (b) This option, to the extent not previously exercised, shall terminate upon the consummation of the Corporate Transaction and cease 
to be exercisable, unless it is expressly assumed by the successor corporation or parent thereof. If so provided by the terms of the Corporate 
Transaction, Optionee shall receive a cash payment on account of such termination of this option, in an amount equal to the excess (if any) of 
(A) the Fair Market Value (as defined below) of the Optioned Shares subject to this option as of the date of the Corporate Transaction, over 
(B) the Option Price for such shares.  

               (c) In the event of a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan), the exercisability of this option (if outstanding at the time) shall 
automatically accelerate so that such option shall, immediately prior to the specified effective date for the Change in Control, become fully 
exercisable for all of the Optioned Shares and may be exercised for all or any portion of such shares.  

               (d) This Agreement shall not in any way affect the right of the Company to adjust, reclassify, reorganize or otherwise make changes in 
its capital or business structure or to merge, consolidate, dissolve, liquidate or sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets.  

           7. Adjustment in Optioned Shares .  

               (a) In the event any change is made to the Common Stock issuable under the Plan by reason of any stock split, stock dividend, 
recapitalization, combination of shares, exchange of shares, or other change affecting the outstanding Common Stock as a class without receipt 
of consideration, then appropriate adjustments shall be made to (i) the total number and/or class of Optioned Shares subject to this option and 
(ii) the Option Price payable per share in order to reflect such change and thereby preclude a dilution or enlargement of benefits hereunder.  

               (b) If this option is to be assumed or is otherwise to remain outstanding after a Corporate Transaction, then this option shall be 
appropriately adjusted to apply and pertain to the number and class of securities which would have been issuable to the Optionee in the 
consummation of such Corporate Transaction  
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had the option been exercised immediately prior to such Corporate Transaction, and appropriate adjustments shall also be made to the Option 
Price payable per share, provided the aggregate Option Price payable hereunder shall remain the same.  

           8. Privilege of Stock Ownership . The holder of this option shall not have any shareholder rights with respect to the Optioned Shares 
until such individual shall have exercised the option and paid the Option Price.  

           9. Manner of Exercising Option.  

               (a) In order to exercise this option with respect to all or any part of the Optioned Shares for which this option is at the time exercisable, 
Optionee (or in the case of exercise after Optionee’s death, the Optionee’s executor, administrator, heir or legatee, as the case may be) must take 
the following actions:  

                    (1) Provide the Plan Administrator (or its designee) with written notice of the option exercise (the “Exercise Notice”) specifying the 
number of Optioned Shares for which the option is being exercised.  

                    (2) Pay the aggregate Option Price for the purchased shares in one of the following alternative forms:  

                         (A) full payment in cash or check payable to the Company’s order; or  

                         (B) full payment in shares of Common Stock held by Optionee for the requisite period necessary to avoid a charge to the 
Company’s reported earnings and valued at Fair Market Value on the Exercise Date; or  

                         (C) full payment in a combination of shares of Common Stock held for the requisite period necessary to avoid a charge to the 
Company’s earnings and valued at Fair Market Value on the Exercise Date and cash or check drawn to the Company’s order; or  

                         (D) If the Company’s outstanding Common Stock is registered under Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended (the “1934 Act”), at the time this option is exercised, then payment of the Option Price may also be effected through a broker-dealer 
sale and remittance procedure pursuant to which Optionee shall provide irrevocable written instructions (A) to a designated brokerage firm to 
effect the immediate sale of the purchased shares and remit to the Company, out of the sale proceeds available on the settlement date, an amount 
equal to the aggregate Option Price payable for the purchased shares and (B) to the Company to deliver the certificates for the purchased shares 
directly to such brokerage firm in order to complete the sale.  

                         (E) Furnish to the Company appropriate documentation that the person or persons exercising the option (if other than Optionee) 
have the right to exercise this option.  

               (b) For purposes of subparagraph (a) above and for all other valuation purposes under this Agreement, the Fair Market Value per share 
of Common Stock on any relevant date shall be determined in accordance with the following provisions:  

                    (1) If the Common Stock is not at the time listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange but is traded in the over-
the-counter market, the Fair Market Value shall be the mean between the highest bid and lowest asked prices (or, if such information is 
available, the closing selling price) per share of Common Stock on the date in question in the over-the-counter market, as such prices are 
reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers through the Nasdaq system or any successor system. If there are no reported bid and 
asked prices (or closing selling price) for the Common Stock on the date in question, then the mean  
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between the highest bid price and lowest asked price (or the closing selling price) on the last preceding date for which such quotations exist shall 
be determinative of Fair Market Value.  

                    (2) If the Common Stock is at the time listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, then the Fair Market Value 
shall be the closing selling price per share of Common Stock on the date in question on the securities exchange determined by the Plan 
Administrator to be the primary market for the Common Stock, as such price is officially quoted in the composite tape of transactions on such 
exchange. If there is no reported sale of Common Stock on such exchange on the date in question, then the Fair Market Value shall be the 
closing selling price on the exchange on the last preceding date for which such quotation exists.  

                    (3) If the Common Stock is on the date in question neither listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange nor traded in the over-
the-counter market, then the fair market value shall be determined by the Plan Administrator after taking into account such factors as the Plan 
Administrator shall deem appropriate.  

               (c) The Exercise Date shall be the date on which the Exercise Notice is delivered to the Plan Administrator. Except to the extent the 
sale and remittance procedure specified above is utilized for the exercise of the option, payment of the Option Price for the purchased shares 
must accompany such notice.  

               (d) As soon as practical after the Exercise Date, the Company shall issue to or on behalf of Optionee (or other person or persons 
exercising this option) the purchased Optioned Shares via electronic means or by delivery of a certificate or certificates representing the 
purchased Optioned Shares.  

               (e) In no event may this option be exercised for any fractional share.  

           10. Compliance with Laws and Regulations .  

               (a) The exercise of this option (or of its tandem stock appreciation right) and the issuance of Common Stock hereunder shall be subject 
to compliance by the Company and Optionee with all applicable requirements of law relating thereto and with all applicable regulations of any 
stock exchange or over-the-counter market on which shares of the Company’s Common Stock may be listed or traded at the time of such 
exercise and issuance.  

               (b) In connection with the exercise of this option (or its tandem stock appreciation right), Optionee shall execute and deliver to the 
Company such representations in writing as may be requested by the Company in order for it to comply with the applicable requirements of 
Federal and State securities laws.  

           11. Successors and Assigns . Except to the extent otherwise provided in Paragraph 3, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the 
benefit of, and be binding upon, the successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns of Optionee and the successors and 
assigns of the Company.  

           12. Liability of Company .  

               (a) If the Optioned Shares covered by this Agreement exceed, as of the Grant Date, the number of shares of Common Stock which may 
without shareholder approval be issued under the Plan, then this option shall be void with respect to such excess shares unless shareholder 
approval of an amendment sufficiently increasing the number of shares of Common Stock issuable under the Plan is obtained in accordance with 
the provisions of the Plan.  

               (b) The inability of the Company to obtain approval from any regulatory body having authority deemed by the Company to be 
necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement shall relieve the Company of any liability with 
respect to the non-issuance or sale of the Common Stock as to which such approval shall not have been obtained. The Company, however, shall 
use its best efforts to obtain all such approvals.  
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           13. No Guarantee of Board Service . This Agreement shall in any way be construed or interpreted so as to affect adversely or otherwise 
impair the right of the Company or the stockholders to remove Optionee from the Board at any time in accordance with the provisions of 
applicable law.  

           14. Notices . Any notice required to be given or delivered to the Company under the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and 
addressed to the Company in care of the Corporate Secretary at its principal corporate offices. Any notice required to be given or delivered to 
Optionee shall be in writing and addressed to Optionee at the address indicated below Optionee’s signature line on the Grant Notice. All notices 
shall be deemed to have been given or delivered upon personal delivery or upon deposit in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid and properly addressed 
to the party to be notified.  

           15. Construction . This Agreement and the option evidenced hereby are made and granted pursuant to the Plan and are in all respects 
limited by and subject to the express terms and provisions of the Plan, including the automatic option grant provisions of the Plan.  

           16. Governing Law . The interpretation, performance, and enforcement of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Alabama without resort to that State’s conflict-of-laws rules.  

           17. Tandem Stock Appreciation Right . Optionee is hereby granted a tandem stock appreciation right, which entitles Optionee to 
surrender all or part of this option with respect to Optioned Shares for which it is then vested and exercisable, for a distribution from the 
Company in an amount equal to the excess of (A) the Fair Market Value (on the option surrender date) of the Optioned Shares for which the 
option is surrendered, over (B) the Option Price for such Optioned Shares. The distribution shall be made in shares of Common Stock valued at 
Fair Market Value on the option surrender date. Any portion of this option that is surrendered in accordance with this Paragraph shall cease to be 
outstanding and shall no longer be exercisable by Optionee.  

92  



   



   

Exhibit 10.5 

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  
STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN  

NOTICE OF GRANT OF STOCK OPTION  

     Notice is hereby given of the following stock option grant (the “Option”) to purchase shares of the Common Stock of BioCryst 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) pursuant to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”):  

     Exercise Schedule / Vesting Terms:  

     Optionee understands that the Option is granted subject to and in accordance with the express terms and conditions of the Plan and agrees to 
be bound by and conform to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Plan Prospectus, this Notice of Grant of Stock Option and its 
accompanying Stock Option Agreement. Optionee acknowledges that copies of the Plan, the Plan Prospectus, and the Stock Option Agreement 
are available to Optionee on the Company’s intranet and have been made available to Optionee.  

      No Employment or Service Contract . Nothing in the Option Agreement or the Plan shall confer upon the Optionee the right to continue in 
the Service of the Company for any period of specific duration or interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the rights of the Company or the 
Optionee, which rights are hereby expressly reserved by each, to terminate Optionee’s Service at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or 
without cause.  

     By my signature below, I hereby acknowledge receipt of this Option granted on the Grant Date specified above and issued to me under the 
terms and conditions of the Plan.  
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     Optionee:     
           
     Grant Date:     
           
     Option Price:     
           
     Number of Optioned Shares:     
           
     Option Expiration Date:     
           
     Type of Option:                        Incentive Stock Option (ISO) 
         (up to tax code limits — any portion 
         of the option covering Option Shares in 
         excess of tax code limits shall be 
         accounted for as a non-qualified stock 
         option) 
                              Non-Statutory Stock Option (NSO) 

                  
Optionee:       BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.     
     

   

            
Address:        By:         
     

   

      
   

    
         Name:         
             

   

    
Dated:        Title:         
     

   

      
   

    



   

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  
STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN  

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT  

WITNESSETH:  

RECITALS  

     A. The Board of Directors of the Company has adopted the Company’s Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) for the purpose of attracting and 
retaining the services of selected key employees (including officers and directors), non-employee Board members and consultants and other 
independent contractors who contribute to the financial success of the Company or its parent or subsidiary corporations.  

     B. Optionee is an individual who is to render valuable services to the Company or its parent or subsidiary corporations, and this Agreement is 
executed pursuant to, and is intended to carry out the purposes of, the Plan in connection with the Company’s grant of a stock option to 
Optionee.  

     NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows:  

     1.  Grant of Option . Subject to and upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company hereby grants to Optionee, as of 
the grant date (the “ Grant Date ”) specified in the accompanying Notice of Grant of Stock Option (the “ Grant Notice ”), a stock option to 
purchase up to that number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock (the “ Optioned Shares ”) specified in the Grant Notice. The Optioned 
Shares shall be purchasable from time to time during the option term at the option price per share (the “ Option Price ”) specified in the Grant 
Notice.  

     2.  Option Term . This option shall expire at the close of business on the Expiration Date specified in the Grant Notice, unless sooner 
terminated in accordance with Paragraph 5 , 6 or 19 of this Agreement.  

     3.  Limited Transferability . During the lifetime of the Optionee, this option (together with its tandem stock appreciation right), shall be 
exercisable only by the Optionee and shall not be assignable or transferable by the Optionee except for a transfer by will or by the laws of 
descent and distribution following the Optionee’s death. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this option may, to the extent it is a non-statutory stock 
option, in connection with the Optionee’s estate plan, be assigned in whole or in part during the during Optionee’s lifetime either as (i) as a gift 
to one or more members of Optionee’s immediate family, to a trust in which Optionee and/or one or more such family members hold more than 
fifty percent (50%) of the beneficial interest or an entity in which more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting interests are owned by Optionee 
and/or one or more such family members, or (ii) pursuant to a domestic relations order. The assigned portion shall be exercisable only by the 
person or persons who acquire a proprietary interest in the option pursuant to such assignment. The terms applicable to the assigned portion shall 
be the same as those in effect for this option immediately prior to such assignment and shall be set forth in such documents issued to the assignee 
as the Plan Administrator may deem appropriate.  

     4.  Exercisability . This option shall become exercisable for the Optioned Shares in installments as is specified in the Grant Notice. As the 
option becomes exercisable for one or more installments, the installments shall accumulate and the option shall remain exercisable for the 
accumulated installments until the Expiration Date or the sooner termination of the option term under this Agreement.  

     5.  Acceleration; Termination . The option term specified in Paragraph 2 shall terminate (and this option shall cease to be exercisable) prior 
to the Expiration Date should one of the following provisions become applicable:  

     (a) Except to the extent otherwise provided in subparagraphs (ii) through (v) below, should optionee cease to remain in Service at any time 
during the option term, then the period for exercising this option shall be reduced to a three (3)-month period commencing with the date of such 
cessation of Service, but in no event shall this option be exercisable at any time after the Expiration Date. Upon the expiration of such three 
(3) month period or (if  
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earlier) upon the Expiration Date, this option shall terminate and cease to be outstanding. However, should Optionee die during the three (3)-
month period following his or her cessation of Service, the personal representative of the Optionee’s estate or the person or persons to whom this 
option is transferred pursuant to the Optionee’s will or in accordance with the laws of descent or distribution shall have a twelve (12)-month 
period following the date of the Optionee’s death during which to exercise this Option.  

          (b) Should Optionee, after completing five (5) full years of Service, die while in Service, then the exercisability of each of his or her 
outstanding options shall automatically accelerate so that each such option shall become fully exercisable with respect to the total number of 
Optioned Shares at the time subject to such option and may be exercised for all or any portion of such shares. The personal representative of the 
Optionee’s estate or the person or persons to whom this option is transferred pursuant to the Optionee’s will or in accordance with the laws of 
descent and distribution shall have a twelve (12)-month period following the date of the Optionee’s death during which to exercise this option, 
but in no event shall this option be exercisable at any time after the Expiration Date.  

          (c) Should Optionee die while in Service prior to completing five (5) full years of Service, then the period for which each outstanding 
vested option held by the Optionee at the time of death shall be exercisable by the Optionee’s estate or the person or persons to whom the option 
is transferred pursuant to the Optionee’s will shall be limited to the twelve (12)-month period following the date of the Optionee’s death, but in 
no event shall this option be exercisable at any time after the Expiration Date.  

          (d) Should Optionee become permanently disabled (as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code) and cease by reason 
thereof to remain in Service at any time during the option term, then the period for exercising this option shall be reduced to a twelve (12)-month 
period commencing with the date of such cessation of Service, but in no event shall this option be exercisable at any time after the Expiration 
Date. Upon the expiration of such twelve (12)-month period or (if earlier) upon the Expiration Date, this option shall terminate and cease to be 
outstanding.  

          (e) Should (1) the Optionee’s Service be terminated for misconduct (including, but not limited to, any act of dishonesty, willful 
misconduct, fraud or embezzlement) or (2) the Optionee make any unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential information or trade secrets of 
the Company or its parent or subsidiary corporations, then in any such event this option shall terminate immediately and cease to be exercisable.  

          (f) During the limited period of exercisability applicable in accordance with subparagraphs (a) through (d) above, this option may not be 
exercised for more than the number of the Optioned Shares (if any) for which this option is, at the time of the Optionee’s cessation of Service, 
exercisable in accordance with the exercise provisions specified in this Agreement and the Grant Notice.  

          (g) For purposes of this Paragraph 5 and for all other purposes under this Agreement, the following definitional provisions shall be in 
effect:  

               (1) The Optionee shall be deemed to remain in Service for so long as the Optionee continues to render periodic services to the 
Company or any parent or subsidiary corporation, whether as an Employee, a non-employee member of the Company’s Board of Directors or an 
independent consultant or advisor.  

               (2) The Optionee shall be deemed to be an Employee and to continue in the Company’s employ for so long as the Optionee remains in 
the employ of the Company or one or more of its parent or subsidiary corporations, subject to the control and direction of the employer entity as 
to both the work to be performed and the manner and method of performance.  

               (3) A corporation shall be considered to be a subsidiary corporation of the Company if it is a member of an unbroken chain of 
corporations beginning with the Company, provided each such corporation in the chain (other than the last corporation) owns, at the time of 
determination, stock possessing 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such 
chain.  

               (4) A corporation shall be considered to be a parent corporation of the Company if it is a member of an unbroken chain ending with the 
Company, provided each such corporation in the chain (other than the  
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Company) owns, at the time of determination, stock possessing 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of 
the other corporations in such chain.  

     6.  Corporate Transaction .  

          (a) In the event of one or more of the following transactions (a “Corporate Transaction”):  

               (1) a merger or consolidation in which the Company is not the surviving entity, except for a transaction the principal purpose of which 
is to change the State of the Company’s incorporation,  

               (2) the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company in liquidation or dissolution of the 
Company, or  

               (3) any reverse merger in which the Company is the surviving entity but in which securities possessing more than fifty percent (50%) of 
the total combined voting power of the Company’s outstanding securities are transferred to holders different from those who held such securities 
immediately prior to such merger,  

then the exercisability of this option (if outstanding at the time) shall automatically accelerate so that such option shall, immediately prior to the 
specified effective date for the Corporate Transaction, become fully exercisable for all of the Optioned Shares and may be exercised for all or 
any portion of such shares. No such acceleration of this option, however, shall occur if and to the extent: (i) the option is, in connection with the 
Corporate Transaction, either to be assumed by the successor corporation or parent thereof or be replaced with a comparable option to purchase 
shares of the capital stock of the successor corporation or parent thereof or (ii) the option is to be replaced by a comparable cash incentive 
program of the successor corporation based on the option spread (the excess of the fair market value of the shares of Common Stock at the time 
subject to the option over the Option Price payable for such shares) at the time of the Corporate Transaction. The determination of comparability 
under clause (i) or (ii) of the preceding sentence shall be made by the Plan Administrator and its determination shall be final, binding and 
conclusive.  

          (b) This option, to the extent not previously exercised, shall terminate upon the consummation of the Corporate Transaction and cease to 
be exercisable, unless it is expressly assumed by the successor corporation or parent thereof. The Plan Administrator shall have complete 
discretion to provide, on such terms and conditions as it sees fit, for a cash payment to be made to Optionee on account of such termination of 
this option, in an amount equal to the excess (if any) of (A) the Fair Market Value (as defined below) of the Optioned Shares subject to this 
option as of the date of the Corporate Transaction, over (B) the Option Price for such shares.  

          (c) In the event of a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan), the exercisability of this option (if outstanding at the time) shall 
automatically accelerate so that such option shall, immediately prior to the specified effective date for the Change in Control, become fully 
exercisable for all of the Optioned Shares and may be exercised for all or any portion of such shares.  

          (d) The exercisability of this option as an incentive stock option under the Federal tax laws (if designated as such in the Grant Notice) 
shall, in connection with any such Corporate Transaction or Change in Control, be subject to the applicable dollar limitation of Paragraph 17.  

          (e) This Agreement shall not in any way affect the right of the Company to adjust, reclassify, reorganize or otherwise make changes in its 
capital or business structure or to merge, consolidate, dissolve, liquidate or sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets.  

     7.  Adjustment in Optioned Shares.  

          (a) In the event any change is made to the Common Stock issuable under the Plan by reason of any stock split, stock dividend, 
recapitalization, combination of shares, exchange of shares, or other change affecting the outstanding Common Stock as a class without receipt 
of consideration, then appropriate adjustments shall be made to (i) the total number and/or class of Optioned Shares subject to this option and 
(ii) the Option Price payable per share in order to reflect such change and thereby preclude a dilution or enlargement of benefits hereunder.  
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          (b) If this option is to be assumed or is otherwise to remain outstanding after a Corporate Transaction, then this option shall be 
appropriately adjusted to apply and pertain to the number and class of securities which would have been issuable to the Optionee in the 
consummation of such Corporate Transaction had the option been exercised immediately prior to such Corporate Transaction, and appropriate 
adjustments shall also be made to the Option Price payable per share, provided the aggregate Option Price payable hereunder shall remain the 
same.  

     8.  Privilege of Stock Ownership . The holder of this option shall not have any shareholder rights with respect to the Optioned Shares until 
such individual shall have exercised the option and paid the Option Price.  

     9.  Manner of Exercising Option .  

          (a) In order to exercise this option with respect to all or any part of the Optioned Shares for which this option is at the time exercisable, 
Optionee (or in the case of exercise after Optionee’s death, the Optionee’s executor, administrator, heir or legatee, as the case may be) must take 
the following actions:  

               (1) Provide the Plan Administrator (or its designee) with written notice of the option exercise (the “Exercise Notice”) specifying the 
number of Optioned Shares for which the option is being exercised.  

               (2) Pay the aggregate Option Price for the purchased shares in one of the following alternative forms:  

                    (A) full payment in cash or check payable to the Company’s order;  

                    (B) full payment in shares of Common Stock held by Optionee for the requisite period necessary to avoid a charge to the 
Company’s reported earnings and valued at Fair Market Value on the Exercise Date;  

                    (C) full payment in a combination of shares of Common Stock held for the requisite period necessary to avoid a charge to the 
Company’s earnings and valued at Fair Market Value on the Exercise Date and cash or check drawn to the Company’s order; or  

                    (D) If the Company’s outstanding Common Stock is registered under Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended (the “1934 Act”), at the time this option is exercised, then payment of the Option Price may also be effected through a broker-dealer 
sale and remittance procedure pursuant to which Optionee (i) shall provide irrevocable written instructions to a designated brokerage firm to 
effect the immediate sale of the purchased shares and remit to the Company, out of the sale proceeds available on the settlement date, 
sufficient funds to cover the aggregate Option Price payable for the purchased shares plus all applicable Federal and state income and 
employment taxes required to be withheld by the Company by reason of such purchase and (ii) shall provide written directives to the 
Company to deliver the certificates for the purchased shares directly to such brokerage firm in order to complete the sale.  

               (3) Furnish to the Company appropriate documentation that the person or persons exercising the option (if other than Optionee) have 
the right to exercise this option.  

          (b) For purposes of subparagraph (a) above and for all other valuation purposes under this Agreement, the Fair Market Value per share 
of Common Stock on any relevant date shall be determined in accordance with the following provisions:  

               (1) If the Common Stock is not at the time listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange but is traded in the over-
the-counter market, the Fair Market Value shall be the mean between the highest bid and lowest asked prices (or, if such information is 
available, the closing selling price) per share of Common Stock on the date in question in the over-the-counter market, as such prices are 
reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers through the Nasdaq system or any successor system. If there are no reported bid 
and asked prices (or closing selling price) for the Common Stock on the date in question, then the mean between the highest bid price and 
lowest asked price (or the closing selling price) on the last preceding date for which such quotations exist shall be determinative of Fair 
Market Value.  
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               (2) If the Common Stock is at the time listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, then the Fair Market Value 
shall be the closing selling price per share of Common Stock on the date in question on the securities exchange determined by the Plan 
Administrator to be the primary market for the Common Stock, as such price is officially quoted in the composite tape of transactions on such 
exchange. If there is no reported sale of Common Stock on such exchange on the date in question, then the Fair Market Value shall be the 
closing selling price on the exchange on the last preceding date for which such quotation exists.  

               (3) If the Common Stock is on the date in question neither listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange nor traded in the over-
the-counter market, then the fair market value shall be determined by the Plan Administrator after taking into account such factors as the Plan 
Administrator shall deem appropriate.  

          (c) The Exercise Date shall be the date on which the Exercise Notice is delivered to the Plan Administrator. Except to the extent the sale 
and remittance procedure specified above is utilized for the exercise of the option, payment of the Option Price for the purchased shares must 
accompany such notice.  

          (d) As soon as practical after the Exercise Date, the Company shall issue to or on behalf of Optionee (or other person or persons exercising 
this option) the Purchased Options Shares via electronic means or through delivery of a certificate or certificates representing the purchased 
Optioned Shares.  

          (e) In no event may this option be exercised for any fractional share.  

     10.  Compliance with Laws and Regulations .  

          (a) The exercise of this option (or of its tandem stock appreciation right) and the issuance of Common Stock hereunder shall be subject to 
compliance by the Company and the Optionee with all applicable requirements of law relating thereto and with all applicable regulations of any 
stock exchange or over-the-counter market on which shares of the Company’s Common Stock may be listed or traded at the time of such 
exercise and issuance.  

          (b) In connection with the exercise of this option (or its tandem stock appreciation right), Optionee shall execute and deliver to the 
Company such representations in writing as may be requested by the Company in order for it to comply with the applicable requirements of 
federal and state securities laws.  

     11.  Successors and Assigns . Except to the extent otherwise provided in Paragraph 3 or 6, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the 
benefit of, and be binding upon, the successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns of Optionee and the successors and 
assigns of the Company.  

     12.  Liability of Company .  

          (a) If the Optioned Shares covered by this Agreement exceed, as of the Grant Date, the number of shares of Common Stock which may 
without shareholder approval be issued under the Plan, then this option shall be void with respect to such excess shares unless shareholder 
approval of an amendment sufficiently increasing the number of shares of Common Stock issuable under the Plan is obtained in accordance with 
the provisions of the Plan.  

          (b) The inability of the Company to obtain approval from any regulatory body having authority deemed by the Company to be necessary 
to the lawful issuance and sale of any Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement shall relieve the Company of any liability with respect to the 
non-issuance or sale of the Common Stock as to which such approval shall not have been obtained. The Company, however, shall use its best 
efforts to obtain all such approvals.  

     13.  No Employment or Service Contract . Nothing in this Agreement or in the Plan shall confer upon the Optionee any right to continue in 
the Service of the Company (or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company employing or retaining Optionee) for any period of time or 
interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the rights of the Company (or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company employing or 
retaining Optionee) or the Optionee, which rights are hereby expressly reserved by each, to terminate the Optionee’s Service at any time for any 
reason whatsoever, with or without cause.  
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     14.  Notices . Any notice required to be given or delivered to the Company under the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and 
addressed to the Company in care of the Corporate Secretary at its principal corporate offices. Any notice required to be given or delivered to 
Optionee shall be in writing and addressed to Optionee at the address indicated below Optionee’s signature line on the Grant Notice. All notices 
shall be deemed to have been given or delivered upon personal delivery or upon deposit in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid and properly addressed 
to the party to be notified .  

     15.  Construction . This Agreement and the option evidenced hereby are made and granted pursuant to the Plan and are in all respects limited 
by and subject to the express terms and provisions of the Plan. All decisions of the Plan Administrator with respect to any question or issue 
arising under the Plan or this Agreement shall be conclusive and binding on all persons having an interest in this option.  

     16.  Governing Law. The interpretation, performance, and enforcement of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Alabama without resort to that State’s conflict-of-laws rules.  

     17.  Additional Terms Applicable to an Incentive Stock Option . In the event this option is designated as an incentive stock option in the 
Grant Notice, the following terms and conditions shall also apply to the grant:  

          (a) This option shall cease to qualify for favorable tax treatment as an incentive stock option under the federal tax laws if (and to the 
extent) this option is exercised for one or more Optioned Shares: (i) more than three (3) months after the date the Optionee ceases to be an 
Employee for any reason other than death or permanent disability (as defined in Paragraph 5) or (ii) more than one (1) year after the date the 
Optionee ceases to be an Employee by reason of permanent disability.  

          (b) No installment under this option (whether annual or monthly) shall qualify for favorable tax treatment as an incentive stock option 
under the Federal tax laws if (and to the extent) the aggregate fair market value (determined at the Grant Date) of the Common Stock for 
which such installment first becomes exercisable hereunder will, when added to the aggregate fair market value (determined as of the 
respective date or dates of grant) of any earlier installments of Common Stock for which this option or one or more other incentive stock 
options granted to the Optionee prior to the Grant Date (whether under the Plan or any other option plan of the Company or any Parent or 
Subsidiary corporations) first become exercisable during the same calendar year, exceed One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) in the 
aggregate.  

          (c) Should the exercisability of this option be accelerated upon a Corporate Transaction or a Change in Control, then this option shall 
quality for favorable tax treatment as an incentive stock option under the Federal tax laws only to the extent the aggregate Fair Market Value 
(determined at the Grant Date) of the Common Stock for which this option first becomes exercisable in the calendar year in which the 
Corporate Transaction or Change in Control occurs does not, when added to the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the respective 
date or dates of grant) of any earlier installments of Common Stock for which this option or one or more other incentive stock options granted 
to the Optionee prior to the Grant Date (whether under the Plan or any other option plan of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary 
corporations) first become exercisable during the same calendar year, exceed One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) in the aggregate.  

          (d) To the extent this option should fail to qualify as an incentive stock option under the Federal tax laws, the Optionee will recognize 
compensation income in connection with the acquisition of one or more Optioned Shares hereunder, and the Optionee must make appropriate 
arrangements for the satisfaction of all Federal, State or local income tax withholding requirements and Federal social security employee tax 
requirements applicable to such compensation income.  

     18.  Additional Terms Applicable to a Non-Statutory Stock Option . In the event this option is designated as a non-statutory stock option 
in the Grant Notice, Optionee hereby agrees to make appropriate arrangements with the Company or parent or subsidiary corporation employing 
Optionee for the satisfaction of any federal, state or local income tax withholding requirements and federal social security employee tax 
requirements applicable to the exercise of this option.  

     19.  Tandem Stock Appreciation Right . Optionee is hereby granted a tandem stock appreciation right,  
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which entitles Optionee to surrender all or part of this option with respect to Optioned Shares for which it is then vested and exercisable, for a 
distribution from the Company in an amount equal to the excess of (A) the Fair Market Value (on the option surrender date) of the Optioned 
Shares for which the option is surrendered, over (B) the Option Price for such Optioned Shares. The distribution may be made in cash, or partly 
in shares and partly in cash, as the Plan Administrator determines in its sole discretion. Any portion of this option that is surrendered in 
accordance with this Paragraph shall cease to be outstanding and shall no longer be exercisable by Optionee.  
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Exhibit 10.6 

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT  

1. CONTRACT ID CODE  

2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO.  
Three (3)  

3. EFFECTIVE DATE  
See Block 16C  

4. REQUISITION/PURC  
N/A  

5. PROJECT NO. (If applicable)  
N/A  

6. ISSUED BY                               CODE  
Office of Preparedness and Response  
Offíce of Medical Countermeasures  
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services  
330 Independence Avenue, SW Room G640  
Washington, DC 20201  

7. ADMINISTERED BY (If other than Item 6)           CODE  

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., street, county, State and Zip Code)  
 
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc  
2190 Parkway Lake Drive  
Birmingham, AL 35244  
DUNS 61-819-4609  
TIN 62-1413174  

CODE                    FACILITY CODE  

11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICITATIONS  

� The above numbered solicitation is amended as set forth in Item 14. The hour and date specified for receipt of Offers � is 
extended, � is not extended.  
Offer must acknowledge receipt of this amendment prior to the hour and date specified in the solicitation or as amended, by one of 
the following methods: (a) By completing Items 8 and 15, and returning                      copies of the amendment; (b) By 
acknowledging receipt of this amendment on each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By separate letter or telegram which includes 
a reference to the solicitation and amendment numbers. FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT THE 
PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IN 
REJECTION OF YOUR OFFER. If by virtue of this amendment, you desire to change an offer already submitted, such change may 
be made by telegram or letter, provided each telegram or letter makes reference to the solicitation and this amendment, and is 
received prior to the opening hour and date specified.  

12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA (If required)  
SOCC:                      DOC#                      TIN#                      LOC#                       CAN#  

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATIONS OF CONTRACTS/ORDERS; IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. 

              
PAGE OF PAGES     

1      2       

      
 

  
9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.  
 

   

  

9B. DATED (SEE ITEM 11)  
 
 
 
 

 

  
10A. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ORDER  
HHSO100200700032C 

   
  
10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)  
01-03-07 



AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.  

E. IMPORTANT: Contractor  is not, � is required to sign this document and return copies to the issuing office.  

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION (Organized by UCF section headings, including solicitation/contract subject 
matter where feasible)  

The purpose of this modification is to change the government Project officer assigned to contract HHSO100200700032C as 
specified on the continuation sheet hereto attached.  

The total contract amount remains unchanged.  

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions referenced in item 9A or 10A, as heretofore changed, remains full force and 
effect.  

15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER (Type or print)  
Michael Darwin  

16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER (Type or print)  
Schuyler T. Eldridge  

15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR  
 
(Signature of person authorized to sign)  

15C. DATE SIGNED  
10/2/2007  

16B. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  
BY  
(Signature of Contracting Officer)  

16C. DATE SIGNED  
10/2/2007  
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A. 

  
THIS CHANGE ORDER IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: (Specify authority) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE 
MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A. 

 

  

B. 

  

THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REFLECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES (such as 
changes in paying office, appropriation date, etc.) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14, PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY OF FAR 
43.103(b). 

     C.   THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURSUANT TO AUTHORITY OF: 
     D.   OTHER (Specify type of modification and authority) 

          
NSN 7540-01-152-8070   OMB No.0990-0115   STANDARD FORM 30 (Rev. 10-83) 



   

Page 2 of 2 

Contract No. HHS1002007000032C  
Modification No. Three (3)  

CONTINUATION SHEET FOR BLOCK 14 OF SF30  

Article G.2 PROJECT OFFICER, are hereby revised as follows  

FROM:  

Dr. Robin Robinson  
DHHS/OS/OPHEP/ORDC  
330 Independence Ave S.W., Room G640  
Washington, DC 20201  

TO:  

Dr. Kevin Gilligan  
DHHS/OS/ASPR/BARDA  
330 Independence Ave, SW  
Room, G640  
Washington, DC 20201  
Telephone: 202-205-1710  
Email: Kevin.Gilligan@hhs.gov  
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EXHIBIT 23  

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:  

of our reports dated March 4, 2008 with respect to the financial statements of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 
2007.  

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP  

Birmingham, Alabama  
March 4, 2008  
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  •   Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-120345, 333-39484 and 333-30751) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 1991 
Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated as of March 8, 2004; 

  

  •   Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-90582) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan; 
  

  •   Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-128087) pertaining to the registration of up to $85,000,000 of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
common stock; 

  

  •   Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-136703) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan, which 
amended and restated the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 1991 Stock Option Plan as of May 17, 2006; 

  

  •   Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-145638) pertaining to the registration of up to 8,140,000 shares of common stock; and 
  

  •   Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-145627) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan as amended 
and restated effective March 2007 and Employment Letter Agreement dated April 2, 2007 between BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and 
David McCullough. 



   



   

Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATIONS  

I, Jon P. Stonehouse, certify that:  
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  1.   I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; 
  

  2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

  

  3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

  

  4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have: 

  a)   designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  

  b)   designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  

  c)   evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

  

  d)   disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

  5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  a)   all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; 
and 

  

  b)   any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

          
      
Date: March 4, 2008  /s/ JON P. STONEHOUSE     
  Jon P. Stonehouse    
  Chief Executive Officer    
  



   



   

Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATIONS  

I, Stuart Grant, certify that:  
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  1.   I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; 
  

  2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

  

  3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

  

  4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have: 

  a.   designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  

  b.   designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  

  c.   evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

  

  d.   disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

  5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  a.   all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; 
and 

  

  b.   any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

          
      
Date: March 4, 2008  /s/ STUART GRANT     
  Stuart Grant    
  Chief Financial Officer    
  



   



   

Exhibit 32.1  
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

     In connection with the Annual Report of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 
2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jon P. Stonehouse, Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my 
knowledge:  

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

/s/ Jon P. Stonehouse  
Jon P. Stonehouse  
Chief Executive Officer  
March 4, 2008  

     This certification is furnished with this Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except 
to the extent required by such Act, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.  
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Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

     In connection with the Annual Report of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 
2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Stuart Grant, Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my 
knowledge:  

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

/s/ Stuart Grant  
Stuart Grant  
Chief Financial Officer  
March 4, 2008  

     This certification is furnished with this Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except 
to the extent required by such Act, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.  
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